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Destination NSW
ANNUAL REPORT

2020-2021

The Hon. Stuart Ayres MP
Minister for Jobs, Investment, Tourism and Western Sydney
Minister for Industry and Trade
52 Martin Place
SYDNEY NSW 2000

30 November 2021
Dear Minister,
We are pleased to submit the Annual Report of Destination NSW for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 for presentation
to the NSW Parliament.
This report details our key achievements and performance in the 2020-2021 financial year. It has been prepared in accordance
with the Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) Act 1984, the Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) Regulation 2015, the Government Sector
Employment Act 2013, the Government Sector Finance Act 2018 and the Government Sector Finance Regulation 2018.
It should be noted that Destination NSW requested and was granted an extension of time, in accordance with section 13(3)
of the Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) Act 1984, to submit its 2020-2021 Annual Report by 30 November 2021. The one-month
extension was required due to a delay in Destination NSW receiving audit certification of its 2020-2021 financial statements
by 31 October 2021 as the Audit Office was working through various issues affecting GovConnect NSW.
We thank you for your support in enabling the extension.
Yours sincerely,

Christine McLoughlin AM 		Steve Cox
Chairman				CEO
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Acknowledgment of Country
Destination NSW acknowledges the Traditional Custodians
of the land we now call New South Wales and their enduring
culture and continued connection to Country.
We extend our respect to Elders, past and present, and
acknowledge future generations of Aboriginal people.
We acknowledge the significant contribution made by
Aboriginal people to the development and promotion of
the visitor economy.

Barkindji People, Wilcannia
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Chairman’s Foreword
I was appointed to the role of
Chairman of Destination NSW in
March 2021. Clearly this year has
not played out in the way any of us
had anticipated, but I am delighted
to have joined a strong team that
is focused on achieving the NSW
Government’s vision of making NSW
the premier visitor economy of the
Asia Pacific. That vision is now more
important than ever.
The 2020-2021 financial year was again challenging for
Destination NSW, and all our stakeholders. Not only did we
have to adapt due to the crises of bushfires, flood, storms
but many of our initiatives were stalled as the COVID-19
global pandemic dominated. Work plans remained fluid to
respond to regularly changing conditions, and everyone at
Destination NSW has shown tremendous dedication and
resilience in the way they work to support the visitor economy.
Their commitment and enthusiasm for getting the job done in
sometimes trying circumstances means we are well placed
now as we move forward.
The initial COVID-19 lockdown drove strong demand for
travel supported by the innovative and thoughtful campaigns
delivered by Destination NSW to raise awareness of what
regional NSW has to offer once NSW residents are able to
travel within their own state. Reinvigorating the Sydney CBD
has also been vital, and I applaud the collaboration across
government to get people back into the city through activities
like Sydney Love It Like You Mean It, the Sunset Piazza
concerts and Sydney Solstice initiative. Clearly there is
more to be done to revitalise the city.
The NSW Visitor Economy Strategy 2030 is our roadmap for
visitor economy recovery that provides a robust framework to
return NSW to pre-COVID levels of visitor expenditure by 2024
as well as growth strategies to 2030. This strategy enabled
Destination NSW to be set apart from our competitors,
and I would like to acknowledge the contribution of many
to its development.
I thank the Hon. Stuart Ayres MP, Minister for Jobs, Investment,
Tourism and Western Sydney for his support of Destination
NSW and passion for driving the NSW visitor economy.
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...everyone at Destination
NSW has shown
tremendous dedication and
resilience in the way they work
to support the visitor economy.

I express my thanks to NSW Treasury for their support to
Destination NSW and to Amy Brown, CEO Investment NSW
for welcoming us to this new organisation that shares many
synergies with, and offers opportunities to, our organisation
and the NSW visitor economy.
I would like to thank the Destination NSW Board for
welcoming me as their Chairman. I acknowledge the
outstanding contribution of my predecessor Mr John Warn
who was instrumental in driving change for the organisation.
Earlier in the year Mr David Baffsky AO retired from the Board
and we would like to thank him for his exceptional service to
the Destination NSW Board and the NSW visitor economy. In
August we welcomed Anne Loveridge to the Board who brings
her depth of business knowledge to our team.
I am looking forward to continuing to work with the Minister, the
Board and the team at Destination NSW to provide oversight to
the implementation of the NSW Visitor Economy Strategy 2030.
Looking ahead, I believe that we are primed and ready to take
the next step in supporting visitor economy recovery in NSW
and are well placed to thrive now that travel has recommenced.

Christine McLoughlin AM
Chairman
Destination NSW
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Dreamtime Southern X, Sydney
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About Destination NSW
Established under the Destination NSW Act 2011 as the lead
Government agency for the NSW tourism and major events
sector, its charter is to achieve economic and social benefits
for the people of NSW by growing the visitor economy.
Destination NSW was established through the merger into
a single entity of four Government-funded entities – Tourism
NSW, Events NSW, the Homebush Motor Racing Authority
and the Greater Sydney Partnership.
As a Public Service Executive Agency, Destination NSW is
governed by a Board of Management and is subject to the
control and direction of the Minister for Jobs, Investment,
Tourism and Western Sydney. Principally funded by the NSW
Government, Destination NSW is part of Investment NSW
which falls within the Premier and Cabinet Cluster.

Role
Destination NSW is the lead agency, champion and voice
for the visitor economy within the NSW Government.
Spearheading a whole-of-government approach to visitor
economy growth, Destination NSW is responsible for leading
the delivery of the NSW Visitor Economy Strategy 2030 in
partnership with government and industry.
Destination NSW influences and shapes the visitor economy
through strategic research, policy and thought leadership,
stakeholder engagement and consultation, commercial
partnerships and investment in visitor experiences, business
support, marketing and events.
Destination NSW is also the major investor in Business Events
Sydney for the purpose of securing more international and
domestic conventions, incentive travel reward programs,
corporate events and exhibitions for Sydney and regional NSW.

Vision
To make NSW the premier visitor economy of the Asia Pacific,
contributing $65 billion in total visitor expenditure by 2030,
with $25 billion in regional overnight expenditure.

Mission
To deliver social and economic benefits for the people of NSW
by growing the visitor economy.

NSW Visitor Economy Strategy 2030
In 2020-2021, Destination NSW updated the Visitor
Economy Industry Action Plan 2030 which was released
by the NSW Government in August 2018 and contained 34
recommendations to drive the NSW visitor economy to
2020 and beyond.
The NSW Visitor Economy Strategy 2030 aims to make NSW
the premier visitor economy of the Asia Pacific by 2030 and
achieve the target of $65 billion in total visitor expenditure
in NSW by 2030.
As the lead agency, champion and voice of the visitor economy
within the NSW Government, Destination NSW leads a
coordinated, whole-of-government approach to achieving
the targets and vision.
The strategy comprises five Strategic Pillars: Road to
Recovery; Build the Brand; Showcase our Strengths; Invest
in World-class Events; and Facilitate Growth. Its Guiding
Principles focus the coordinated effort and resources of
Government on areas that will have the greatest impact.
These principles seek to Put the Visitor First, Accelerate
Digital Innovation, Lead with our Strengths, Move Fast, Be
Responsive and Agile, While Taking a Longer-Term View and
foster Collaboration Between the Industry and Government.
The NSW Visitor Economy Strategy 2030 will be implemented
in three phases. It is flexible and principles based and will
deliver economic prosperity, create new jobs and enhance the
lifestyles of the people of NSW. Destination NSW is focusing
initially on the Recovery Phase to 2024, with the aim of
returning total visitor expenditure to the pre-COVID-19 level
of $43 billion; followed by the Momentum Phase to 2026 and
Accelerate Phase to 2030.

Working with Industry
Destination NSW works with industry and government
stakeholders to realise its vision of making NSW the premier
visitor economy and events capital of the Asia Pacific. The
value of the contribution made by tourism and major events to
the NSW economy and local communities is undeniable and
by working with industry stakeholders, Destination NSW can
deliver a wide range of activities that increase the profile and
destination appeal of Sydney and NSW in key domestic and
international markets.

Importance of the Visitor Economy to NSW
The term ‘visitor economy’ includes businesses and
communities that benefit from the direct and indirect
economic activity generated through the wide range of
initiatives that support the provision of goods and services
to overnight visitors including, but not limited to, leisure,
business, events, food and wine, arts and cultural, nature
and student visitors.
The visitor economy contributes $30.2 billion to the State’s
economy and supports 175,100 direct jobs. In the year ended
June 2021, NSW welcomed 84.8 million visitors and currently
leads all Australian States and Territories in terms of visitor
numbers, nights and expenditure.
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About Destination NSW

CONTINUED

Kosciuszko National Park, Kosciuszko

Services
The services offered by Destination NSW include:
• Brand development and management
• Strategic partnership programs
• Market research and insights
• Destination development assistance
• Product and distribution development advisory service
• Market and business development programs
• Destination and event marketing
• Co-operative marketing and publicity programs
• Major event investment, acquisition and evaluation
• Event leveraging activities
• Regional conferencing acquisition and promotion
• Visitor resources and information
• Visual resources – footage and photography
• Media resources and information
• Funding for regional events and tourism activities.
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Board Members

Christine McLoughlin AM (Chairman)

Russell Balding AO (Deputy Chairman)

Rebekah Horne

Margaret Jack AM

Sally Loane

Rod McGeoch AO

The Hon. George Souris AM

Amy Brown

Steve Cox
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Board Members
Christine McLoughlin AM (Chairman) BA,

Rebekah Horne BBus

LLB (Hons), FAICD

Appointed 17 July 2020

Appointed 8 March 2021

Rebekah’s track record, experience and reputation for
strategic insight and entrepreneurial vision have helped
shape a globally successful career in the technology, telco
and media sectors. Rebekah has a deep understanding and
experience of delivering significant digital transformation
projects. Recent organisations include the National Rugby
League and Network Ten.

Christine McLoughlin AM is a highly respected company
director and accomplished business leader, having held
various domestic and international executive positions in
financial services and telecommunications. Christine has also
served on the boards of prominent ASX50 companies for the
past 12 years, including as Chairman of Suncorp Group,
a position she has held since September 2018.
Christine prides herself on establishing strong stakeholder
relationships and is recognised for her achievements in
bringing people together to address issues relating to
community inclusion, education, health, and technology.
In early 2020, Christine was elected Australian private sector
representative to the G20 EMPOWER Council, focused on
the empowerment and progression of women’s economic
representation across the globe as part of the G20. Christine is
also a Director of listed company Cochlear Limited, Chancellor
of the University of Wollongong, a Fellow of the Australian
Institute of Company Directors, and Chairman and co-founder
of the Minerva Network, reflecting her passion for sport and
the role it plays in connecting communities.
In June 2021, Christine was awarded a Member of the Order
of Australia in the Queen’s Birthday Honours for her services
to business, the not-for-profit sector and women.
Previous board roles include Chairman of Venues NSW,
nib Holdings Limited, Spark Infrastructure, Victorian
Transport Accident Commission, and Director of the
McGrath Foundation.

Russell Balding AO (Deputy Chairman) BBus,
DipTech (Comm), FCPA, MAICD
Appointed 24 August 2011
Russell Balding is Chairman of Racing NSW, Deputy Chairman
of Destination NSW, a Director of Racing Australia Limited,
a Director of The Trust Company (Sydney Airport) Limited
and a Member of the NSW Crown Land Taskforce.
Russell served on the Board of Cabcharge Australia Limited
for more than five years, including as its Chairman for over
two years.
Previously, Russell chaired the Visitor Economy Taskforce,
established by the NSW Government to develop a tourism
and events strategy to double overnight visitor expenditure to
NSW by 2020. Russell also served on the Board of the former
Government tourism body, Tourism NSW.
In June 2011, Russell retired as Chief Executive Officer of the
Sydney Airport Corporation after a five-year appointment
where he oversaw the continued growth and commercial
success of Australia’s National Gateway Airport.

Rebekah currently holds the role of Country Director Content
Services, Apple.
Rebekah is a fan of most sports and is particularly passionate
about the role of sports in regional communities. Rebekah is
a proud South Sydney Rugby League Football Club supporter.
In 2015, Rebekah completed the Directors Course through
the AICD and has held multiple Board roles including nonexecutive Director roles at GXL Limited and Oasis.com.
Rebekah also held the role as Chairman of e-commerce
platform Our Deal.
Rebekah has also held Digital Advisory roles at the National
Museum of Australia and Australian Sports Commission.
Rebekah holds a Bachelor of Business and is finalising an
MBA in Technology from UNSW.

Margaret Jack AM FCA
Appointed 14 October 2014
Margaret Jack is currently Strategic Advisor to the Board
of Directors of Adecco Group AG, headquartered in Zurich.
Adecco is the largest human resources company in the world
and consistently maintains its position as the number one HR
company in the Global Fortune 500 list. In China, Margaret
represents the Adecco Group on the Board of the FESCO
Adecco joint venture.
She was the Adecco Group’s representative at the 2014 B20
and 2016 B20 Meetings and Group representative at the August
2019 Summer Davos Meetings.
Margaret was on the Board of DFAT’s Australia China Council
from 2016 to 2019.
In the 2019 Queen’s Birthday Honours list, Margaret was
appointed a Member of the Order of Australia with the AM
citation “For significant service to the resources sector, and
to Australia-China relations”.
Margaret is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
of Australia and New Zealand. She has over 30 years’
experience working in negotiating commercial and technology
contracts and developing large industrial plants. Margaret
established the first Price Waterhouse office in Beijing in 1982
and was subsequently appointed Executive Director of the
Shell China and Hong Kong Group of Companies.

Russell is a former Managing Director of the Australian
Broadcasting Corporation (ABC). Prior to joining the ABC,
Russell was Director of Finance at the NSW Roads and
Traffic Authority.
Russell holds a Diploma in Technology (Commerce) and a
Bachelor of Business. Russell is a member of the Australian
Institute of Company Directors, a Fellow of CPA Australia and
a past State President of that organisation. Russell was
awarded an Order of Australia in January 2007.
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Board Members

CONTINUED

Sally Loane BA (English, Politics, Journalism)
Appointed 12 April 2018
Sally Loane joined the Financial Services Council as Chief
Executive Officer in December 2014.
Prior to this Sally had a decade in the corporate sector,
working at Coca-Cola Amatil as a senior executive. Her first
career was in the media, where she spent 25 years as a
broadcaster and journalist across radio, television and print.
Sally is also a published author.
Sally is a Director of Venues NSW and Pankind, the Australian
Pancreatic Cancer Research Foundation. Sally is also a
Governor of the Cerebral Palsy Research Foundation,
Ambassador for Business Events Sydney and a member
of Chief Executive Women.
Sally was the first female Director of Waratahs Rugby and
served on the Board for seven years. She was a Director of
SCEGGS Darlinghurst for 12 years and chaired the Salvation
Army’s Sydney East Doorknock Appeal from 2008-2011 and
was a Co-Deputy Chair for the Committee for Sydney.

Rod McGeoch AO LLB
Appointed 24 August 2011
Rod McGeoch was the leader of Sydney’s successful Olympics
2000 bid. He is an Officer of the Order of Australia. He is
also Chairman of BGP Holdings Plc, Chairman of Vantage
Private Equity Growth Limited, Chairman of Chubb Insurance
Australia Ltd, Chairman of SureVision Pty Limited, Director of
Corporacion America International S.A.R.L., Director South
Cone Foundation and Deputy Chairman of Venues NSW.
In March 2020, Rod was appointed Chairman of the Australian
Advisory Committee of the technology company 99 Technology.
In mid-2020, he was appointed to the board of TOGOV Pty Ltd,
a company specialising in procurement for other governments
and agencies in various countries of the world. He was
appointed Chairman of Australia Media Co (AMC) in July 2020.
Rod is a former Chairman of the Committee for Sydney and
plays a leading role in a variety of cultural, community and
welfare organisations. He was also President of the Law
Society of New South Wales and Director of Ramsay Health
Care Limited. He has published two best-selling books:
McGeoch and The Bid.

The Hon. George Souris AM BEc, Dip Fin Mangt,
FAIM, FCPA
Appointed 12 April 2018
George Souris is a highly experienced former NSW Minister
responsible for a wide range of portfolios, including tourism
and major events, and the management of large government
departments. He is a former Minister for Finance and was
responsible for the State’s privatisation and business reform
agenda, including the Government Insurance Office by public
float, the State’s Southern irrigation districts, and Land &
Water Conservation.
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George retired from the NSW Parliament in 2015 after 27
years of elected Parliamentary representation from the Upper
Hunter Valley of NSW. He was Parliamentary Leader of the
National Party. Prior to entering Parliament, he served seven
years as an elected Councillor of Singleton Shire Council and
was its Deputy President.
In his former capacity as Minister for Tourism, Major Events,
Hospitality, Racing and the Arts, George was responsible
for creating Destination NSW and establishing the Visitor
Economy Taskforce. George was also tasked with developing
a strategy to double overnight visitor expenditure in NSW.
The strategy and its various iterations continue to be
implemented by the current Government. He was responsible
for the Government’s liquor and gaming regulation and was
previously responsible for the NSW TAB and for creating the
current form of Racing NSW.
George is the President of the State Library Council of
NSW and is a Director of the Board of Racing NSW. He is an
honorary Director of the Board of Business Events Sydney Ltd
as Destination NSW’s representative and is Chairman of the
NSW Mine Safety Council. He is trustee of the Sydney Cricket
Ground Heritage Trust. He was made a Member of the Order
of Australia in June 2016.
He serves the boards of the Australian Rugby Foundation,
Australian Film Institute and Sir Earle Page Memorial Trust.
Before entering Parliament, George was a partner, in public
practice, of an accounting firm in the Hunter Valley where
he lives.
George is a former representative rugby player representing
the Australian U23 rugby team, Australian Universities and
NSW Country. He was awarded a University Sports Blue.

Amy Brown BA LLB GAICD
Appointed 29 March 2021
Amy is the Chief Executive Officer of Investment NSW. She
is passionate about enabling access to opportunities for
individuals via a strong economy, healthy communities, and
high-quality government services. Amy also believes in the
power of partnership between Government, the private sector,
NGOs and educational institutions to drive outcomes and
deliver value for taxpayers.
Prior to becoming CEO of Investment NSW, Amy was Deputy
Secretary and head of the Strategy and Delivery Group at
the Department of Premier and Cabinet – responsible for
providing expert commercial, strategic and economic advice
to the Premier on major and complex whole-of-government
policies, programs and projects.
Amy has also been a Partner in the Sydney office of PwC’s
Infrastructure and Urban Renewal Business, worked
in infrastructure finance at NSW Treasury and as an
infrastructure lawyer in a number of top tier law firms.
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Board Members

CONTINUED

Steve Cox MBA
Appointed 4 May 2020
Steve Cox is the Chief Executive Officer of Destination NSW.
Stepping into the role as the NSW visitor economy faced
its greatest ever challenge - from drought, floods, 2019-20
summer bushfires and the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic
- Steve has focused singularly on recovery and setting
course for an optimistic and ambitious future. This includes
leading the development of the game-changing NSW Visitor
Economy Strategy 2030 and spearheading Destination NSW’s
engagement with all three levels of government and public
and private stakeholders to deliver targeted support and
high-impact recovery programs. He is passionate about
the leadership role which Destination NSW plays in driving
economic recovery through partnerships and innovation
in destination and event marketing and visitor experience
development, which he believes are key to NSW becoming
the premier visitor economy of the Asia Pacific by 2030.
Prior to joining Destination NSW in May 2020, Steve was the
Managing Director of Dymocks Retail for eight years where
he launched several high-growth business channels for the
company. Before serving Dymocks, Steve held senior roles
in the fashion sector with David Jones and the Specialty
Fashion Group.
Steve holds an MBA from the Macquarie University Graduate
School of Management and was a member of the Business
Advisory Council for Greenfleet, a leading environmental
not-for-profit organisation.
The following people were also Destination NSW Board
Members during the reporting period:
John Warn (Chairman until 7 March 2021)
David Baffsky AO (until 14 April 2021)
Michael Pratt AM (until 19 November 2020)
Kim Curtain (20 November 2020 to 28 March 2021)
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Breadknife and Grand High Tops Walk, Warrumbungle
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Destination NSW Organisational Structure 2020-2021

MINISTER
FOR JOBS,
INVESTMENT,
TOURISM AND
WESTERN SYDNEY

DESTINATION NSW
BOARD
SUB-COMMITTEES

DEPARTMENT OF
PREMIER AND
CABINET

DESTINATION
NSW BOARD

INVESTMENT
NSW

DESTINATION
NSW CHIEF
EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Business Operations
Event Acquisition,
Development and
Management
Event Industry Engagement
Hospitality Management
Regional Event Development
Motor Sport Industry
Engagement and Event
Delivery
Stakeholder Management
Vivid Sydney

PEOPLE AND
CULTURE
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Destination Development
Regional Tourism
Development
Regional Conferencing
Trade and Industry
Development
Visitor Services
Ministerial and Corporate
Communications
Ministerial Liaison
Policy and Government
Relations
Stakeholder Communications

EVENTS

Corporate Services
Corporate Operations
Finance
Information Technology
Legal, Risk and Governance
Procurement and Contracts
Program Performance and
Assessment
Visitor Insights and
Performance

ENGAGEMENT AND
DEVELOPMENT

CORPORATE
SERVICES

CONSUMER
MARKETING
Consumer Marketing
Strategy
Destination Brand
Management
Digital Customer Experience
Marketing Campaigns and
Advertising
Public Relations and Visiting
Media Program
Content and Creative Services
Design Studio
Partnership Programs
International Offices

Diversity and Inclusion
Employee Relations
Health and Wellbeing
Human Resources
Internal Communications
Learning and Development

Page 17

ORGANISATION

CEO’s Review of the Year
My first full year as Destination
NSW CEO continued to present
challenges in the way we plan
and deliver our support for the
NSW visitor economy. Once again,
my team showed that they were
up for the challenge and
committed to achieving the
best possible results, often in
challenging circumstances.
An organisational restructure in November 2020 delivered
a more relevant and strategically focussed framework to
enable us to drive the implementation of our corporate goals.
Following a recruitment process the organisation now has
an executive team comprising the right mix of skills and
leadership to support NSW visitor economy recovery and
long-term growth.
The impact of the COVID-19 global pandemic prevailed and
often disrupted our planned activities in 2020-2021, requiring
our teams to recalibrate and reschedule on numerous
occasions. The resilience and determination on show across
the organisation endured, enabling us to notch up some
remarkable achievements during the year.

Delivering initiatives
to support visitor
economy recovery and growth.

Our teams have embraced the VES and are committed to
delivering initiatives that support visitor economy recovery
and growth in preparation for the Momentum and Accelerate
phases of the Strategy to 2030. The establishment of the
Visitor Economy Senior Officers Group (VESOG) offers
a forum to meet and discuss the whole-of-government
initiatives contained in the VES to identify and leverage
synergies that can drive results for the visitor economy.
The VESOG is already having a tangible impact with initiatives
such as the Memorandum of Understanding signed by Crown
Lands and Destination NSW to mark the launch of NSW’s first
ever State Strategic Plan for Crown Land.

A key highlight came in November 2020 with the delivery of
Great Southern Nights, a month-long initiative delivered by
Destination NSW in partnership with the Australian Recording
Industry Association. Great Southern Nights offered a
program of over 1,000 COVID-safe gigs across Sydney and
NSW, enabling artists, venues and the broader industry to get
back to work during Australian music month and delivering
much needed flow-on effects for the visitor economy.

Building the Brand is a Strategic Pillar of the VES, and I am
immensely proud of the work the team has done to create
a new brand strategy and brand campaign for Sydney and
NSW that will provide a strong foundation for differentiation,
consumer messaging, local pride and competitiveness
to turbo-charge recovery and accelerate future growth. I
believe that these new brand campaigns will set us apart
from our competitors by serving as identity badges for
Sydney and NSW that foster local pride and have strong
appeal for our target visitor segments.

The development of the NSW Visitor Economy Strategy 2030
(VES) was completed and its launch in January 2021 marked
a new era in how we work with industry and government
to achieve the bold targets that have been set for the State.
This project was led by Stephen Mahoney, General Manager
Engagement and Development, and the Strategy has been
well received by our stakeholders who are supportive of its
collaborative and focussed approach.

From March 2021, we transitioned from NSW Treasury to
the Premier and Cabinet cluster as part of the newly formed
Investment NSW. Our inclusion in Investment NSW facilitates
strong government collaboration and delivers a range of
opportunities for the NSW visitor economy that our teams
are actively exploring. I would like to thank Amy Brown,
CEO Investment NSW for welcoming us so warmly and for
her contribution as a Destination NSW Board member.

The NSW Government maintained its commitment to
supporting and growing the visitor economy through its
investment of $200 million to Destination NSW in the
2020-2021 NSW Budget. This commitment underscores
the Government’s understanding of the role that the
visitor economy plays in creating and securing jobs and
reinvigorating the State and local economies through visitor
spending as demand for travel resumes.

I would like to thank Minister Ayres, the Destination NSW
Board, the Premier and Cabinet Secretary and NSW Treasury
Secretary for their ongoing support of the NSW visitor
economy. I would also like to welcome our new Chairman,
Christine McLoughlin AM and thank John Warn, the former
Chairman for his contribution to Destination NSW over the
past three years.

Following the launch of the VES, our focus on recovery
intensified. The goal for the Recovery phase of the strategy
is to return total visitor expenditure to pre-COVID levels
($43 billion in 2019) by 2024. The VES emphasises the need
for our people to consider how their activities and outputs
support its Guiding Principles and Strategic Pillars to deliver
strong outcomes for the NSW visitor economy. This renewed
strategic focus will be vital to driving results and achieving
the Government’s vision to make NSW the premier visitor
economy of the Asia Pacific.

Undoubtedly, the past two years have presented many
disruptions for the NSW visitor economy. I look forward to
leading our recovery and I am confident that we are equipped
with the right strategy and team in place to get our State back
on top and achieve the vision of making NSW the premier
visitor economy of the Asia Pacific.

Steve Cox
Chief Executive Officer
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Financial Overview 2020-2021
Budget Structure
Destination NSW is a NSW Public Service Executive
Agency under the Destination NSW Act 2011 (created on
1 July 2011), comprising all entities under its control, namely
Destination NSW Staff Agency which provided staff services
to Destination NSW for part of the reporting period.

Sources of Funds
11.35%

1.62%

From 29 March 2021, Destination NSW moved to the
Department of Premier and Cabinet cluster as part of the
Machinery of Government changes. The Destination NSW
Staff Agency was abolished, and staff transferred to the
newly created Investment NSW agency which provides
staff services to Destination NSW.

87.03%

This summary represents the consolidated financial
performance for the year ended 30 June 2021.

Sources of Funds ($197.6 million)
Total revenue for Destination NSW for the year ending
30 June 2021 was $197.6 million.
The main sources of revenue were recurrent government
grants from NSW Treasury and Department of Premier and
Cabinet ($172.0 million), contributions received from industry
and other parties ($22.4 million) to participate in marketing
activities and other income ($3.2 million).

87.03% NSW Treasury/Department
of Premier and Cabinet
11.35% Other contributions
1.62% Other income

Clarence River, Maclean
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Destination NSW Performance 2020-2021
Strategic Objective 1:
Position Sydney and New South Wales as world-leading tourism and events destination
Target
2020-2021

Actual
2020-2021

%
Achieved

Total

168.6

107.8

63.9%

Domestic

98.9

103.5

104.8%

International

69.7

4.3

6.2%

Total

26.1

19.8

75.9%

Domestic

18.1

19.4

107.2%

International

8.0

0.4

5.0%

No. of media articles

16,582

25,705

155%

Equivalent Advertising Value

$117,038,801

$161,947,069

138%

No. of supported media visits to Sydney and
regional destinations

195

205

105%

Media distribution/ pitches / service engagements

40,207

207,139

515%

Visits to tourism & events consumer websites
(sydney.com, visitnsw.com & vividsydney.com)

15,385,866

19,499,850

127%

Note 1

Business leads to industry generated by digital and
campaign activity

4,789,886

6,660,915

139%

Note 1

Key Performance Indicators

Comment

Total NSW visitor nights (million)

Total NSW overnight expenditure ($billion)

Media Exposure

Consumer Response to Marketing Activity

Note 1: Destination NSW achieved a year-on-year increase across website visits and leads to the tourism industry. While Vivid Sydney did not go ahead, Destination NSW introduced a new
winter event and event website, sydneysolstice.com.
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Destination NSW Performance 2020-2021

CONTINUED

Strategic Objective 2:
Attract and secure high value major events
FESTIVALS

Secured:
Broken Hill Mundi Mundi Bash
Great Southern Nights
Sydney Gay & Lesbian Mardi Gras Parade
Sydney Royal Easter Show
Sydney Solstice
Sydney WorldPride 2023
The Greatest Southern Night
Vivid Sydney @ Carriageworks
Continued investment into: Deni Ute Muster, Parkes Elvis Festival, Snowtunes, Sydney Festival,
Tamworth Country Music Festival, Wings Over Illawarra, Vanfest.

ENTERTAINMENT

Secured:
AACTA Awards
Art Gallery of NSW Streeton Exhibition
Rodgers and Hammerstein’s Cinderella
Art Gallery of NSW Hilma af Klint: The Secret Paintings Exhibition
Mary Poppins
Museum of Contemporary Art Australia Lindy Lee: Moon in a Dew Drop Exhibition
Phantom of the Opera
Pippin The Musical
Sunset Piazza
Continued investment into: Afterpay Australian Fashion Week, ARIA Awards, Handa Opera on Sydney Harbour, Hamilton,
Disney’s Frozen, Semi Permanent.

LIFESTYLE

Secured:
Australia Day
Australian Open of Surfing – Coffs Harbour Open
Australian Open of Surfing – Cronulla Open
Australian Open of Surfing – Far South Coast Open
Australian Open of Surfing – Kiama Open
Australian Open of Surfing – Port Macquarie Open
Australian Open of Surfing – Northern Beaches Open
Australian Surf Championships
Australian Surf Rowers League Open
FA National Youth Championships for Boys
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Destination NSW Performance 2020-2021

CONTINUED

Strategic Objective 2 (continued):
Attract and secure high value major events CONTINUED
FA National Youth Championships for Girls
National Road Series & Champions Cup
Nepean Triathlon
Port to Port
Spartan NSW Trifecta Weekend
Snowies MTB
Snowy Classic
Sydney Harbour Outrigger Canoe Race
TreX Cross Triathlon and Trail Run Australia
WSL Rip Curl Narrabeen Classic
WSL Rip Curl Newcastle Cup
Continued investment into: Australian Boardriders Battle National Final, Battle on the Border, Bowral Classic, IRONMAN
70.3 Western Sydney, IRONMAN Australia Port Macquarie, Kiama Bodyboard King Pro, L’Etape Australia by Tour de France,
Mudgee Classic, NCHA Futurity, Sail Port Stephens, Southern 80, True Grit & 24 Hour Australian Titles, NSW Pro Surf Series
- Carve Pro, NSW Pro Surf Series – Great Lakes Pro, NSW Pro Surf Series – Port Stephens Pro, NSW Pro Surf Series –
Central Coast Pro, Sydney Running Festival, WEMBO World Solo 24 Hour Championships.

SPORT

Secured:
AFL Premiership Match - Melbourne v Collingwood
Australian Rowing Championships
Bathurst 1000
NRL Grand Final
NSW Open Golf Championships
Rugby Tri-Nations
State of Origin
Sydney Super Fight
Sydney SuperNight
Mount Panorama 500
SailGP
World Time Attack Challenge
Continued investment into: ATP Cup Sydney - Group Stage & Finals, Australian Athletics Championships, Australian Hockey
U15 Championships, Australian Hockey U21 Championships, Australian Ladies Classic, Australian Little League Baseball
Championships, Australian Senior League Baseball Championships, ICC Men’s T20 World Cup, National Touch League,
Newcastle 500, Rugby Winter Test, Rugby Championship, Sydney 7s, Women’s NSW Open Championships - Golf.

Note: A
 ll events listed were secured or retained in 2020-2021; however, some events were unable to be delivered due to the COVID-19 pandemic.
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Destination NSW Performance 2020-2021

CONTINUED

Strategic Objective 3:
Build a sustainable events calendar for New South Wales
Intrastate
overnight visitors

Interstate
overnight visitors

International
overnight visitors

Comment

Sydney events

89,982

63,859

2,984

Note 1

Regional events

14,669

6,653

281

Note 1

104,651

70,512

3,265

Note 1

Key Performance Indicators

Total

EVENT ATTENDANCE 1 July 2020 – 30 June 2021
Key Performance Indicators

No of events evaluated

Visitor Expenditure

Comment

23

$92,810,388

Note 2

Sydney events
Regional events

15

$15,064,153

Note 2

Total

38

$107,874,540

Note 2

INTERNATIONAL SPORTS, CULTURAL, CREATIVE AND ARTS EVENTS HELD IN NSW 1 July 2020 – 30 June 2021
Key Performance Indicators

Regional NSW

Sydney Metro

Western Sydney

Total

Events won or retained

20

30

8

58

Events assisted or grown

26

11

3

40

Events on calendar
(not directly assisted)

0

1

0

1

Total no. of events held

46

42

11

99

BUSINESS EVENTS SYDNEY PERFORMANCE 1 July 2020 – 30 June 2021
Target
2020-2021

Key Performance Indicators

Actual
2020-2021

%
Achieved

Comment

Events Secured:
Bids Won
Delegate Days
Estimated Direct Expenditure ($M)

44

18

41%

Note 3-5

101,113

79,150

78%

Note 3-5

$76

$70

93%

Note 3-5

Events Delivered:
Events Held

0

Delegate Days

0

Estimated Direct Expenditure ($M)

$0

EVENT ASSESSMENT 1 July 2020 – 30 June 2021
Key Performance Indicators

No of events evaluated

Comment

Event investment feasibility

117

Note 6

Event performance assessment

38

Note 6

Note 1: Event visitation results include actuals, where event evaluations have been completed and forecasts/estimates (if assessed), where evaluations have not been finalised. These are all events that
took place in the 2020-2021 financial year. Reporting excludes the Regional Event Fund. Events cancelled or delivered as virtual format (no visitation assessments) due to COVID-19 are not included in
these results.
Note 2: Results reported include actuals, where event evaluations have been completed and forecasts/estimates (if assessed), where evaluations have not been finalised. These are all events that took
place in the 2020-2021 financial year. Overnight visitor expenditure reports the money flowing into the State, from the expenditure by intrastate, interstate and international overnight visitors who came
specifically to Sydney or NSW for an event or extended their stay. Reporting excludes the Regional Event Fund. Events cancelled or delivered as virtual format (no visitation assessments) due to COVID-19
are not included in these results.
Note 3: BESydney operates in an international, highly competitive environment, which is influenced by external global factors including economic conditions, natural disasters and geopolitical
environment. BESydney seeks to manage these risks by operating in three target markets (international association meetings, global corporate meetings and incentive programs) and across three
key geographical markets (Asia Pacific, Europe and North America). This diversified approach has continued with the decision in 2020 to expand into the domestic business event market. Phase 1 of
BESydney’s domestic campaign launched in late 2020, with phase 2 rolled out in early 2021, however results were dampened by further restrictions, lockdowns and border closures in 2021.
Note 4: Throughout 2020-2021, the COVID-19 global pandemic resulted in the postponement of and disruption to Association bid decisions. Decisions in the short lead incentive and corporate markets
have ceased due to border closures, limited flights and quarantine periods. In the two calendar years prior to the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, BESydney secured an average of $235 million in direct
expenditure per annum from international events.
Note 5: At the start of July 2020, BESydney had a pipeline of previously secured events worth $85 million in direct expenditure scheduled to be held during 2020-2021. However, as a result of the ongoing
closure of international borders coupled with domestic lockdowns, no events secured by BESydney were held in 2020-2021, with events postponed, held virtually or cancelled.
Note 6: The number of events evaluated for investment feasibility indicates the number of assessments completed at an event level. Should there be multiple iterations or reassessments conducted for
an event within the 2020-2021 financial year, these iterations are not included in this report.
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Destination NSW Performance 2020-2021

CONTINUED

Strategic Objective 4:
Increase industry stakeholder and customer engagement
Target
2020-2021

Actual
2020-2021

%
Achieved

No. of media articles generated

16,582

25,705

155%

Equivalent Advertising Value

$117,038,801

$161,947,069

138%

No. of supported media visits to Sydney and
regional destinations

195

205

105%

Media distribution/ pitches / service
engagements

40,207

207,139

515%

Trade and Industry Development

Target
2020-2021

Actual
2020-2021

%
Achieved

Comment

No. of trade missions & events

5

14

280%

Note 1

No. of New South Wales businesses
attending trade missions

180

66

37%

Note 1

No. of trade familiarisations

57

21

37%

Note 2

No. of trade familiarisation participants

537

149

28%

Note 2

No. of workshops delivered

25

14

56%

Note 3

No. of tourism businesses assisted

1,200

2,453

212%

Note 3

Key Performance Indicators

Comment

Media Exposure

Key Performance Indicators

Actual
2020-2021

Destination and Business Development
No. of approved Visitor Attraction Signposting Applications

25

No. of research insight fact sheets published

242

Visits to corporate website

246,357

Note 1: The 2020-2021 Trade Event program was delivered online due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, resulting in fewer NSW businesses participating in the program due to the online
format and reduced number of events.
Note 2: In 2020-2021 there were fewer familiarisations delivered and participation was reduced due to COVID-19. The ongoing international border closures meant that only the Australian travel
trade was targeted to participate.
Note 3: The 2020-2021 NSW First Workshop Program was redesigned for online delivery, with just one planned physical workshop taking place. The redesigned program achieved a significant
increase in event participation due to the wide-reaching nature and targeted content of webinars.
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Destination NSW Performance 2020-2021

CONTINUED

Strategic Objective 5:
Deliver value in partnership/co-operative programs
Consumer Response to Marketing Activity

Target
2020-2021

Achieved
2020-2021

%
Target

Comment

Visits to tourism and events consumer websites
(sydney.com, visitnsw.com, vividsydney.com,
sydneysolstice.com)

15,385,866

19,499,850

127%

Note 1

Business leads to industry generated by digital
and campaign activity

4,789,886

6,660,915

139%

Note 1

Partnership Programs

Target
2020-2021

Achieved
2020-2021

%
Target

Comment

No. of campaigns domestic

17

52

306%

Note 2

No. of campaigns international

120

23

19%

Note 2

Total no. of airline partnerships secured and
or renewed

11

4

36%

Note 2

Value of domestic and international airline
partnerships (including VIK)

$3.3 million

$2.6 million

79%

Note 2

Note 1: Destination NSW achieved a year-on-year increase in website visits and leads to the tourism industry. While Vivid Sydney did not go ahead, Destination NSW introduced a new winter
event and event website, sydneysolstice.com.
Note 2: Campaign numbers and values are based on activities contracted in 2020-2021. Some campaigns could not be completed due to COVID-19. Some campaigns were paused and will
recommence when permitted in line with Public Health Orders and Government Travel Restrictions.
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Destination NSW Performance 2020-2021

CONTINUED

Strategic Objective 6:
Create and sustain a high performance organisation
Key Performance
Indicators

Targeted Outcomes

Achieved

Comment

Organisation
Governance

Key People Management
Strategies

Embedded Value and Culture

Ongoing

Disability Inclusion

Ongoing

Code of Conduct

Ongoing

Performance Review Process

Ongoing

Learning and Development

Ongoing

Work Health and Safety (WHS) including Health and Wellbeing

Ongoing

No Workers’ Compensation cases and lost time for injuries

Achieved

Diversity and Inclusion

Ongoing

Wages Policy Outcome

Ongoing

Multicultural review

Ongoing

One industrial instrument matter

Ongoing

Corporate Operations Policies and Guidelines

Ongoing

DPC Cluster migration

Completed

Treasury SAP and GOVConnect Implementation migration

Completed

Salesforce CRM including streamlining of key business process
and solutions

Ongoing

Calendar of Works and Activities

Ongoing

Green Team to ensure an efficient and sustainable practices

Ongoing

Improved provision of
Operational Support
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NSW Tourism Performance 2020-2021
Overview

International performance

Due to the ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and
closure of Australia’s international and domestic borders and
travel restrictions, all States and Territories recorded a steep
decline in visitors, nights and expenditure for the year.

While NSW continues to lead Australia with 54 per cent of
all international visitors, 45 per cent of all nights and 46 per
cent of all expenditure, the closure of Australia’s international
borders remained in force throughout the majority of the
reporting period, resulting in a much smaller inbound cohort.

NSW received 84.8 million international and domestic
overnight and day trip visitors, down 11.1 per cent on
2019- 2020. These visitors stayed 107.8 million nights and
spent $25.8 billion for the year, down 36.0 per cent and
22.0 per cent, respectively.
Domestic day trip visitors accounted for 64 per cent of all
visitors to NSW and 23 per cent of expenditure in 2020-2021,
while NSW’s domestic overnight visitor share was 36 per
cent, which accounted for 75 per cent of State expenditure.
International visitors accounted for just 0.1 per cent of the
NSW total visitation and 1 per cent of the expenditure.

NSW received 74,500 international visitors (-97.6 per cent
compared to 2019-2020) who stayed 4.3 million nights
(-93.8 per cent) and spent $373.8 million (-95.3 per cent).
These results represent the State’s second largest decline
on record in all metrics – with the largest declines recorded
in the year ended March 2021.

NSW — INTERNATIONAL — YEAR ENDING 30 JUNE 2021

Visitors
(Million)

2016

2017

3.7

4.1

2018

2019

4.3

4.4

2020

2021

3.1
0.1

% change on
previous year

Expenditure
(Billion)

+10.0%

+9.8%

+7.0%

$10.5
$8.9

+0.8%

-30.3%

-97.6%

$11.3

$9.8
$8.0
$0.4

% change on
previous year

Nights
(Million)

+18.2%

86.4

+11.0%

91.9

+6.6%

+7.6%

94.3

98.1

-29.4%

-95.3%

69.7

4.3
% change on
previous year

+9.0%
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NSW Tourism Performance 2020-2021

CONTINUED

International performance CONTINUED

INTERNATIONAL VISITORS TO NSW (‘000)
1,400
1,200
1,000
800
600
400
200
–

Jun QTR
2019

Sep QTR
2019

Dec QTR
2019

Mar QTR
2020

Jun QTR
2020

Sep QTR
2020

Dec QTR
2020

Mar QTR
2021

Jun QTR
2021

International visitation to NSW declined to 74,500 visitors (down 3.0 million visitors) in the year ended June 2021 as compared to
3.1 million visitors in year ended June 2020. Compared to year ended June 2019 (pre-COVID), international visitors to NSW were
down by 4.3 million visitors. From 16 October 2020, a one-way trans-Tasman bubble opened, allowing New Zealanders to enter
the country without quarantine requirements. It is therefore unsurprising that New Zealand comprised 52 per cent of the State’s
international visitors in year ended June 2021.

Opera Bar, Sydney
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NSW Tourism Performance 2020-2021

CONTINUED

Domestic performance
NSW maintained national leadership in the domestic overnight market for the year, accounting for 34.5 per cent of visitors,
31.0 per cent of nights and 31.6 per cent of all expenditure in Australia.
NSW received 30.2 million domestic visitors (-0.5 per cent compared to 2019-2020) who stayed 103.5 million nights (+4.7 per cent)
and spent $19.4 billion (+7.2 per cent), representing its first positive nights and expenditure growth since the year ended March 2020.
Overall there was a small decline in domestic overnight visitors to NSW, mainly due to the counterbalancing effect of regional NSW
attracting many more holiday visitors, while Sydney lost visitors in all segments, with just over half the loss being Business visitors
(down 1.6 million on 2019-2020).
NSW — DOMESTIC OVERNIGHT VISITATION — YEAR ENDING 30 JUNE 2021

Visitors
(Million)

% change on
previous year

2016

2017

2018

2019

28.5

30.2

33.7

37.2

–

+5.7%

+11.7%

+10.6%

2020

2021

30.3

30.2

-18.6%

-0.5%

$22.6
Expenditure
(Billion)
% change on
previous year

$20.1

$18.1

$17.2

$16.1
–

+6.8%

+16.7%

104.8

96.9

91.5

+12.5%

$19.4

-20.0%

+7.2%

98.8

103.5

-14.8%

+4.7%

116.1

Nights
(Million)
% change on
previous year

–

+5.9%

+8.2%

+10.7%

Domestic travel to NSW fell steeply leading into June quarter 2020 with almost all States implementing strict border controls or
complete border closures to control the spread of COVID-19. With the resumption of intrastate travel across NSW from 1 June
2020, the easing of state border restrictions at various points, and the continued restrictions on outbound travel, domestic travel
began to rise, peaking in June quarter 2021 (160.3 per cent growth on June quarter 2020).

DOMESTIC OVERNIGHT VISITORS TO NSW (MILLION)
10
8
6
4
2
–

Sep QTR
2019

Dec QTR
2019
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NSW Tourism Performance 2020-2021

CONTINUED

Domestic performance CONTINUED
Sydney experienced declines in domestic visitors, nights and
expenditure in both absolute terms and percentages (down
3.1 million, 7.7 million and $2.4 billion, respectively) compared
to the year ended June 2020, while regional NSW recorded
growth across all metrics. Sydney experienced significant
declines in Holiday visitors, nights and expenditure, Visiting
Friends and Relatives visitors and nights, and Business
visitors, nights and expenditure in 2020-2021.

Regional NSW leads regional Australia in domestic visitors,
nights and expenditure in 2020-2021. It received 24.3 million
domestic visitors (+13.3 per cent on 2019-2020) who stayed
83.6 million nights (+17.4 per cent) and spent $15.0 billion
(+32.9 per cent) for the year. These year-on-year percentage
changes are the first positive changes for regional NSW since
the year ended March 2020.
The North Coast continued as the highest ranked regional
destination in Australia after Sydney and Brisbane.

Sydney continued to lead Australian capital cities in domestic
overnight visitors and nights and overtook Melbourne as top
capital city for domestic overnight expenditure. It received
6.5 million domestic overnight visitors (-32.2 per cent
compared to 2019-2020) who stayed 19.9 million nights
(-27.9 per cent) and spent $4.4 billion (-35.0 per cent)
for the year.

Most tourism regions in regional NSW recorded increases
in domestic visitors, nights and expenditure for the year.
However, some regions experienced record falls in certain
metrics (The Riverina for visitors and nights; Snowy Mountains
for expenditure), while The Murray was the only region to
record falls across all three metrics.

NSW — DOMESTIC OVERNIGHT VISITORS — BY DESTINATION

DESTINATION

VISITORS (Million)
YE June 2021

North Coast NSW

5.5
4.5

South Coast
Hunter

3.9
2.8

Central NSW

%
Change
YOY

Average length
of stay (nights)

Average spend
per night

-8.3%

4.2

$185

-22.1%

3.3

$168

-12.4%

2.8

$198

-34.3%

2.7

$205

Central Coast

1.7

-17.2%

2.5

$159

New England North West

1.6

-15.6%

3.0

$138

Capital Country

1.6

-13.9%

2.4

$167

The Murray

1.5

-32.6%

2.3

$199

Riverina

1.0

-4.3%

2.8

$172

Blue Mountains

0.9

-4.5%

3.1

$235

Snowy Mountains

0.9

-23.6%

3.0

$141

Outback NSW

0.6

-21.8%

4.7

$125
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NSW Tourism Performance 2020-2021

CONTINUED

Factors contributing to performance
In 2020-2021, the global tourism industry experienced the suspension of almost all international travel due to COVID-19, including
to Australia. Travel has adapted to the impact of COVID-19, particularly in terms of international travel restrictions, which has
resulted in a switch to domestic travel for many Australians and has seen a general recovery in domestic travel.

COVID-19

Aviation

The ongoing enforced closure of Australia’s international
borders meant that for most of 2020, travel to Australia was
available only to Australian citizens, permanent residents
or New Zealand citizens usually resident in Australia.
On 16 October 2020, a one-way trans-Tasman bubble with
New Zealand was introduced. The influx of New Zealand
visitors has grown rapidly month-on-month since, peaking
at 13,020 visitors for the month of May 2021 after a two-way
bubble was launched from mid-April 2021. The bubble’s
sensitivity to COVID-19 led to it being paused briefly in early
May 2021, and indefinitely from late June 2021 as the outbreak
of the Delta strain of COVID-19 in Australia intensified.

International and domestic aviation seat capacity continued to
be affected by travel restrictions and national and interstate
border closures.

Visitor numbers from Queensland to NSW were also
impacted year-on-year due to enforced border restrictions
between NSW and Queensland. NSW saw a 1.0 million drop in
Queensland visitors in the year ended June 2021 compared to
2020, a 2.7 million decline in visitor nights and a $930.2 million
loss in expenditure from incoming Queensland visitors.

Compared to the same months in 2019, domestic aviation seats
to NSW declined by 41 per cent in March 2021; 27 per cent in
April; 29 per cent in May; and 47 per cent in June.

Domestic inbound seat capacity to
NSW and Australia – Monthly
NSW

Australia

7,000
6,000
5,000
4,000
3,000
2,000
1,000
–
Jul-19
Aug-19
Sep-19
Oct-18
Nov-19
Dec-19
Jan-20
Feb-20
Mar-20
Apr-20
May-20
Jun-20
Jul-20
Aug-20
Sep-20
Oct-20
Nov-20
Dec-20
Jan-21
Feb-21
Mar-21
Apr-21
May-21
Jun-21

However, with Victoria suffering a strict lockdown from
30 June until the end of October 2020, NSW lost one of its main
domestic source markets. This situation was exacerbated
further by two more lockdowns in Victoria in 2021. NSW
recorded a 1.5 million drop in Victorian visitors in the year
ended June 2021 compared to June 2020, as well as 4.6 million
fewer visitor nights and a $865.6 million loss in expenditure
from incoming Victorian visitors.

In 2020-2021, NSW domestic aviation capacity accounted
for 41 per cent of domestic seats on Australian competitive
routes. NSW and Australian domestic seat capacity declined
by 57.6 per cent and 49.3 per cent respectively, compared to the
previous year.

Seats (Thousands)

Domestically, from mid-June 2020, Australian States began
to announce their borders reopening from various dates
in July. This move reflected the States’ commitment to the
July timetable outlined by the Commonwealth Government.
Despite borders reopening, there were widespread consumer
concerns regarding travel safety as well as hesitancy to travel
Interstate due to the constantly changing travel restrictions
and snap border closures. Domestic overnight travel to
NSW from July 2020 onwards fluctuated monthly, peaking in
January 2021 (3.0 million visitors) and April 2021 (3.6 million
visitors). These peaks aligned with the post-Christmas holiday
period and the April school holidays / Easter long weekend.

With the easing of some travel restrictions, there were
increases in domestic seat capacity during the school holiday
months. Following a peak in seats and passengers during the
school holidays and Easter long weekend in April 2021, the
number of seats and passengers declined in May 2021. Rising
COVID-19 case numbers during late June and the resultant
restrictions caused further service declines in June 2021.

Domestic inbound seat capacity to NSW and Australia – YE
NSW

Seats (Millions)

80

69.2

70

69.0

Australia
68.9

69.0

60

51.4

50
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33.4

33.8

34.0

33.8

10.6

10
–

26.0

24.9

20
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CONTINUED

Factors contributing to performance CONTINUED
Aviation CONTINUED
International aviation seat capacity to NSW accounted for
54 per cent of international seats in Australia; however capacity
decreased by 82.2 per cent for the year. Similarly, international
seat capacity to Australia also decreased by 86.7 per cent.
Compared to the same months in 2019, international aviation
seats to NSW declined by 88 per cent in March; 83 per cent in
April; 79 per cent in May; and 81 per cent in June. With the

introduction of the two-way trans-Tasman travel bubble,
a marginal recovery in international seat capacity was seen
from April to June 2021.
Many international services to Sydney ceased due to Australia’s
international border closure. New international services to
Sydney in 2020-2021 included Sri Lankan Airlines’ service from
Colombo to Sydney, which commenced in September 2020.

International inbound seat capacity to NSW and Australia – Monthly
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Factors contributing to performance CONTINUED
Accommodation
In the June 2021 quarter, the NSW accommodation sector comprised 1,852 establishments and 92,137 rooms. This represents
an increase in supply compared to the previous year, up 5 per cent each. Regional NSW accounted for 77 per cent of all
establishments and 51 per cent of all rooms in the State. June 2020 quarter was a period of great difficulty for the accommodation
sector with COVID-19 restrictions on travel and civilian movement. Taking this into account, it is therefore unsurprising that NSW,
Sydney and regional NSW’s accommodation performance in June quarter 2021 was at least 26 percentage points above the
occupancy rates of June quarter 2020.
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The number of establishments and rooms in NSW in the June 2021 quarter was slightly higher than the 1,836 establishments and
91,287 rooms reported in the March 2021 quarter. This growth stems from properties re-opening from temporary closure as well
as one new hotel opening. The COVID-19 travel bans and restrictions severely impacted occupancy rates with significant decreases
from March to May 2020, followed by signs of recovery since June 2020. The increased participation in intrastate travel, after the
easing of restrictions, has resulted in regional NSW leading the recovery since, peaking in the school holiday months,
and occupancy rates for both Sydney and regional NSW reaching their peaks in April 2021.
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Factors contributing to performance CONTINUED
Australian dollar
Exchange rates and differential inflation rates affect the
price of Australia as a destination, relative to competing
destinations. A fall in the value of the Australian dollar
reduces the cost for overseas visitors to travel to, and within
Australia. Such a fall can also have a positive impact on
domestic travel, encouraging Australian travellers to choose
to holiday domestically rather than overseas.
In 2020-2021, Australia continued to be an affordable
destination for international visitors, having dropped below
parity against the US dollar in May 2013. The average
Australian dollar to US dollar exchange rate in 2020-2021,
was US $0.75, up from the average exchange rate of
$0.67 in 2019-2020.
After reaching a 10 year low in 2019-2020, the Australian
dollar appreciated against all major currencies in 20202021, with the highest increase against India (+13.4 per cent),
Indonesia (+12.0 per cent), Thailand (+11.2 per cent) and
Hong Kong (+11.0 per cent).

Global confidence
According to The Conference Board® Global Consumer
Confidence Survey (over 33,500 online responses in 68
countries), global consumer confidence rose slightly to 109
in the second quarter of 2021, off the back of a record 108
in the first quarter. The latest global index surpasses the
106-mark recorded at the start of the pandemic in the first
quarter of 2020 and is the highest on record since the launch
of the index in the first quarter of 2005.
Consumer confidence was higher in countries showing
economic recovery, where mobility restrictions were
relaxed, vaccines distributed, and COVID-19 cases declining.
Conversely, consumer confidence declined in regions still
grappling with new COVID-19 infections, limited vaccine
availability, and ongoing economic restrictions. The global
confidence survey found that while consumers planned
to spend when economies reopen, the focus on saving
remained, demonstrating consumer caution. The desire
to buy clothing and spend on travel also indicated that
consumers were looking forward to increased mobility
and reduced travel restrictions.
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• I n North America, continued fiscal and monetary support
as well as high vaccination rates and reduced mobility
restrictions in the second quarter led to a surge in
confidence levels (up 15 points).
• I n Europe, improving sentiment around financial conditions,
declining COVID-19 cases and accelerating vaccination
rates in most countries contributed to the improved outlook
compared to the first quarter (up 5 points).
• I n the Asia Pacific region, consumer confidence was reduced
by 3 points due to a sharp drop in consumer confidence in
countries facing a severe second (or third) wave of COVID-19,
particularly India. Sentiment in China was up, but other
data suggested the level of confidence among consumers in
China may be overstated given the less optimistic reports on
jobs, retail sales and household savings.

Australian confidence
Tourism Australia’s Travel Sentiment Tracker provides
a regular assessment of consumer confidence and travel
indicators for key markets. During the year ending June
2021, Australian consumer confidence showed a continuous
upward trend, starting at around 70 (<100 is negative,
>100 positive) in July 2020 to reach 108 in June 2021, there
were however slight drops in confidence in the months of
December 2020 and May 2021.
‘Travel intention within Australia in the next six months’
similarly saw an upward trend across the year, with some
declines from December 2020 through to April 2021, and
signs of recovery since. Safety perceptions of Australia
remained strong at 82 per cent as at June 2021.
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Mungo National Park, Mungo
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Visitor Snapshot: NSW Year Ending June 2021
TOTAL OVERNIGHT VISITORS (INTERNATIONAL AND DOMESTIC)

DOMESTIC VISITORS AND VISITOR NIGHTS

TOTAL VISITOR ARRIVALS

PURPOSE OF VISIT

Visitors

Visitor Nights

Australia

87.5 million

Holiday

44%

46%

NSW

30.2 million

Visiting Friends & Relatives

35%

32%

Business

16%

15%

7%

7%

100%

100%

Growth on Previous Year: Australia

-10.9%

Growth of Previous Year: NSW

-9.4%

Other

NSW Market Share Visitors

34.5%

Total

DOMESTIC PURPOSE OF VISIT — CHANGES ON PREVIOUS YEAR
(YE June 2021)

TOTAL VISITOR NIGHTS
Australia

343.2 million

PURPOSE OF VISIT

NSW

107.8 million

Holiday

Visitors

% change

2.7 million

25.1%

Growth on Previous Year: Australia

-37.0%

Visiting Friends & Relatives

-0.8 million

-6.9%

Growth on Previous Year: NSW

-36.0%

Business

-1.9 million

-28.3%

Other

-0.3 million

-1.1%

Total

-0.2 million

-0.5%

NSW Market Share Visitor Nights

31.4%

AVERAGE LENGTH OF STAY
Australia

3.9 nights

DOMESTIC NIGHTS — CHANGES ON PREVIOUS YEAR
(YE June 2021)

NSW

3.6 nights

PURPOSE OF VISIT
Holiday
Visiting Friends & Relatives

TOTAL EXPENDITURE
Australia

$62.2 billion

NSW

$19.8 billion

Growth on Previous Year: Australia

-27.7%

Growth on Previous Year: NSW

-24.1%

NSW Market Share Visitor Expenditure

38.1%

Visitor nights

% change

9.7 million

25.9%

0.1 million

0.4%

Business

-5.1 million

-24.3%

Other

-0.1 million

-1.2%

Total

4.7 million

4.7%

Source: National and International Visitor Surveys, Tourism Research Australia.
Note: Visitors may visit a State for more than one purpose – hence, figures by Purpose
of Visit category may not add up to the Total.

TOTAL VISITOR MARKET SHARE (OVERNIGHT AND DAYTRIP)
Visitors

Visitor
Nights

Sydney

22%

21%

Regional

80%

79%

Visitation to Sydney and regional NSW

Note: Figures may add to more than 100% in some instances as some visitors will visit
multiple destinations.
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Visitor Snapshot: NSW Year Ending June 2021

CONTINUED

TOTAL OVERNIGHT VISITORS AND NIGHTS
Visitors
(millions)

% change

Visitor nights
(millions)

% change

Expenditure
($billion)

% change

Sydney
International

0.1

-98.0%

3.0

-94.9%

$0.3

-96.1%

Domestic

6.5

-32.2%

19.9

-27.9%

$4.4

-35.0%

Total

6.6

-47.3%

22.9

-73.6%

$4.7

-66.4%

International

0.02

-96.5%

1.3

-87.7%

$0.1

-87.6%

Domestic

24.3

13.3%

83.6

17.4%

$15.0

32.9%

Total

24.3

10.3%

84.9

4.0%

$15.0

25.5%

0.1

-97.6%

4.3

-93.8%

$0.4

-95.3%

Regional NSW

New South Wales (total)
International
Domestic

30.2

-0.5%

103.5

4.7%

$19.4

7.2%

Total

30.2

-9.4%

107.8

-36.0%

$19.8

-24.1%

Note: NSW visitors total is less than the addition of Sydney and Regional NSW as some visitors will visit multiple locations.

NSW TOP 3 INTERNATIONAL MARKETS
Visitors
(thousands)

% change

Visitor nights
(millions)

% change

Expenditure
($million)

% change

Country of Origin
New Zealand

38.7

-87.3%

1.2

-55.5%

$121.7

-58.8%

USA

7.1

-98.1%

0.5

-87.0%

$40.8

-93.1%

United Kingdom

4.6

-98.3%

0.4

-92.3%

$32.6

-93.0%

Note: In March 2020, the Australian Government closed its international borders due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Travel to Australia is available only to Australian citizens, permanent residents
or New Zealand citizens usually resident in Australia. Other travellers may enter Australia only if they have been granted an individual exemption. In October 2020, a one-way, trans-Tasman
bubble was established which allowed New Zealanders to enter Australia without needing to quarantine. A two-way bubble commenced thereafter on 19 April 2021.
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Key Achievements in 2020-2021
Accentuate the Positive!
2020-2021 was a year of highs and lows, driven by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and the pressures it continued
to place on the NSW visitor economy.
Throughout the year our team delivered many outstanding achievements, here are just a few of the key highlights.

July 2020

August 2020

September 2020

NSW First Workshop Program
pivots to digital delivery.

49 Local Stories video series
launched to motivate holidaymakers
to support local tourism when
planning their next escape.

Love NSW map and Sydney
‘playcation’ itineraries launched.

December 2020

November 2020

October 2020

Destination NSW Road Trips
Marketing Program launched
to put the visitor economy on
track for recovery.

Great Southern Nights achieves an
Australian first by rebooting live music
across the State with 1,000 COVIDsafe gigs throughout November.

Diploma of Event Management
scholarships awarded to 12
recipients across regional NSW.

PIPPIN opens at Sydney Lyric
Theatre, Australia’s first live theatre
production since the COVID-19
pandemic hit.

January 2021

February 2021

March 2021

NSW Visitor Economy Strategy
2030 launched.

Sydney Love it Like you Mean It
campaign launched.

Hamilton opens in Sydney, the
only place the award-winning
musical could be seen worldwide.
The show’s US producer credits
Sydney as “the place where theatre
started again”.
Christine McLoughlin AM appointed
as Destination NSW Chairman.

June 2021

May 2021

April 2021

Sydney Solstice brings 200-plus
events to 150 venues to revitalise
Sydney CBD.

163 music venues receive boost
through $24 million Live Music.

Make Every Moment Count
campaign launched as Australia –
New Zealand travel bubble opens.

Agreement signed with Crown Lands
to transform Crown reserves into
tourism hubs.
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Caves Beach, Lake Macquarie
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Engagement and Development
The Engagement and Development Division comprises the
functions of product and distribution development, industry
development, regional destination development, business
events and funding programs, visitor servicing, ministerial
and parliamentary services, government relations and policy,
and stakeholder and ministerial communications. This new
division was formed to drive stakeholder engagement to
increase collaboration between industry and government and
develop the visitor economy to support the implementation
of the NSW Visitor Economy Strategy 2030 (VES) and the
NSW Government’s vision of making NSW the premier visitor
economy of the Asia Pacific.

Product, Distribution and
Industry Development
Pivot remained an enduring theme in 2020-2021 with our
teams responding, and adapting, to the ongoing impacts of
COVID-19. All activities focussed on the Road to Recovery Strategic Pillar one of the VES. In line with guiding principle
four – move fast, be responsive and agile – we redesigned and
reformatted a range of our industry development initiatives to
support digital only and hybrid delivery.

NSW First Program digital transition
NSW First is Destination NSW’s industry development and
capability-building program. Due to the ongoing impact of
COVID-19, the team redesigned the program to enable it
delivery to pivot from a pre-COVID schedule of face-to-face
workshops to two streams of online events. The two streams,
Restart Series and Discuss and Develop your Business,
comprised digital events with a focus on supporting tourism
businesses to return to market following the impacts
of COVID-19.
Thirteen workshops were delivered from July to December
2020, attended by 1,600 participants. The program provided
tools and information to help tourism businesses position
themselves for recovery and a return to profitability, in
response to the impacts of COVID-19. The redesigned
program enabled Destination NSW to leverage digital
meeting and webinar platforms to deliver live and ondemand content for visitor economy businesses to access
from any device. This digital access enabled participation
form businesses all over NSW.
Post-event surveys delivered an overall satisfaction rate
of 92 per cent.

These activities also demonstrated how we were able to
Accelerate Digital Innovation in line with guiding principle two
of the VES by leveraging digital meeting and webinar platforms
to deliver live and on-demand content for visitor economy
businesses to access from any device.

Siding Spring Observatory, Coonabarabran

DESTINATION NSW // Annual Report 2020-2021

Page 43

REVIEW

Engagement and Development
Japan Trade Webinars
Our Trade Events team delivered digital events for the Japan
market in place of a physical roadshow due to COVID-19 travel
restrictions. Comprising six live webinars the team delivered
sessions to update and educate Japanese travel agents to
help them prepare for post-COVID-19 travel and keep NSW
destinations and experience top of mind as international
borders re-open.
The webinars enabled 30 NSW tourism suppliers to showcase
and provide updates on their products and experiences to
the 950 key Japanese travel trade buyers who attended the
sessions from September to December 2020 and in
March 2021.
The webinars aimed to
• increase awareness of NSW destinations and products
• r aise the profile of and grow opportunities for NSW
visitor economy suppliers with key Japanese travel
industry partners

CONTINUED
across the live and online components of ATE. They also
hosted an exclusive function for NSW sellers and invited
buyers for 284 delegates and hosted a familiarisation program
showcasing Sydney and NSW destinations to 69 participants.
ATE 2021 supported Strategic Pillars one and four of the
VES, Road to Recovery and Showcase our Strengths and
demonstrated alignment with the guiding principles of putting
the visitor first, leading with our strengths and moving fast,
being responsive and agile by pivoting to a hybrid event format.

Discover NSW Webinar Series
The team produced a series of six webinars that were
delivered from October to December 2020 as part of
the Discover NSW series featuring content about NSW
destinations, food and drink, nature and wildlife, art and
cultural experiences as well as NSW road trip itineraries.

• s howcase NSW key experiences, cities, regions and events
to key travel industry partners.

Two hundred and thirty-eight participants joined the live
webinar sessions, which were designed to assist domestic
travel industry partners to find itinerary ideas and inspiration,
learn about bookable products and experiences, as well as
the tools and resources available to help them promote and
sell holidays in Sydney and NSW. The objective of the webinars
was to increase knowledge of NSW visitor experiences and
destinations to keep them top of mind for domestic and
international travel agents and wholesalers.

The webinars were well received. A post event survey showed
that 79 per cent of participating NSW visitor economy suppliers
were satisfied with the format and delivery. 85 per cent of
buyers attending advised that they found the NSW product
information and updates extremely useful in understanding
NSW destinations, products and services.

The Discover NSW webinars supported Strategic Pillars
one and four of the VES, Road to Recovery and Showcase
our Strengths and demonstrated alignment with the guiding
principles of Put the Visitor First, Lead with our Strengths
and move fast, be responsive and agile by pivoting to an
online format.

• p
 rovide product education for retail sales and front-line
wholesale staff, who play a crucial role in securing bookings
to drive visitation to Sydney and regional NSW

The Japan trade webinars supported Strategic Pillars one and
four of the VES, Road to Recovery and Showcase our Strengths
and demonstrated alignment with the guiding principles of Put
the Visitor First, Lead with our Strengths and move fast, be
responsive and agile by pivoting from physical to virtual events
delivered online.

Australian Tourism Exchange 2021
Due to the ongoing impact of COVID-19 and global travel
restrictions, the Australian Tourism Exchange 2021 (ATE)
was delivered in a hybrid format, comprising in-person and
online elements.
ATE 2021 was the first time the tourism industry had gathered
on such scale since the pandemic began. The live event was
held from 7 to 9 June 2021 at the International Convention
Centre Sydney and provided opportunities for 94 NSW tourism
suppliers to meet with Australia-based international buyers,
domestic buyers and frontline travel sellers. The online
component was held from 10 to 17 June for the international
buyers unable to attend live due to travel restrictions.
Approximately 1100 buyers attended the hybrid event.
The event provided an opportunity for visitor economy
stakeholders to meet, exchange knowledge and maintain and
establish new business connections to keep NSW top of mind
when borders re-open and international travel resumes. The
Destination NSW team conducted more than 650 meetings
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NSW Wine Industry Association
Familiarisation Program
Destination NSW further cemented its partnership with NSW
Wine Industry Association on the Capturing Growth in Wine
Regions State Grant Program to support a collaborative,
strategic approach to attracting and maximising international
wine tourism in NSW. Due for completion by June 2020, the
program was extended to June 2021 to facilitate delivery
of some components that were delayed by the 2019-2020
bushfires and COVID-19.
The NSW Wine Industry Association Familiarisation Program
showcased our NSW wine regions to travel industry
representatives and hotel concierges, through a series of
familiarisation programs delivered in partnership with the
NSW Wine Industry Association. The familiarisations aimed to
increase awareness of NSW as a food and wine destination in
our key markets and to keep NSW top of mind for consumers
to book visits when travel restrictions are lifted and/or
borders are open.
A total of 32 travel trade representatives participated in
the familiarisation program between December 2020 and
February 2021. The familiarisations showcased NSW’s
diverse food and wine regions including Shoalhaven, Mudgee,
Southern Highlands, Canberra District, Orange, Central Coast
and Hunter Valley. Participants were able to sample some of
the State’s finest wines and produce, as well as learn about the
new accommodation, products and visitor experiences on offer
in these destinations.

CONTINUED
Experience Enhancement Fund offered grants between
$50,000 and $150,000 in matched funding to assist operators
upgrade existing accommodation to be four- to five-star;
upgrade business and leisure event venues and facilities;
repurpose existing infrastructure to provide new facilities
or experiences not currently available within the destination;
or to create new tourism attractions or experiences. Fourteen
Experience Enhancement projects were supported to deliver
upgraded or new products and experiences for visitors
Updates to the Tourism Product Development Funding
Program support the Road to Recovery - Strategic Pillar
one of the VES by accelerating digital innovation through
the introduction of integrated digital platforms that
improved processes and provided contactless signing
for funding recipients.
The projects supported Put the Visitor First by addressing
visitor expectations and developing new experiences and
services and enable NSW to Lead with our Strengths and
Facilitate Growth through the inclusion of sustainability
and accessibility in the program assessment criteria and to
support increases to operational capacity and potential yield by
making more premium bookable offerings available to visitors.
Full details of grants delivered through the Tourism Product
Development Funding can be found in the Appendices.

The familiarisation program demonstrated strong alignment
with the VES guiding principles of Put the Visitor First,
Lead with our Strengths and Collaborate with Industry
and Government. With a focus on Road to Recovery the
familiarisations also supported Strategic Pillars two and
five: Build the Brand and Facilitate Growth.

Tourism Product Development Funding
The redesign of the Tourism Product Development Funding
Program in 2020-2021 focused on supporting post COVID-19
recovery by enabling businesses to update and improve
their product or visitor experience. This $3 million program
positions the NSW visitor economy strongly to deliver highquality experiences to visitors as travel restrictions lifted and
borders reopened.
The program, which opened in February 2021, comprised two
streams providing grants to businesses in regional NSW.
Refresh and Renew Fund offered $10,000 grants for
businesses to update their product and improve the visitor
experience. One hundred and four Refresh and Renew projects
received funding to directly address consumer feedback to
enable the product to better meet consumer expectations
in future.
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CONTINUED

Regional Business Event Development Fund

Regional Tourism Development

Launched in February 2021, the NSW Regional Business Event
Development Fund aims to increase the number of business
events held in regional NSW, increase the number of delegates
attending these business events and encourage them to stay
and experience the region before or after the business event.

The Regional Tourism Development team is the interface
between Destination NSW and regional stakeholders,
including local tourism organisations, local governments,
industry associations, and visitor economy operators in
regional NSW.

This Road to Recovery initiative delivered funding of
$500,000 which was doubled in April 2021 through the NSW
Government’s 2020-2021 Business Events Industry Support
Package, creating a $1 million total investment in regional
business events.

2020-2021 was another challenging year for the NSW visitor
economy, responding to the devastating drought, bushfires,
storms, floods and the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic.
The Regional Tourism Development Managers continued to
play an integral role in information gathering and advocacy
to support participation in NSW Government programs
and resources.

The Regional Business Event Development Fund provides
financial incentive to business event organisers, making
regional NSW competitive with metropolitan locations as well
as other States and Territories. The Fund enables us to lead
with, and showcase, our strengths by encouraging business
event owners and organisers to communicate NSW’s
appeal and diversity.
The program puts the visitor first by supporting activities
that will improve the delegate experience, create local
engagement and inspire them to keep exploring and
returning to regional NSW.
The additional funding delivered through the Government’s
Business Events Industry Support Package showcases
collaboration with industry by supporting and facilitating
growth in the business events sector which has been
significantly impacted by COVID-19.

The Regional Tourism Development Managers work closely
with the Destination Networks who are the champions of
the visitor economy in their regions and play a key support
role for Destination NSW in the delivery of its industry
development and visitor experience and regional event
funding programs.
With a focus on the Road to Recovery and collaboration
between industry and government, the team’s work is
invaluable in raising awareness, and uptake, of services
and assistance available from Destination NSW and other
NSW Government agencies. They also support the
delivery of a range of activities across Destination NSW,
including marketing campaigns, funding programs,
industry development opportunities, policy issues and
available research.

Business events drive mid-week visitation, particularly for
regions that typically thrive on leisure tourism. The Fund’s
focus on business events drives economic growth, job stability
and job creation. The ‘Support for Business Event Project Small Scale Infrastructure’ stream enables competition with
metropolitan and interstate locations through the growth and
improvement of infrastructure needs in regional communities
to help meet demand and drive opportunity.
Sixty-three applicants received funding through the Regional
Business Event Development Fund in 2020-2021, full details
can be found in Appendices.
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Visitor Attraction Signposting –
Digital Enhancement and Streamlining
During 2020-2021, Destination NSW’s Visitor Services team
conducted a joint review of the State’s Tourist Attraction
Signposting Program in conjunction with Transport for NSW.
The Review delivered on Action 29 of the Visitor Economy
Industry Action Plan 2030 ‘Streamline the signposting
application process and work to enhance tourist drive
signposting in regional NSW’.
The Review evaluated the application and assessment
processes and administration of the tourist attraction
signposting program, which were paper based and labour
intensive. The joint working group recommended improving
and streamlining the process based on feedback from
interviews with previous applicants and consultation
with key industry stakeholders. The recommendations
were as follows:
• S
 treamline and support – simplify the application process
and providing greater support to applicants
• Increase awareness – achieve greater awareness and
uptake of the signposting program
• S
 tronger relationships – develop stronger relationships
between applicants, industry and Government (Destination
NSW and Transport for NSW).
The Review delivered strong visitor economy
outcomes including:
• A
 n online ‘one stop’ information resource comprising
online application process, signposting category fact
sheets and a Signposting Pricing Guide, which provides
upfront information on the timeframes and costs involved
with signposting
• A
 stronger partnership between Destination NSW
and Transport for NSW through a Memorandum of
Understanding (MOU) signed in May 2021 outlining each
agency’s role in delivering the Visitor Attraction Signposting
Program and committing them to exploring a more holistic
approach to wayfinding in the future
• T
 he renamed Visitor Attraction Signposting Program to
better align with visitor economy development.
The program was transformed through stakeholder
consultation and collaboration. The streamlined and enhanced
Visitor Attraction Signposting Program aligns strongly with the
VES. It will support the Road to Recovery by guiding visitors
to quality attractions and industry by a potential increase in
visitor numbers and Facilitate Growth by assisting visitor
attractions showcase their product, increase awareness and
make them easier to locate.
The Visitor Attraction Signposting Program demonstrates
strong Collaboration Between the Industry and Government.
It is a collaboration between NSW Government partners
supported by a broader range of government (state and
local) and industry stakeholders that will Put the Visitor
First through the installation of visitor attraction signs to
guide visitors efficiently and safely to quality attractions.
Transforming a paper-based program into an efficient
online application and assessment process will Accelerate
Digital Innovation.
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CONTINUED
The program will help NSW to Lead with our strengths by
enabling quality attractions that align with current product
strengths and emerging industry trends to be signposted.
It has been adapted in an agile and responsive way based on
industry feedback demonstrating a commitment to Move fast,
be responsive and agile.

Government Relations and Policy
The Government Relations and Policy team works across
the organisation and the NSW Government leading and
providing inputs to key initiatives and outcomes to support
and develop the NSW visitor economy. At a national level, the
team manages NSW’s participation in the Tourism Ministers’
Meeting and Australian Standing Committee on Tourism. The
team also provides advice to the Commonwealth Government
on visitor economy recovery programs.
Throughout 2020-2021, the Government Relations and
Policy team worked with a range of stakeholders to support
visitor economy and wider government outcomes, including
supporting the NSW Government’s bushfire and COVID-19
response. This work included increasing dialogue and
collaboration with the Department of Regional NSW, National
Parks and Crown Lands on visitor economy programs, as well
as providing advice to NSW Treasury, Service NSW and the
Office of the Small Business Commissioner on support and
grants for businesses impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic.

Stakeholder Communications
The Stakeholder and Ministerial Communications team
covers three distinct functions: Stakeholder and Ministerial
communications, Ministerial Liaison and maintenance and
development of Destination NSW’s corporate website.
The Communications team delivers a range of
communications activities to leverage visitor economy
announcements for NSW to support the NSW Government’s
vision of making NSW the premier visitor economy of the
Asia Pacific.
The Ministerial Liaison team is responsible for developing,
drafting and coordinating a range of outputs to support
Ministers and Government representatives as well as the
Destination NSW executive team.
Destination NSW’s corporate website provides access to
information about the organisation and the NSW visitor
economy, including industry resources, statistics and research
reports and is integrated with the content library. During the
year, the team worked with Consumer Marketing to integrate
the Destination NSW Media Centre, which was launched in
March 2021.
The team supported whole-of-organisation initiatives
including Great Southern Nights, VES development and launch
and Sydney Solstice.

Page 47

REVIEW

Consumer Marketing
Consumer Marketing delivers programs to promote Sydney
and regional NSW to increase visitor numbers and raise
awareness of our destinations to keep them top of mind as
borders reopen and travel restrictions ease. Bringing together
the functions of marketing, partnerships, PR and visiting
media, content and creative services, digital and the design
studio has delivered operational efficiencies and synergies
that have enabled the division to focus on driving results to
support the vision of making NSW the premier visitor
economy of the Asia Pacific.

Sydney and NSW Visitor Brand Strategy
The NSW Visitor Economy Strategy 2030 (VES) identifies
the need for Sydney and NSW to have strong brands that
raise the State’s profile and accelerate future growth. The
Consumer Marketing team developed a new brand strategy
and compelling brand campaigns for Sydney and NSW as the
essence of why people from Australia and overseas choose
to visit NSW.
The Sydney and NSW Visitor Brand Strategy aims to create a
distinct and memorable local identity to unify Sydney and NSW,
maintain dominant market positioning and build resident and
visitor advocacy. The strategy will also increase visitor demand
to grow visitation and spend to contribute to the VES targets.
The intent of the new brand campaigns is to drive strong
destination appeal and consideration leading to increased
intention to visit and expenditure. The brand campaigns also
seek to raise tourism sentiment by building pride and advocacy
with Sydney and NSW residents.

drought, bushfires and the COVID-19 pandemic offered NSW
the opportunity to reset and reposition Sydney and NSW
as the premier visitor economy of Asia Pacific. The new
brand strategy for Sydney and NSW enables us to Showcase
our Strengths by shifting current perceptions of the state,
delivering a compelling new visitor proposition for Sydney and
NSW and a unified platform for visitor economy stakeholders
to build collective strength.
The new brand strategy provides a solid framework to
showcase Sydney and NSW as major events destinations, with
something new and exciting to see year-round to underpin our
Investment in World-Class Events and help position Sydney
and NSW as the events capital of the Asia Pacific.
Targeted marketing campaigns drive demand, intention to visit,
visitor dispersal, and increased visitor expenditure to regional
and rural areas to Facilitate Growth, assisting in the recovery
of the visitor economy, and delivering economic and social
benefits to regional communities.
The new brand strategy aligns with the guiding principles
of the VES to Put the Visitor First by maintaining a strong
positioning among potential visitors, it will Accelerate Digital
Innovation by using a platform that our citizens are not only
proud of, but will also advocate to the world. The brand
strategy will enable us to Lead with our Strengths by creating
a brand positioning that unifies both Sydney and NSW under
one idea. It will also promote collaboration with industry
and government by developing positioning for visitors that
can extend to other audiences, such as international trade,
innovation and education.

Build the Brand is Strategic Pillar two of the VES. Build
the Brand will support and enable other Strategic Pillars
including the Road to Recovery, the impacts of the prolonged
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Love NSW campaigns including Road Trips
and Long Road
Love NSW
With international borders remaining closed in 2020-2021, the
Love NSW marketing campaign focused on domestic tourism,
encouraging Australians to continue to take holidays and plan
and book trips to Sydney and NSW. The campaign strategy and
executions were modified throughout the year in line with the
NSW Government’s phased COVID-19 response and supporting
economic recovery.
The Love NSW campaign comprised television, outdoor,
print, digital and social media advertising and partnership
and PR activities across broadcast and travel/lifestyle
media. Participating NSW local councils and local tourism
organisations gained increased destination exposure,
leveraged through the Love NSW campaign. Destination NSW
worked with stakeholders in the Hawkesbury and Hunter
Valley to facilitate destination-specific campaigns under the
Love NSW brand.
In January 2021, Love NSW continued to evolve with dedicated
marketing support for the Sapphire Coast and The Murray
regions as both destinations were affected severely by the
Christmas and New Year border closures.

The departure from tactical advertising enabled the team to
Put the Visitor First by generating new storytelling content,
tailored to visitor passions, needs, and motivations to build
an emotional connection to and engagement with NSW.
An overhaul of the Road Trips section of visitNSW.com
accelerated digital innovation delivering more planning tools
for consumers and increasing traffic and engagement.
In a Destination NSW first, the team worked with Google to
roll out Google My Business listings which attributed paid
marketing initiatives to regional visitation enabling us to
understand the impact of media activity on visitation.
Love NSW and NSW Road Trips both support the Road to
Recovery by encouraging travellers to choose NSW for their
next holiday to support the visitor economy recovery following
the bushfires and COVID-19 pandemic impacts.
The NSW Road Trip campaign was built on supporting the
State’s recovery and building long-term resilience and
growth. NSW Road Trips will continue to be a key pillar in
all marketing programs as they showcase NSW’s diversity
and encourage regional dispersal and visitor expenditure in
rural communities.

NSW Road Trips
In April 2021, the Consumer Marketing team prioritised the
New Zealand market to keep NSW top of mind and generate
tourism demand following the COVID-19 pandemic, bushfires
and drought, to leverage the Australia-New Zealand travel
bubble while wider international travel restrictions
remained in place.
The NSW Road Trips campaign targeted the New Zealand
market by promoting 28 road trip itineraries to encourage
travellers to book multi-night stays in regional NSW. The
campaign was delivered through integrated advertising
and PR activities over an eight-month period.
The NSW Road Trips campaign was supported by The Long
Road, a six-part YouTube video series which followed six
musicians on hero road trips throughout the state unearthing
the local stories and distinctive characters that make up NSW.
ARIA-winner Amy Shark was captivated by her experience
along the Darling River Run through Outback NSW, and
country music legend Troy Cassar-Daley followed his love
for the ocean and fierce pride of his Bundjalung Aboriginal
heritage on the 250-kilometre Rainforest Way drive.
Love NSW embodied the VES guiding principle move fast,
be responsive and agile. The environment driven by COVID-19
required constant go-no-go decision making to quickly adapt
to changing conditions and ensure campaign activities,
messaging and content remained relevant. The team
produced more than 400 creative executions to support
tourism operators and the visitor economy during lockdown
and restricted travel periods.
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Love It Like You Mean It
The Love It Like You Mean It campaign encouraged
Sydneysiders and NSW residents to be COVID-safe tourists in
their own backyard and support local businesses by booking
accommodation, tours, visiting attractions and eating in local
restaurants, pubs and cafes. Teams across Destination NSW
collaborated with industry and government by working with
NSW Treasury and the City of Sydney to support the Sydney
CBD revitalisation via the Sydney Collective.
The team developed the Get Your Sydney On campaign
targeting NSW and interstate audiences to drive immediate
action to plan and book a break in Sydney, reconnect with
loved ones and experience a Sydney they may not have seen
in a while. The campaign launch was timed to coincide with
the easing of State border restrictions from September 2020
onwards to drive visitation back to Sydney to maintain share of
voice in a competitive domestic tourism market.
Both campaigns focused on the Road to Recovery by driving
increased destination appeal, consideration and intention to
visit Sydney to generate overnight visitation, expenditure and
increase length of stay. The timing of the campaign in market
required the team to move fast, be responsive and agile to
quickly adapt to changing conditions.
Love It Like You Mean It delivered more than 7.5 million video
views and over 148,000 leads to industry at a 34 per cent
website visit to lead conversion rate. The Get Your Sydney On
campaign delivered more than 3.1 million video views and over
10,000 leads to industry.
Media Centre
In 2020-2021, the PR and Visiting Media team developed a new
dedicated Media Centre to provide immediate and seamless
access to more than 30,000 images, videos, B-roll, media
releases and editorial-ready content about Sydney and NSW.
Launched in March 2021, the Media Centre houses the largest
collection of content assets of any destination marketing
organisation worldwide. The new cloud-based resource has
been developed to provide content creators with media-ready
imagery, video, editorial-ready copy and story ideas in one easy
to use online platform that can be accessed from anywhere in
the world to inspire story placements to encourage the world
to visit NSW.

Developing this new resource also supports the VES Strategic
Pillar of Showcase our Strengths by driving destination
awareness through media coverage to keep NSW top of mind
for potential visitors when they are planning and booking
travel, leading to increased visitor expenditure.
This initiative has enabled Destination NSW to Accelerate
Digital Innovation through the development of the media centre
as a world-class online resource for content creators through
progressive web app technology providing a seamless and
immersive user experience.
Instant sign-up approval, enabling immediate access to
automatic channel-optimised content puts the visitor first
by providing users with easy and immediate access to media
ready content, images and video to fuel story placements to
inspire the world to visit NSW.
One Voice for the NSW Visitor Economy
In April 2021, our teams in China, Hong Kong, South Korea,
Japan and India began working with the Global NSW team
at Investment NSW to support collaborative activities through
a ‘Team NSW’ approach, while international borders
remain closed.
Our team supported Global NSW on a range of activities
including a marketing campaign with Rakuten (Japan’s
biggest e-commerce site) promoting NSW Wine in Japan and
engagement programs to encourage advocacy by current
Chinese students and alumni who have studied in NSW. Other
activities include trade and investment facilitation, particularly
in cities where Global NSW does not have a presence.
Team NSW is an excellent example of working collaboratively
across government in line with VES guiding principle five,
which has enabled us to support Global NSW to establish their
presence in priority markets and leverage existing Destination
NSW partnerships and market knowledge.
We are continuing to work with Global NSW and Investment
NSW on activities that benefit the broader visitor economy,
from food and wine, to education and trade and investment.
This initiative aligns with VES Strategic Pillar three as it helps
showcase the strengths of NSW by highlighting the diversity
of experiences on offer and assistance available both here
and overseas.

This new asset is driving strong results for the NSW visitor
economy. It was shortlisted in the Mumbrella CommsCon
Awards 2021 for Best Use of Owned Media and from its launch
in March to June 2021, it has serviced:
• Visits – 23,204
• Unique Users – 17,433
• 1,098 Media Centre content piece library orders
• 5,985 assets (Images or Video) downloaded
• 447 new content items added to the Media Centre.
The new Media Centre focuses on the Road to Recovery to
support travel media to develop stories and content to raise
awareness of Sydney and NSW as visitor destinations and help
to achieve the NSW Government’s vision of making NSW the
premier visitor economy of the Asia Pacific.

DESTINATION NSW // Annual Report 2020-2021

Page 50

REVIEW

Events
The Events team is responsible for developing and delivering
a distinctive and compelling events calendar that positions
Sydney and NSW as the events capital of the Asia-Pacific.
Investing in a world-class events calendar to maximise the
economic and social benefits to NSW is a key strategic pillar of
the NSW Visitor Economy Strategy 2030 (VES). In 2020-2021,
the team secured or retained 99 events and worked closely
with stakeholders to develop two new events, Great Southern
Nights and Sydney Solstice.
The team maintained contact with event organisers and
external stakeholders regarding event postponements and
cancellations resulting from COVID-19 lockdowns and travel
restrictions, as well as the floods and storms in March 2021.

• 2
 34,000 visits to the Great Southern Nights website
• 4
 .8 million videos played across paid channels
• 1
 20,000 clicks on digital advertising
• 2
 ,500 artists performed at more than 1,100 gigs
• O
 ver 300 venues in NSW
• M
 ore than 500 gigs in regional NSW
• O
 ver 140 towns across regional NSW

Great Southern Nights
In November 2020, Destination NSW delivered Great
Southern Nights in partnership with the Australian Recording
Industry Association (ARIA) bringing back live music to NSW
during Australian Music Month.
We worked collaboratively with ARIA to develop the Great
Southern Nights program from concept to delivery in the
space of six months. The program’s aim to deliver 1,000 live
music concerts, performances and gigs across Sydney and
regional NSW within the parameters of COVID-restrictions
was unprecedented.
This new event supported the Road to Recovery, Strategic
Pillar one of the VES and demonstrated how we were able
to move fast, be responsive and agile and collaborate with
industry and government to deliver a new event for the State.
Event delivery was guided by the Great Southern Nights
Steering Committee comprising music industry and
government representatives to ensure that risks were
identified and mitigated, and the project goals and objectives
were achieved.
Great Southern Nights enabled artists, venues and the
broader industry to get back to work. It kick-started
the sector by:
• Rebooting the live music and entertainment sectors
• Driving visitation to Greater Sydney and regional NSW
• S
 timulating the visitor economy in the recovery phase
of COVID-19

Post event research highlighted appreciation for the
opportunity to enjoy live music again to support local artists
and the music industry and enjoying smaller or intimate
performances in a COVID-safe manner.
• 8
 9 per cent of survey respondents cited attending Great
Southern Nights as one of the main reasons they travelled
outside their home region.
• O
 f those, 84 per cent cited Great Southern Nights as the
primary purpose for their visit to the region. Nearly 38 per
cent of respondents attended two or more gigs.
• O
 ver 95 per cent of respondents rated their overall
experience as good or very good.
• A
 similar proportion agreed or strongly agreed they would
recommend the event to others.
Great Southern Nights provided a sense of optimism to all
sectors of the live music sector, including artists, industry,
fans and media. Its alignment with Australian Music Month
and the annual ARIA Awards positioned the event as a key
driver of the local music industry.
2020’s successful debut laid the groundwork for the event’s
return in March and April 2022 featuring household names,
emerging talent and grassroots local acts to help the live
music sector recover from the ongoing impact of
COVID-19 restrictions.

• S
 howcasing headline, mid-tier and local or emerging
Australian musicians.
The delivery of Great Southern Nights involved multiple
teams across Destination NSW. The event targeted music
lovers aged 18-54 years, encouraging them get out to
a gig. The Great Southern Nights brand earned strong
credibility and trust within both the general public and
music community and the campaign was highly successful,
reaching 23.4 million music lovers across paid digital media
channels and a cumulative audience of 182 million via
PR activity.
Great Southern Nights gave regional communities
opportunities to see top line artists such as Missy Higgins,
Matt Corby, Teskey Brothers and Kasey Chambers.
Music fans embraced Great Southern Nights, despite the
precarious nature of live events in a COVID-19 setting, with
more than 72,000 gig tickets sold.
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Mardi Gras 2021 COVID-safe event delivery
The Sydney Gay and Lesbian Mardi Gras (SGLMG) Parade is
recognised as one of Australia’s biggest tourism drawcards
that celebrates diversity and inclusion and delivers
significant economic impact to NSW.
As one of the largest platforms of self-expression and
celebration for the Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender,
Queer and Intersex community in the world, the Sydney Gay
and Lesbian Mardi Gras Parade promotes Sydney’s reputation
as a city that is accepting, open, diverse and colourful.
Due to physical distancing requirements, the 2021 Parade
could not be hosted along its traditional Oxford Street route
and pivoted to a ticketed event at the Sydney Cricket Ground
(SCG), hosted in a COVID-safe environment.
It was the first-ever Parade held at the SCG and targeted
visitors from interstate and across NSW to re-ignite the
visitor economy. The Parade aimed to be a global beacon
of hope and pride to those watching on television or online,
both in Australia and around the world with an interwoven
COVID-19 health and safety message. It supported Strategic
Pillars one, three and four of the VES, Road to Recovery,
Showcase our Strengths and Invest in World-Class Events.
The 2021 Parade was aligned with the guiding principles
of the VES of move fast, be responsive and agile through
its renewed format and demonstrated collaboration with
industry and government through the work of SGLMG,
Venues NSW and NSW Government agencies to develop
its COVID-safe plan.

As in previous years, the 2021 Parade welcomed the people
and groups that make up the diverse and dynamic Mardi
Gras, with the event’s theme of RISE cemented in the ideas
of renewal, rebirth and regrowth following a year that had
tested the community’s spirit and resolve. It was supported
by a comprehensive marketing program to promote Sydney
as a global city with a vibrant events calendar and nightlife to
elevate its status and supporting the NSW Government’s vision
to make NSW the premier visitor economy in the Asia Pacific.
The Parade featured 4,186 participants across 128 Parade
groups in front of an audience of 31,246 at the SCG and was
the largest cultural event held in Australia since the start of
the global pandemic.
The SBS Broadcast achieved a domestic reach of 954,000
(up from 572,000 in 2021) and was viewed in 68 countries
worldwide. Earned media increased by 4 per cent overall
with many of the 4,593 media mentions of Mardi Gras
highlighting how this hallmark event had adapted to
operate in a COVID-safe world.
Events like the Mardi Gras Parade help to position Sydney
and NSW as the major events capital of the Asia Pacific and
reinforce the NSW Government’s commitment to growing
events across the state as a crucial means to helping rebuild
the NSW visitor economy that has been heavily impacted
by COVID-19.

Credit: Ann-marie Calilhanna
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Sydney Solstice
Sydney Solstice celebrated and showcased the city’s rich
and vibrant food, beverage, art, creative industries and nighttime economy in the lead up to the longest night of the year
to stimulate the visitor economy during the winter period
and increase overnight visitation to Sydney.
This two-week festival took place from 8 to 20 June 2021,
bringing the streets back to life throughout the CBD,
Oxford Street, Newtown, Darling Harbour and surrounds.
More than 200 events with a strong line-up of live music,
legendary eats, iconic dancefloors, vibrant performances
and experiences and night-time adventures lured locals
and visitors out of winter hibernation.
Destination NSW managed the event on behalf of the NSW
Government and announced an Expression of Interest (EOI) for
industry to be involved. One hundred and forty-six EOIs were
received and assessed against the Sydney Solstice criteria.
Delivery of the festival was supported across Destination
NSW. Public relations activity achieved an advertising value
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equivalent (AVE) of over $6.4 million, including an audience
reach of 87 million, 1,279 media clips, more than 25 minutes
of national broadcast airtime and six media partnerships.
The newly developed event website sydneysolstice.com tracked
well against conversion rate benchmarks in comparison to
vividsydney.com in 2019. The marketing campaign delivered
a total of 309,163 unique visits and 86,843 leads to industry,
representing a 28 per cent visit to lead conversion rate
compared to 23 per cent for Vivid Sydney in 2019.
The creation of Sydney Solstice supported the Road to
Recovery, Strategic Pillar one of the VES. It also demonstrated
how we were able to move fast, be responsive and agile
to develop a new event in collaboration with industry and
government to fill the gap in the Sydney events calendar
left by the rescheduling of Vivid Sydney.
This new event engaged, profiled and amplified Sydney’s
hospitality, entertainment and cultural sectors as well as
other local businesses in addition to the local live music
sector; it signalled that NSW was open for business and
supported the 24 hour economy and revitalisation of the CBD.
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Live Music Support Package
In March 2021, the NSW Government announced a $51.5
million Tourism Support Package which included $24 million
to provide urgent financial support to live music venues
across the State experiencing financial hardship from the
COVID-19 pandemic.
A thriving live music scene is a key part of the NSW
Government’s commitment to growing a vibrant, safe and
diverse 24-Hour economy and to enhance the state’s position
as a global destination. The NSW Government’s Live Music
Support Package acknowledged the vital role that the NSW
music industry plays in driving the broader NSW economy.
It aimed to keep our live music venues open to create and
sustain job opportunities for musicians, promoters,
technicians and support crew.
Funding between $7,500 and $750,000 was provided to 163
live music venues that had been significantly impacted by the
COVID-19 pandemic to support the recovery of the NSW live
music industry and the broader economy. Venues supported
were diverse in size and nature of live music programming,
providing entertainment in all corners of the State.
The COVID-19 pandemic generated a critical gap in support
for the music sector that required tailored government
assistance. The Live Music Support Package supported the
Road to Recovery and VES guiding principles Move Fast,
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• $
 24 million to 163 venues
• 8
 6 Sydney venues
• 77 venues in regional NSW

Be Responsive and Agile by providing urgent financial
support for live music venues facing hardship and
Collaborate with Industry and Government through the
assessment panel that comprised cross-government
representatives including, Destination NSW, Create NSW,
Music NSW and the 24-Hour Economy Commissioner.
The Live Music Support Program was well received by the
State’s live music industry, demonstrating that a targeted
response was in tune with their needs. The funding assisted
venues in meeting their operational costs including
employing musicians and support crew to keep doors
open and to plan for live music gigs.
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World Surf League Championship
Tour Events
The World Surf League (WSL) Championship Tour is the
premier international surfing competition that crowns the male
and female World Champion surfers annually.
The turbulence and uncertainty caused by COVID-19 in 20202021 created significant difficulties for international event
organisers, such as World Surf League. Existing Championship
Tour rounds in Queensland and Victoria were cancelled due
to COVID-19, presenting the opportunity for us to work with
the Department of Regional NSW to secure two rounds of the
2021 Tour. The events took place in April at Merewether Beach,
Newcastle and Narrabeen, Sydney, signalling the first time that
championship-level surfing events had been held in NSW for
many years.
Securing two World Surf League Championship Tour events for
NSW not only added compelling content with an international
profile to the NSW Events Calendar, but also celebrated NSW’s
surfing heritage and leadership.
WSL broadcast the Championship Tour events via a live
webcast through its expansive social and digital channels
and delivers global reach through high profile international
broadcast partnerships. The tour events were also leveraged
through our digital, social and broadcast platforms via a range
of social and digital content we developed in a short space of
time, to maximise opportunities to leverage two significant
events and promote NSW to an international audience.
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The World Surf League Championships Tour events target a
domestic and international audience of surfing enthusiasts and
media. Key surfing markets include the USA, Brazil, Japan,
South Africa, France and Portugal, with growing interest from
China, which feature among the core, emerging and watch list
international markets identified in the VES.
The World Surf League Championship Tour events delivered
two world-class sporting events in NSW. Their combined event
coverage on World Surf League channels delivered more than
1.1 million viewers on Australia/New Zealand linear broadcast
channels (Fox Sports, Seven Plus, Kayo), 5.2 million broadcast
viewers via the WSL website and Facebook channel, and 149
million impressions from event social media posts.
More than 20,000 fans attended the live events over the nine
days of surfing. Event results indicate that 31 per cent of
attendees at the Newcastle event, and six per cent of attendees
at the Narrabeen event, were from outside the event region.
We worked with Championship Tour surfers Tatjana WestonWebb and Kanoa Igarashi to film two destination pieces on the
Northern Beaches and Sydney Harbour visitor attractions for
distribution via our owned Sydney YouTube channel. To date the
Tatjana Weston-Webb Northern Beaches video has received
almost 728,000 views, while the Kanoa Igarashi video has
received more than 103,000 views.
Aligning with Strategic Pillar four of the VES - Invest in WorldClass Events, this event signalled that NSW was ‘open for
business’ during the height of the COVID-19 global pandemic.
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People and Culture
The People and Culture team was established as part of
Destination NSW’s organisational restructure, with its
Director reporting directly to the CEO, in recognition of
the importance of this area. Creating a dedicated team
will drive outcomes across the organisation to manage
HR functions and support employee engagement,
learning and development.

Supporting our people during the pandemic
The People and Culture team took a multifaceted approach
to support our people in a remote working environment and
drive wellbeing during the pandemic. The newly formed
People Committee increased employee participation and
connection through a range of morale boosting activities
including, online trivia sessions, gentle stretch classes,
competitive bake-offs and knitting classes. The aim of the
People Committee is to drive HR people initiatives through
a fun and dynamic workplace, regardless of whether we
work remotely, or in the office.
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We have also organised monthly Focus Group sessions with
the CEO with 15-20 staff members participating in a catch
up with the CEO to talk about anything and everything. It is
a forum where staff are encouraged to speak directly to the
CEO about what they like, what is working, and what they think
can be improved. The CEO can also share his experiences with
the group to drive the organisational direction and strategy.
The sessions held to date have been well received and garnered
positive feedback from the participants.
A Pulse Survey completed in May 2021 assessed employee
engagement drivers, job satisfaction, learning and
development opportunities and wellbeing. The results
provided valuable insight into our organisation showing
that people are embracing flexibility and seeking additional
opportunities in the development space.
Our team is supported with resources available via Investment
NSW. Our staff have access to the Employee Assistance
Program phone and online resources and are encouraged
to enrol in the many wellbeing learning initiatives on offer.
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Corporate Services
The Corporate Services team brings together specialist
support services including finance, legal, procurement,
risk, governance, strategy, research and insights,
information technology support, database administration,
recordkeeping, general administration, facilities
management and property maintenance.

Key Achievements
The Corporate Services team continued to provide
operational and business support across the organisation
and delivered numerous projects related to each of its
functional areas.

Customer Relationship Management Salesforce CRM
Destination NSW is continuing to use Salesforce to streamline
business processes for Vivid Sydney, automation of Contract
Management for Funding programs and moving manual
application processes to online forms.
Priorities for next financial year include building important
integrations with other systems, improving grant management
processes, as well as consolidating and enhancing email
marketing activities.

Shared Services
During the year Destination NSW transitioned its Shared
Services provider from Department of Planning, Industry
and Environment to the Department of Customer Services
(DCS) as part of an alignment with NSW Treasury corporate
systems. Destination NSW worked with the DCS GovConnect
NSW team to onboard to SAPConnect the tool for managing
people, finance, human resources including payroll,
procurement, expense claims, travel booking, contractor
and project accounting.

Migration into Investment NSW
Following the Machinery of Government changes effective
29 March 2021, Destination NSW moved from NSW Treasury
Cluster to the Department of Premier and Cabinet Cluster
(DPC) as part of the newly formed Investment NSW. The
Corporate services team worked with the ICT/People/
Finance Working Group to transition corporate systems
from NSW Treasury to the DPC/Investment NSW instance
of GovConnect.

Supporting the organisation during
COVID-19
Corporate Services continued to implement the COVID-19
Business Continuity Plan, to ensure staff could effectively
transition to agile working while maintaining productivity in
a remote environment. The team has continued to adapt and
support the business in different ways while staff worked
from home during COVID-19.
With only essential staff working from the office at the
beginning of the financial year, core services continued
from home in an electronic, paperless environment, with
no delay in the provision of services. Cleaning protocols
were changed to ensure a clean and safe working
environment for staff attending the office and WHS
social distancing measures implemented.
Corporate Services provided a special Working from Home
Plan to help staff adjust. With this came communications
about counselling and ergonomics, regular check in
sessions, online individual and team meetings, as well as
regular reminders on Employee Assistance Programme
availability with intranet updates on wellbeing resources.
The frequency of Town Hall meetings, led by the CEO,
increased to bring staff together virtually.
The Legal Team worked closely with event owners and
organisers on the postponement or cancellation of events
due to COVID-19, which in many cases required variations
to contracts.
The Research and Insights team also worked closely with
event owners and organisers to refine and update research
evaluation requirements to reflect the constantly changing
environment. Research also supported industry in providing
timely information and insights on items such as COVID-19
cases, consumer and business confidence, consumer
sentiment and industry metrics to inform internal and
external stakeholders on current market conditions.
As COVID-19 restrictions eased, return to work protocols
were established to enable the smooth transition from full
time working from home to a hybrid working model of home
and office. These protocols ensured compliance with health
orders at all times.
At the end of the financial year, the COVID-19 Business
Continuity Plan was re-activated in response to the Stay-atHome order for Greater Sydney, cancelling all non-essential
services, and closing the physical office to all staff.

Banking Reform program
The Corporate Services team worked with the new banking
provider and GovConnect project team to transition its
banking systems as part of the NSW Treasury Banking
Reform program.
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Destination NSW Senior Executive
Steve Cox, MBA, Post Grad Dip Management
Chief Executive Officer

Shane McClelland, DipInvRel (until 30 April 2021)
General Manager, Communications

Sandra Bender BA, LLB (Hons) (commenced 1 June 2021)
Director, Event Acquisition and Development, Culture,
Entertainment and Creative Industries

Theresa Mejia, Master of Industrial Engineering,
BSc Statistics (until 26 March 2021)
Manager, Visitor Insights and Performance

Francine Biddulph, MBA, Dip HR (commenced
13 January 2021)
Director, People and Culture

Kylie-Jane Menzies, AdvDip Travel and Tourism Marketing
Director Trade and Industry Development

Neville D’Costa, B. Com, LL.B. (Hons)
Director, Procurement and Legal
Peter Doran, BA MA QPR AMSRS TASA FAIM MAICD MISPI
Director, Program Performance and Assessment
Sue Doyle, BA Tourism Management
Director, Partnership Programs

Kristy Meudell, BA (Communications)
Director, Public Relations and Visiting Media
Caroline Miller, CPA
Director, Finance and Administration
Sonia McIvor, BA, Master of Tourism
Director, Marketing

Libby Ellis, B. Education
Event Development Manager, Arts and Entertainment

Ross Pearson, BA (Accounting), FCPA and MAICD
(until 5 March 2021)
Chief Operating Officer

Bronwen Gwynn-Jones, BA (Hons); Master of Arts
(Communications)
Director, Editorial and Content

Lyndal Punch, B.Commerce (Accounting), B.Science
(Investment Math) (1 March 2021 until 15 June 2021)
Chief Financial Officer

Jan Hutton, IMM (until 12 October 2020)
General Manager, Marketing

Jacqueline Smith, B Media Comm; Master of
Environmental Law
Director, Ministerial and Corporate Communications

Kathryn Illy, MBA, Grad Dip Management, Bachelor of
Business Administration, Economics and Social Sciences
(commenced 10 May 2021)
General Manager, Consumer Marketing
Stephen Mahoney, Bachelor of Arts (Hons) Japanese
Language and Culture
General Manager, Engagement and Development

Nathan Ting, BA Business Studies (Marketing Major)
Director, Digital Marketing Services
Julie Turpie, BA Hons Leisure and Recreation Management
General Manager, Events (commenced 1 February 2021)
Acting General Manager, Event Development (until
31 January 2021)

Ian Maltman, CA FFIN GAICD Grad Dip (Applied Finance),
Grad Conv. (Accounting) BApSc (commenced 9 June 2021)
Chief Financial Officer
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Human Resources
Destination NSW Staff Profile (as at 30 June 2021)
The following tables cover the staff of Destination NSW (rounding applied).

PERCENTAGE OF STAFF BY GRADING: FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT (FTE)
Total staff on 30 June 2021

2020-2021

Men

Women

% Total

% Men

% Women

Grade 3–4 $72,635-$79,535

4

1

3

2%

0.5%

1.4%

Grade 5–6 $85,744 -$94,610

31

6

25

15%

2.9%

12.0%

Grade 7–8 $97,443-$107,864

37

5

32

18%

2.4%

15.3%

Grade 9–10 $111,077-$122,404

29

2

27

14%

1.0%

12.9%

Grade 11–12 $128,473-$148,578

16

5

11

8%

2.4%

5.3%

Senior Executives Band 1–3

18

6

12

9%

2.9%

5.7%

Overseas Staff

21

3

18

10%

1.4%

8.6%

Contingent Workforce

53

18

36

26%

8.1%

17.2%

Total

209

45

164

100%

21.5%

78.5%

*Includes 8 staff on Maternity Leave
STAFF PROFILE BY EMPLOYMENT BASIS
Total staff on 30 June 2021

2020-2021

2019-2020

2018-2019

2017-2018

Permanent Full-time

111

104

98

119

Permanent Part-time

12

18

14

14

Temporary Full-time

14

17

14

10

Temporary Part-time

1

2

2

0

Senior Executives

18

18

18

18

Contingent

53

40

52

33

Total staff on 30 June

209

199

198

194

*Includes 8 staff on Maternity Leave
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Senior Executive Profile
In 2020-2021, 24.68 per cent of Destination NSW’s employee-related expenditure was allocated to Senior Executives,
compared to 25.46 per cent in 2018-2019.

SENIOR EXECUTIVE PROFILE
2020-2021

Band

2019-2020

Female

Male

Female

Male

Band 3

0

1

0

1

Band 2

2

2

1

3

Band 1

10

3

10

3

12

6

11

7

Totals
18

18

SENIOR EXECUTIVE PROFILE – REMUNERATION
Band

Range

$ Average Remuneration
2020-2021

$ Average Remuneration
2019-2020

Band 3

$345,551 - $487,050

475,000

475,000

Band 2

$274,701 – $345,550

303,344

311,237

Band 1

$192,600 – $274,700

218,564

219,545

Exceptional movements in remuneration
A salary increase of 0.3 per cent, effective from the first full pay period on or after 1 July 2020, was paid to clerical officers in
accordance with the Crown Employees (Public Sector – Salaries) Award.
An application was made to, and approved by, the NSW Government Wages Policy Taskforce for an increase of 0.3 per cent to all
non-executive staff not covered under the Crown Award, also effective from the first full pay period on or after 1 July 2020.
The Statutory and Other Offices Remuneration Tribunal determined that, given the economic and social circumstances, no increase
would apply to the remuneration packages for Senior Executive officers in 2020 – 2021.
Various international based staff received annual cost of living increases in accordance with their individual employment agreements.
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Corporate Governance
Destination NSW Board of Management

Board Committees

Method of appointment and term of Board Members

Audit and Risk Committee

Under the terms of the Destination NSW Act 2011, members of
the Board of Management of Destination NSW are appointed
by the responsible Minister. During the year the responsible
Minister was the Minister for Jobs, Investment, Tourism and
Western Sydney, the Hon. Stuart Laurence Ayres, MP.

The Committee has an important role in risk management and
audit through endorsement of internal and external audit plans,
review of audit reports and the review of risk assessment and
management.

The Board consists of a Chairman (also appointed by the
Minister), individuals with relevant skills and experience,
the Secretary of the cluster and the Chief Executive Officer.
Each member holds office for the term specified in his or her
instrument of appointment. If they are otherwise qualified,
members are eligible for reappointment for additional term(s).
Board Members
Christine McLoughlin AM (Chairman, appointed 8 March 2021)

This Committee also ensures the sound financial position
of Destination NSW through regular reviews of its budget
performance. The Destination NSW Audit and Risk Committee
met on five occasions during 2020-2021.
The attendance record of the members was: Sally Loane
(Committee Chair) (5/5), The Hon. George Souris AM (4/4)
(appointed 2 December 2020), Kim Curtain (2/2) (appointed
20 November to 28 March 2021), Steve Cox (5/5) and Russell
Balding AO (1/1) (Chair until 22 October 2020).

Russell Balding AO (Deputy Chairman)

Business Events Sydney

Rebekah Horne (appointed 17 July 2020)

Destination NSW has two Board Members on the Business
Events Sydney Board:

Margaret Jack AM
Sally Loane

The Hon. George Souris AM and Steve Cox.

Rod McGeoch AO

Legal Change

The Hon. George Souris AM

The Minister for Jobs, Investment, Tourism and Western
Sydney administers the following Acts and the Regulations
made under those Acts:

Amy Brown (appointed 29 March 2021)
Steve Cox
John Warn (Chairman until 7 March 2021)
David Baffsky AO (until 14 April 2021)
Michael Pratt AM (until 19 November 2020)
Kim Curtain (20 November 2020 to 28 March 2021)
Board Meetings
The Destination NSW Board met on seven occasions during
2020-2021. The attendance record of the members was,
Christine McLoughlin AM (2/2), Russell Balding AO (7/7),
Margaret Jack AM (7/7),

Destination NSW Act 2011 No 21
Major Events Act 2009 No 73
Motor Sports (World Rally Championship) Act 2009 No 55
Motor Racing (Sydney and Newcastle) Act 2008 No 106.
As part of the Machinery of Government changes in 2021,
Destination NSW is now part of Investment NSW within the
Department of Premier and Cabinet moving from the
Treasury Cluster.

Rod McGeoch AO (7/7), Sally Loane (5/7), The Hon. George
Souris AM (7/7), Rebekah Horne (6/7), Amy Brown (2/2), Steve
Cox (7/7), John Warn (5/5), David Baffsky AO (4/5), Michael Pratt
AM (or alternate 3/3), Kim Curtain (2/2).
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CONTINUED
Disclosure of subsidiaries

Consultants CONTINUED
Consultants equal to or more than $50,000:
Consultant

Funding $

Title/Nature

Destination NSW does not have any interest in any public
sector subsidiaries. Destination NSW does hold a shareholding
in Australian Tourism Warehouse Data Limited. Destination
NSW is also a member of six Destination Networks, which
are established as companies limited by guarantee.
Government Information (Public Access) Act 2009

PricewaterhouseCoopers

$100,000

Advice on recovery
measures for the Major
Events Industry in NSW

Bevington Consulting Group

$299,975

Strategy to Re-ignite
Tourism Industry,
Strategy & Destination
NSW Organisational
Reform

Growth Mantra Pty Limited

$343,892

NSW Major Events
Strategy 2030

Consultants less than $50,000:
Consultant

Funding $

Title/Nature

Precinct Management
Group Pty Ltd

$2,800

Tenancy Security
Upgrade

Disclosure of Controlled Entities
With effect from 29 March 2021, Destination NSW became
part of the Department of Premier and Cabinet cluster and
Investment NSW. Accordingly, the Destination NSW Staff
Agency was abolished following the creation of Investment
NSW Agency, which provides personnel services to
Destination NSW.

In 2020-2021, Destination NSW received two valid access
applications under the Government Information (Public Access)
Act 2009.
Pursuant to the Government Information (Public Access) Act
2009, Destination NSW reviews its release of Government
information each year.
As a result of this review, Destination NSW will continue to
provide open access to a range of information, such as annual
reports, e-newsletters, media resources, social media
accounts, policy documents, statistics and research and
a register of government contracts.
Destination NSW aims to strike a balance to provide
information to the public while acknowledging the resources of
Destination NSW and the commercial nature of its operations.
The table below details the total number of access applications
received by the agency during the reporting year (1 July 2020 to
30 June 2021).
Valid Applications

Invalid Applications

2

0

Destination NSW did not receive any informal applications
during the reporting period.

Prior to 29 March 2021, the Destination NSW Staff Agency
was classified as an Executive Agency pursuant to Part 2 of
Schedule 1 of the Government Sector Employment Act 2013 and
fell within the NSW Treasury cluster of the public service.
The head of the agency was the Chief Executive Officer of
Destination NSW, who was responsible for general and
employer functions.
The Staff Agency’s objective was to provide personnel
services to Destination NSW. The Staff Agency had
responsibility for the employees and employee-related
liabilities of Destination NSW.
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CONTINUED

Disclosure of Controlled Entities CONTINUED
A detailed breakdown of the types and nature of the requests is provided in the following tables.
TABLE A: NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS BY TYPE OF APPLICANT AND OUTCOME*
Access
granted
in full

Access
granted
in part

Access
refused
in full

Information
not held

Information
already
available

Refuse to
deal with
application

Refuse to
confirm/
deny whether
information
is held

Application
withdrawn

Media

0

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

Members of Parliament

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Private sector business

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Not for profit organisations or
community groups

0

0

0

1

0

0

0

0

Members of the public (application
by legal representative)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Members of the public (other)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

* More than one decision can be made in respect of a particular access application. If so, a recording must be made in relation to each such decision. This also applies to Table B.

TABLE B: NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS BY TYPE OF APPLICATION AND OUTCOME

Information
not held

Information
already
available

Refuse to
deal with
application

Refuse to
confirm/
deny whether
information
is held

Application
withdrawn

0

0

0

0

0

0

1

0

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Access
granted
in full

Access
granted
in part

Access
refused
in full

Personal information applications*

0

0

Access applications (other than
personal information applications)

0

Access applications that are partly
personal information applications
and partly other

0

* A “personal information application” is an access application for personal information (as defined in clause 4 of Schedule 4 to the Act) about the applicant (the applicant being an
individual).

TABLE C: INVALID APPLICATIONS
Reason for invalidity

No of applications

Application does not comply with formal requirements (section 41 of the Act)

0

Application is for excluded information of the agency (section 43 of the Act)

0

Application contravenes restraint order (section 110 of the Act)

0

Total number of invalid applications received

0

Invalid applications that subsequently became valid applications

0
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CONTINUED

Disclosure of Controlled Entities CONTINUED
TABLE D: CONCLUSIVE PRESUMPTION OF OVERRIDING PUBLIC INTEREST AGAINST DISCLOSURE: MATTERS LISTED IN SCHEDULE 1 TO ACT
Number of times consideration used*
Overriding secrecy laws

0

Cabinet information

1

Executive Council information

0

Contempt

1

Legal professional privilege

0

Excluded information

0

Documents affecting law enforcement and public safety

0

Transport safety

0

Adoption

0

Care and protection of children

0

Ministerial code of conduct

0

Aboriginal and environmental heritage

0

Information about complaints to Judicial Commission

0

Information about authorised transactions under Electricity Network Assets (Authorised
Transactions) Act 2015

0

Information about authorised transaction under Land and Property Information NSW
(Authorised Transaction) Act 2016

0

* More than one public interest consideration may apply in relation to a particular access application and, if so, each such consideration is to be recorded (but only once per application). This also
applies in relation to Table E.

TABLE E: OTHER PUBLIC INTEREST CONSIDERATIONS AGAINST DISCLOSURE: MATTERS LISTED IN TABLE TO SECTION 14 OF ACT
Number of occasions when application not successful
Responsible and effective government

0

Law enforcement and security

0

Individual rights, judicial processes and natural justice

0

Business interests of agencies and other persons

1

Environment, culture, economy and general matters

0

Secrecy provisions

0

Exempt documents under interstate Freedom of Information legislation

0
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Disclosure of Controlled Entities CONTINUED
TABLE F: TIMELINES
Number of applications
Decided within the statutory timeframe (20 days plus any extensions)

2

Decided after 35 days (by agreement with applicant)

0

Not decided within time (deemed refusal)

0

Total

2

TABLE G: NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS REVIEWED UNDER PART 5 OF THE ACT (BY TYPE OF REVIEW AND OUTCOME)
Decision varied

Decision upheld

Total

Internal review

0

0

0

Review by Information Commissioner*

0

0

0

Internal review following recommendation under section 93 of Act

0

0

0

Review by NCAT

0

0

0

Total

0

0

0

* The Information Commissioner does not have the authority to vary decisions but can make recommendations to the original decision-maker. The data in this case indicates that
a recommendation to vary or uphold the original decision has been made by the Information Commissioner.

TABLE H: APPLICATIONS FOR REVIEW UNDER PART 5 OF THE ACT (BY TYPE OF APPLICANT)
Number of applications for review
Applications by access applicants

0

Applications by persons to whom information the subject of access application relates
(see section 54 of the Act)

0

TABLE I: APPLICATIONS TRANSFERRED TO OTHER AGENCIES UNDER DIVISION 2 OF PART 4 OF THE ACT (BY TYPE OF TRANSFER)
Number of applications transferred
Agency-initiated transfers
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Privacy and Personal Information
Protection Act 1998
Destination NSW respects the privacy of members of the public
who use its services and of its employees. As a NSW Public
Service Executive Agency, Destination NSW must comply with
NSW State and Commonwealth Privacy legislation.
During the reporting year, no complaints were received
regarding the privacy management of Destination NSW.
Destination NSW has a privacy policy which is reviewed
regularly. The privacy policy and terms of use documents
for all Destination NSW websites were amended as a result
of the General Data Privacy Regulation released by the
European Commission.
Destination NSW advises members of the public of its privacy
obligations in various media and correspondence i.e. website
and terms and conditions. Destination NSW also outlines
its privacy obligations in contracts with third parties and
requests those third parties also to be aware and comply
with privacy legislation.
Requests for access to personal information held by
Destination NSW may be made to the Privacy Officer at Level 2,
88 Cumberland Street, The Rocks, NSW, 2000 or by telephone
on (02) 9931 1111.
In compliance with the provisions of the Privacy and Personal
Information Protection Act 1998, Destination NSW has a Privacy
Management Plan and has a designated Privacy Officer.
Mechanisms have been established to make Destination NSW
staff aware of the Privacy and Personal Information Protection Act
1998 and other privacy obligations.

The Destination NSW PID Reporting Policy and Procedure
was developed in accordance with the requirements of the
Public Interest Disclosures Act 1994 and approved effective
from June 2012.
To ensure that staff are aware of the contents of the Policy
and the protections available, as required under s6E (1)(b)
of the Public Interest Disclosures Act 1994.
Destination NSW staff have access to the Public Interest
Disclosures policy on the staff intranet.

Internal Audits
Destination NSW conducted an internal audit program during
the reporting year, comprising six audits undertaken by Deloitte:
• E
 vent Funding – Lifestyle Event
• R
 isk Management Framework
• P
 rocurement
Destination NSW is implementing the agreed recommendations
from these audits.
Destination NSW has developed a risk management program
to identify and manage risks consistent with NSW Government
guidelines and policy. Risk management aims to safeguard the
public, staff, buildings and related assets.
Risk controls include:
• A
 ssessing corporate risk and conducting internal audits
• M
 anaging ongoing risk, including maintaining registers and
conducting fire and safety audits

In all staff contracts, staff are required to exercise
confidentiality in their dealings with third parties and in the
execution of their duties.

• D
 eveloping risk strategies

Public Interest Disclosures

• R
 eviewing financial management processes.

The Public Interest Disclosures Act 1994 requires Agencies
to report every six months to the Ombudsman on Public
Interest Disclosures (PIDs) and to include this information
in Annual Reports.

Insurance

This report covers those PIDs received during the period
from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021.

• M
 aintaining appropriate insurance cover with the Treasury
Managed Fund that covers all classes of risk

Destination NSW is insured through the Treasury Managed
Fund. The coverage provided by the scheme is all inclusive and
policies are held for Workers Compensation, Motor Vehicles,
Property, Miscellaneous and Public Liability.

Number of public officials who have made a disclosure
to the Agency – (0)
Number of the public interest disclosures received by
the Agency relating to:
• C
 orrupt conduct – (0)
• M
 aladministration – (0)
• S
 erious and substantial waste – (0)
• G
 overnment information contravention – (0)
Total number of public interest disclosures received – (0)
The number of public interest disclosures finalised to
30 June 2021 – (0)
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Compliance Attestation Statement
2020-2021 for Destination NSW
I, Christine McLoughlin, am of the opinion that Destination
NSW has managed cyber security risks in a manner
consistent with the Mandatory Requirements set out
in the NSW Government Cyber Security Policy:
• G
 overnance is in place to manage cyber security maturity
and initiatives.
• R
 isks to information and systems have been assessed
and are managed.
• T
 here is a cyber incident response plan which has been
tested during the reporting period.
• T
 here is an information security management system.
• T
 here is an approved and funded cyber security uplift
program to increase maturity and
• a
 ddress known gaps.
This is via the information technology and cyber security
services provided to Destination NSW by the Departments
of Treasury (TRSY), Customer Service (DCS) and Planning
Industry and Environment (DPIE). I base this opinion on
reliance of the respective attestations provided by TRSY,
DCS and DPIE which attest to the following:
• G
 overnance is in place at TRSY, DCS and DPIE to manage
the cyber security maturity and initiatives on behalf of
Destination NSW.
• R
 isks to the information and systems of TRSY, DCS,
DPIE and Destination NSW have been assessed
and are managed.
• T
 here exists a current cyber incident response plan for
TRSY, DCS and DPIE, which covers Destination NSW, and
that plan has been tested during the reporting period.
• T
 RSY, DCS and DPIE have an Information Security
Management System (ISMS), which extends to
Destination NSW.
• T
 RSY, DCS and DPIE have a Cyber Uplift Strategy in place
to ensure continuous improvement and management of
cyber security governance and resilience.
• T
 his Attestation covers systems managed by the TRSY,
DCS and DPIE Information Technology Teams.

Christine McLoughlin
Chairman
Destination NSW
Dated:25 October 2021
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Internal Audit and Risk Management Attestation Statement
for the 2020-21 Financial Year for Destination NSW
The Board of Destination NSW is of the opinion that Destination NSW has internal audit and risk management processes in
operation that are, excluding the exceptions described below, compliant with the core requirements set out in the Internal Audit and
Risk Management Policy for the NSW Public Sector, specifically:

CORE REQUIREMENTS

For each requirement, please
specify whether compliant,
non-compliant, or in transition

Risk Management Framework
1.1

The Accountable Authority shall accept ultimate responsibility and accountability for risk
management in the agency.

Compliant

1.2

The Accountable Authority shall establish and maintain a risk management framework that is
appropriate for the agency. The Accountable Authority shall ensure the framework is consistent with
AS ISO 31000:2018.

Compliant

Internal Audit Function
2.1

The Accountable Authority shall establish and maintain an internal audit function that is appropriate
for the agency and fit for purpose.

Compliant

2.2

The Accountable Authority shall ensure the internal audit function operates consistent with the
International Standards for Professional Practice for Internal Auditing.

Compliant

2.3

The Accountable Authority shall ensure the agency has an Internal Audit Charter that is consistent
with the content of the ‘model charter’.

Compliant

Audit and Risk Committee

3.1

The Accountable Authority shall establish and maintain efficient and effective arrangements for
independent Audit and Risk Committee oversight to provide advice and guidance to the Accountable
Authority on the agency’s governance processes, risk management and control frameworks, and its
external accountability obligations.

Compliant

3.2

The Accountable Authority shall ensure the Audit and Risk Committee has a Charter that is consistent
with the content of the ‘model charter’.

Compliant

Membership
The chair and members of the Audit and Risk Committee are:
• [ Independent] Chair, Sally Loane, (Appointment to 12 April 2022)
• [ Independent] Member 1, The Hon. George Souris AM (Appointment to 12 April 2022)
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Internal Audit and Risk Management Attestation Statement
for the 2020-21 Financial Year for Destination NSW CONTINUED
Departures from Core Requirements
The Board of Destination NSW advises that the internal audit and risk management processes for Destination NSW depart from
the following core requirements set out in the Internal Audit and Risk Management Policy for the NSW Public Sector:
1.	The circumstances giving rise to these departures have been determined by the Portfolio Minister, and Destination NSW
has implemented the following practicable alternative measures to meet the core requirements:

DEPARTURE

Reason for departure and description of practicable alternative
measures implemented/being implemented

Non-Compliance

• Independent Members are individuals who do not hold positions
• C
 ore Requirement 3.1.4 – Independent members from
Prequalification Scheme

within the agency and are not employees of the NSW Government.
They collectively possess all skill and knowledge requirements set
out in the policy and also satisfy other TPP20-08 criteria prohibiting
conflicts of interest.
• L
 oss of industry knowledge, adequate skills of current members
and administrative burden.

The determination by the Portfolio Minister for Destination NSW in respect of this departure, is dated 20 December 2019 covering Financial year
FY20 and FY21.

These processes, including the practicable alternative measures being implemented, demonstrate that the Destination NSW has
established and maintained frameworks, including systems, processes and procedures for appropriately managing audit and risk
within the agency.
Signed in accordance with the resolution of the Board of Destination NSW.

Christine McLoughlin
Chairman
Destination NSW
Dated:25 October 2021
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Policies and Programs
Work Health and Safety
Destination NSW is committed to ensuring the active
participation of all staff in Workplace Health and Safety
(WHS) matters and continues to ensure everyone has a
safe and healthy workplace. The active WHS Committee
continues to promote and educate staff in the identification and
management of WHS. There were no compensation cases or
lost time injuries recorded in 2020-2021.
Destination NSW has a strong commitment to providing
staff with practical WHS advice, especially during work
from home periods due to the COVID-19 pandemic with the
provision of ergonomic advice, regular check-in sessions and
team meetings, and mental health support via the Employee
Assistance Program. The People and Culture team has been
available to assist staff and managers to minimise the negative
impact of the current COVID-19 pandemic, and to ensure the
demands of remote working are managed and that staff safety
remains a priority.

Disability Inclusion
Destination NSW is committed to providing an accessible
and inclusive workplace and supports the inclusion in the
community of individuals with a disability. Destination NSW
will continue to plan and implement inclusive events for
people living with a disability through accessible events and
experiences, including Vivid Sydney.

Workforce Diversity
Destination NSW recognises that diverse workforces are more
innovative, productive and increase high-quality outputs. We
will continue to support staff to acknowledge and celebrate
diversity, with involvement in NAIDOC week, LGBTIQA+
celebrations, charity fundraisers, and promote behaviour
in line with the Destination NSW values of Excellence,
Collaboration, Respect, Agility, Passion and Ownership.
We look forward to partnering with the Investment NSW HR
team to achieve these outcomes.
The table below has been populated with Workforce Diversity
information for Destination NSW.
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TRENDS IN THE REPRESENTATION OF WORKFORCE
DIVERSITY GROUPS
Workforce
Diversity Group

Benchmark

2021

2020

2019

Women

50%

82.0%

82.7%

82.6%

Aboriginal and/or
Torres Strait
Islander People

3.3%

0.8%

0.0%

0.0%

People whose First
Language Spoken
as a Child was
not English

23.2%

3.2%

1.4%

0.0%

People with Disability

5.6%

0.0%

1.4%

1.5%

People with a
Disability Requiring
Work-Related
Adjustment

N/A

0.0%

0.7%

0.8%

Destination NSW exceeded the Benchmark 50% target in the
Trends in Workforce Diversity Group Women with a strong
result in 2020 - 2021 of 82.0%.

Multicultural Initiatives
Destination NSW encourages staff to celebrate diversity
and continues to advocate for the values of a multicultural
society by showing respect, and by being inclusive of diverse
backgrounds, experiences and perspectives. Destination NSW
continues to follow the NSW Government guidelines regarding
Culturally and Linguistically Diverse communities and provides
customised translations of its sydney.com website in key
community and visitor languages such as Simplified Chinese,
Mandarin, Japanese, Korean and German.
Destination NSW has actively supported multiculturalism
through the Regional Event Fund, some of which moved online
due to COVID-19. Destination NSW will continue to explore
opportunities to develop programs, initiatives and events that
help people from culturally diverse communities achieve high
degrees of social and economic participation.
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Operations
No overseas travel was undertaken by Destination NSW personnel during the reporting period.

Management Activities
Research and Development
Along with the Commonwealth Government and other States
and Territories, Destination NSW co-funds two national
surveys that provide detailed information on the size of the
visitor economy and trends in visitor behaviour, including
length of stay, accommodation used, purpose of visit, day trips,
transport used, activities undertaken, expenditure, travel party,
demographics, destinations visited, and source markets.
The International Visitor Survey is conducted in airport exit
lounges around Australia, sampling 40,000 departing visitors
each year. The National Visitor Survey interviews 120,000
Australian residents aged 15 years and over. From January
2019, the National Visitor Survey was conducted through 100
per cent mobile interviewing. With the closure of Australia’s
international borders, the International Visitor Survey was
suspended from April 2020.
Destination NSW uses the results of these surveys internally
to develop strategy, inform campaign activities as well as
externally to share insights with industry.
Consumer Enquiries Response
Destination NSW stakeholders and the community can
make enquiries or offer feedback via Feedback Assist, or
by providing comments in writing or by email. The online
Feedback Assist functionality provides a consistent level of
service in response to enquiries and/or feedback received from
our stakeholders and the community. We are committed to
providing professional, courteous and prompt assistance to its
stakeholders and community and the public in general.
All requests for information or assistance made to Destination
NSW are met directly and promptly and, where necessary,
are referred to the most appropriate officer. Destination
NSW received no significant consumer complaints during the
reporting period. Consequently, no changes to the Agency’s
programs and services were warranted on the basis of negative
consumer response.
Economic and other factors affecting achievement of
operational objectives
A wide range of economic, industry and consumer factors
affect NSW visitor economy performance. The COVID-19
pandemic led to the most severe contraction in global and
domestic economic activity in decades.
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Global economy
According to the World Economic Outlook by the International
Monetary Fund (IMF), the global economy is projected to
grow 6.0 per cent in 2021 and 4.9 per cent in 2022. Prospects
for emerging market and developing economies have been
marked down for 2021, especially for Emerging Asia, while the
forecast for advanced economies has been revised up. The
0.5 percentage-point increase on the last projections in April
2021 for 2022 is largely driven by the upgraded forecast for
advanced economies, especially the United States, reflecting
the anticipated legislation of additional fiscal support in the
second half of 2021 and improved health metrics.
Australian economy
Over the first half of 2021, Australian economic recovery
was faster than expected. According to the Reserve Bank
of Australia, output had surpassed pre-pandemic levels
and as at June, the unemployment rate had declined below
pre-pandemic levels.
The recent outbreaks of the COVID-19 Delta variant and
lockdowns across the country are however interrupting the
recovery. There is a lot of uncertainty and large outbreaks
are possible, but the need for extended lockdowns should
diminish as vaccination coverage increases. According to the
Reserve Bank of Australia, GDP will contract noticeably in the
September quarter, and it is expected that employment will
decline and unemployment will increase for a time.
Despite these changes, the experience is that the recent
lockdowns have been less damaging to the economy compared
to the lockdowns in the first half of 2020, with business
models adapting to restrictions on activity and the restrictions
generally becoming more targeted compared to last year.
The Australian economy is expected to bounce back, although
further major outbreaks and extended lockdowns would
delay this.
Under the baseline scenario, it is expected that the output
and employment will return to their previously anticipated
paths by early 2022. GDP growth is expected to be a little
over 4 per cent over 2022 and around 2.5 per cent over 2023.
The unemployment rate is expected to resume its downward
path, approaching 4 per cent by the end of 2023. This baseline
scenario is premised on a significant portion of the Australian
population being fully vaccinated by the end of 2021 and a
gradual re-opening of Australia’s international border
from mid-2022.
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Aviation
Air transport is key to economic development. This wider
economic benefit is underpinned by both the direct connections
between cities and falling air transport costs. However, the
COVID-19 pandemic has caused a significant impact on the
industry, with the International Air Transport Association
reporting that air passenger numbers will not return to 2019
levels until 2023-2024.
Travel restrictions due to the COVID-19 outbreaks have resulted
in severe disruptions to domestic travel since April 2020.
According to the Aviation Statistical Report by the Bureau of
Infrastructure and Transport Research Economics (BITRE),
there were 24.98 million passengers carried on Australian
domestic commercial aviation (including charter operations)
in the year ending June 2021, a decrease of 48.0 per cent
compared with the year ending June 2020. In the year ending
June 2021, the number of domestic aviation passengers
travelling through regional airports was 13.00 million,
30.4 per cent lower than for the year ending June 2020.
Infrastructure investment
Investing in tourism is a long-term proposition, requiring
significant time and capital from planning to approval to
completion. Tracking the progress of these investments
will establish how well supply is keeping up with expected
increases in demand.
Tourism Research Australia reported in their Tourism
Investment Monitor that Australia’s visitor economy investment
pipeline in 2019-2020 comprised 255 projects worth $43.6
billion, a decrease of $1.7 billion but an additional seven
projects on previous year. Aviation accounted for 42 per cent of
the investment ($18.2 billion), followed by arts, recreation and
business services (33 per cent or $14.3 billion) and Stand-alone
Accommodation (25 per cent or $11.1 billion).
New South Wales held one-third of all tourism investment, with
66 projects valued at $14.1 billion. This was a slight increase of
$0.1 billion compared with 2018-19. Investments were mostly
in the Aviation ($5.6 billion) and Arts, recreation and business
services ($5.2 billion) sectors. Capital city investment was
$13.6 billion while Regional investment was $555 million.
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Regional Conferencing
Conference

Organiser

Amount

2021 Australia and New Zealand Sports Law Association
Annual Conference

Australian and New Zealand Sports
Law Association

$15,000

2021 Australian Peak Shippers Association Conference and
Annual General Meeting

Australian Peak Shippers Association

$15,000

2021 Central West Young Entrepreneurs Summit

Mid-Western Regional Council

$15,000

2021 National Self-Managed Super Funds Retreat

Institute of Public Accountants Limited

$7,500

2021 NSW Conference - Accelerated Change - Planning in Uncertainty

Planning Institute of Australia

$17,100

71st Annual Conference of the Australasian Grain Science Association

Australasian Grain Science
Association Incorporated

$7,000

9th National Men’s Shed Gathering

Australian Men's Shed Association

$5,000

Agrishow - Small Farms and Field Day Expo

Expertise Events Proprietary Limited

$25,000

Australia Medical Association (NSW) Limited Council Planning Weekend

Australian Medical Association
(NSW) Limited

$10,800

Annual History Lecture 2021

History Council of NSW

$14,500

Aquatic and Recreation Institute Conference & Trade Expo

Aquatic and Recreation Institute

$20,000

Asbestos and Hazardous Materials Management Conference

Blue Mountains City Council

$18,000

Australian Swimming Coaches and Teachers Association NSW
Inaugural Regional Coaching Conference

NSW Swimming Coaches Association

$3,500

Audiology Australia National Conference

Audiology Australia

$15,000

Australasian Environmental Isotope Conference

Southern Cross University

$15,000

Australian and New Zealand College of Notaries Conference 2021

Arinex

$7,500

Australian College of Neonatal Nurses National Conference

Australian College of Neonatal Nurses

$27,500

Australian Culinary Federation National Conference

Australian Culinary Federation National
Office Incorporated

$15,000

Australian Investment Council Conference 2021

Australian Investment Council Limited

$10,000
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Regional Conferencing CONTINUED
Conference

Organiser

Amount

Australian Medical Students' Association's National Conference

Australian Medical Students'
Association Limited

$26,000

Australian White Sheep Breeders' Association's 2022 Symposium

Australian White Sheep Breeders
Association Incorporated

$3,000

Backing Business Forum

Regional Development Australia Central West

$8,000

Building a Stronger Industry

Timber and Building Materials
Association Australia

$24,000

Bulk Freight Futures

Junee Shire Council

$13,500

Battery World Australia Conference

Battery World Australia

$10,000

Centre of Excellence in Synthetic Biology

Macquarie University

$19,800

Construction, Forestry, Maritime, Mining & Energy Union Northern
Mining & NSW Energy - Delegates Annual General Meeting

Construction, Forestry, Maritime, Mining &
Energy Union Northern Mining & NSW
Energy District

$16,500

Childhood Education Conference

Above & Beyond Early Childhood Consulting

$8,000

Domain All Hands Conference

DNA Event Management (A Wholly owned
Subsidary+M20 of DNA Media & Marketing
Proprietary Limited)

$11,000

Football Writers Festival

Fair Play Publishing Proprietary Limited

$6,000

Hello Henty 2021

Henty Machinery Field Days
Co-operative Limited

$15,000

Hospital in the Home Annual Scientific Meeting

Hospital in the Home Society of Australasia

$26,600

Innovation Expo

Riverine Plains Incorporated

$30,000

Institute of Quarrying National Conference

The Institute of Quarrying Australia

$25,000

Mathematical Association of NSW 2022 Regional Conference

The Mathematical Association of NSW

$10,000

Murray Darling Association 77th Annual Conference and Annual
General Meeting

Murray Darling Association

$20,000

National Outdoor Education Conference & NSW State Meeting
(NOEC 2021)

Outdoors NSW & ACT

$16,000

NSW Country Conference

Australian Property Institute

$8,000

NSW Country Surveyors October Conference

Association of Consulting Surveyors NSW

$10,000

NSW Regional Academy of Sport Coach Development Conference

Hunter Academy of Sport

$15,000

NSW State Conference 2021

Australian Water Association Limited

$15,000
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Regional Conferencing CONTINUED
Conference

Organiser

Amount

Origin Energy High Performers Conference 2021

The Trustee for REGroup Future Fund Unit
Trust

$5,000

Pharmacy Catalyst Conference 2021

Pharmacy Catalyst Proprietary Limited

$15,000

Primex Field Days

Primex Field Days Proprietary Limited

$30,000

Protected Cropping Australia 2021 National Conference

ASN Events

$30,000

RADAIM Business 21

Medical Seminars Australia trading as
Phoenix Conferencing Australia

$25,000

Randstad Directors Club Conference

Randstad Proprietary Limited

$10,500

Regional Accommodation Conference and Expo (RACE)

Budget Motel Chain

$13,500

Resilience – Community Transport Organisation Conference 2021

Community Transport Organisation

$28,000

Returned and Services League & Services Club Association Annual
Conference

Returned and Services & Services Clubs
Association Limited

$20,000

Shape 2021 Conference

Recruitment, Consulting and Staffing
Association Australia & New Zealand (RCSA)

$22,000

Speckle Park Legends of the Fall - Sales Conference

Bigwigstud (MATM Sunshine Proprietary
Limited)

$20,000

Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics 2022 Regional
Education Conference

NSW Department of Education - Hunter
Academy of Science, Technology, Engineering
and Mathematics Excellence

$26,500

TEDx Jervis Bay

Bay Games Proprietary Limited

$15,000

The Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists' Faculty of
Psychiatry of Old Age Annual Conference

The Royal Australian and New Zealand
College of Psychiatrists'

$17,000

The Stanley Awards & National Cartooning Conference

Australian Cartoonists Association
Incorporated

$15,000

Urology Society of Australia and New Zealand - NSW Section Meeting 2021

DC Conference & Association Management

$7,500

Wellness Tourism Summit

Droga & Co

$20,000

Wings Over Illawarra - NSW Drone Zone

The Trustee for Bright Events Trust

$15,000

Small Scale Infrastructure Project - AUDIO VISUAL

Terrara House Weddings & Event

$8,200

Air Conditioning Infrastructure for Business Retreats at Archies –
Barranca Kangaroo Valley

Barranca Kangaroo Valley

$15,000

Maugers Paddock to Plate Tours

Maugers Paddock to Plate Tours

$15,000

Upgrade power supply and heating and cooling to enable increased
business capacity

Food I Am

$27,000

Note: all amounts are exclusive of Goods and Services Tax
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Regional Event Fund
On 26 June 2020, Minister Ayers announced that 59 events had been awarded grants through the 2020 Regional Event Fund. Due
to the COVID-19 pandemic, many events were unable to go ahead in the 2020 calendar year and grants were deferred to 2021. The
state-wide travel restrictions and lockdown resulting from the June 2021 COVID-19 outbreak in Sydney and NSW required many
events to be postponed again to 2022. Grant monies from 2019-2020 were brought forward to 2020-2021 and the following payments
have been made to grant recipients against the contracted payment milestones in the 2020-21 financial year.

Conference

Organisation

Amount

ArtWalk (Port Macquarie)

Port Macquarie Hastings Council

$5,000

Baroquefest (Canowindra)

Canowindra Fine Music Inc.

$10,000

Bathurst Winter Festival (Bathurst)

Bathurst Regional Council

$27,500

Batlow Cider Fest (Batlow)

Batlow Development League

$30,000

Be Welcomed by Wildlife at the Australian Wildlife Sanctuary (Bargo)

National Trust of Australia (NSW)

$10,000

Bellingen Fine Music Festival (Bellingen)

Bellingen Community Arts Council Inc.

$5,000

Bellinger River Agricultural Show (Bellingen)

Bellinger River Agricultural Show Society

$10,000

Blue Mountains Writers Festival (Katoomba)

Eleanor Dark Foundation

$10,000

Breathing Space: Transformative Projections in the Magic Hour

Illuminart

$10,000

Bungendore Street Party (Bungendore)

Queanbeyan-Palerang Regional Council

$10,000

Casino Beef Week (Casino)

Casino Beef Week Promotions Committee
Inc.

$25,000

Cowra Christmas Street Festival (Cowra)

Cowra Tourism Corporation

$10,000

Eden Whale Festival (Eden)

Eden Whale Festival

$10,000

Elephant Trail Race (Port Macquarie)

Coastal Sports & Fitness

$20,000

Flavours of Mudgee Street Festival (Mudgee)

Mid-Western Regional Council

$20,000

Gears & Beers Festival (Wagga Wagga)

Rotary Club of Wollundary-Wagga Wagga Inc.

$5,000

Grafton Jacaranda Festival (Grafton)

Grafton Jacaranda Festival Inc.

$27,500

Hello Koalas Festival (Port Macquarie)

Arts & Health Australia Pty Ltd

$20,000

Lost Lanes (Wagga Wagga)

Wagga Wagga City Council

$5,000
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Regional Event Fund CONTINUED
Conference

Organisation

Amount

Moree on a Plate (Moree)

Moree on a Plate Inc.

$10,000

Mullum Circus (Ringside) Festival (Mullumbimby)

Spaghetti Circus

$5,000

Narooma Oyster Festival (Narooma)

Narooma Oyster Festival

$25,000

New England Sings! (Armidale)

New England Conservatorium of Music

$10,000

Beats in Bruxner (Tenterfield)

Tenterfield Chamber of Tourism Industry &
Business Inc.

$10,000

Sculpture at Scenic World (Katoomba)

Katoomba Scenic Railway Pty Ltd

$30,000

Spring Jam (Wagga Wagga)

Wagga Wagga City Council

$5,000

StoryFest (Milton)

StoryFest Incorporated

$20,000

The Bay Games (Huskisson)

HBM Creative Pty Ltd

$17,500

The Clarence 100 (Copmanhurst to Yamba)

Benjamin Sullivan

$8,000

The End 2 End Festival (Pokolbin)

Parish of Pokolbin Inc.

$10,000

Trundle Show (Trundle)

Trundle Pastoral & Agricultural Society

$10,000

Viking Festival – A Celebration of Scandinavian Heritage (Sussex Inlet)

Sussex Inlet District Chamber of Commerce)

$10,000

Woodstock Memorial Show (Woodstock)

Woodstock Memorial Show Inc.

$10,000

Woolgoolga Blues & Berries Festival (Woolgoolga)

Another Tasty Event

$5,000

Woolgoolga MTB Festival (Woolgoolga)

White Lightning Event Management

$5,000

Yours & Owls Festival (Wollongong)

Yours & Owls Events Pty Ltd

$20,000

Note: all amounts are exclusive of Goods and Services Tax
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Tourism Industry Marketing Support package – grants program
In April 2021, the $1 million Tourism Industry Marketing Support package – offered matched funding to promote visitor
experiences, attractions, tours and accommodation. Thirty-two successful applicants received between $10,000 and $50,000
to support campaigns aimed at generating sales and visitation between October 2021 and May 2022. The program was delayed
due to COVID-19 travel restrictions.
Tourism Recovery Marketing Grants were allocated to recipients across the State to support the promotion of activities in the
following experience themes:
• F
 ood and Drink
• A
 rts and Culture
• H
 istory and Heritage
• S
 tay / Accommodation
Business Name

Project

Grant Amount

Bathurst Regional Council

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$35,000

BelgraviaPro Pty Ltd

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$25,000

Cape Byron Kayaks

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$10,000

Wallinga Farmstay

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$10,000

Luna Park Sydney Pty Limited

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$50,000

Eurobodalla Shire Council

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$40,000

Sydney Luxury Cruise

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$10,000

Shoalhaven City Council

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$50,000

Cupitt’s Estate

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$45,000

Sydney Harbour Boat Tours

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$26,930

Coffs Coast

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$15,000

Elm Cottage Tumut

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$20,005

Destination Port Stephens

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$50,000

North Coast Holiday Parks

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$50,000

Wagga Wagga City Council

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$20,000

City of Parramatta Council

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$15,000

Mystery Bay Cottages

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$10,832

Macadamia Castle

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$15,000

Irukandji Shark & Ray Encounters Pty Ltd

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$50,000

North Star Caravan Resort

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$23,400

Mercury Albury

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$10,000

Scarborough Wine Co. Pty. Limited

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$50,000

Scenic World Blue Mountains

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$50,000

Crystalbrook Byron

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$50,000

Sydney Skydivers Pty Ltd

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$38,980

Crystalbrook Albion

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$10,000

Crystalbrook Kingsley

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$50,000

Murray Art Museum Albury

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$40,000

The Bower at Broulee

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$10,000

Maitland City Council

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$50,000

NSW Rail Museum

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$17,500

Tourism Group Australia Pty Ltd

Tourism Recovery Marketing Grant

$50,000

Note: all amounts are exclusive of Goods and Services Tax
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Tourism Product Development Fund
Organisation

Project

Grant Amount

Refresh and Renew
A Gay & K Gay

Burnbrae Wines

$10,000

A P Providores Pty Ltd

Ariah Park Hotel

$10,000

Alan Harry Imrie

Bay Breeze Boutique Accommodation

$10,000

Alpine River Adventures Pty Ltd

Alpine River Adventures

$10,000

Amanda J Barnes

Kalinya Estate

$10,000

Anthony Boots Investments Pty Ltd

Hydro Motor Inn

$10,000

Aquamelt Pty Ltd

South West Rocks Dive Centre

$10,000

Armstrong Family Trust

Coastal Comfort Motel

$10,000

Australian F4 Investment Pty Ltd

Twin Trees Country Cottages

$10,000

Australian Reptile Park Pty Ltd

Australian Reptile Park

$10,000

Ayleh Pty Ltd atf for Ayleh Family Trust

Hillview Farm Stay

$10,000

B3 Reylon Pty Ltd atf W & M Bond Family Trust

The Heritage Motor Inn

$10,000

Bellotti Keady Holding Pty Ltd

Cascades Motor Inn

$10,000

Berton Vineyard Pty Ltd

Berton Vineyards

$10,000

Blue Moon Traders Pty Ltd atf Accel Family Trust

The Hub Espresso Bar & Eatery

$10,000

Blue Mountains City Council

Blue Mountains Tourists Parks

$10,000

C H Edwards & F A Edwards & Wonkana (No3) Family Trust

Austin Tourist Park

$10,000

C J Morgan & X J Moran

Abercrombie House

$10,000

C M De La Barre De Nanteuil & J De Nanteuil

The Globe Inn

$10,000

Central Coat Council

Budgewoi Holiday Park

$10,000

Club Macquarie Limited

Macquarie 4 Star

$10,000

Darlien Deberigny

Mystery Bay Cottages

$10,000

Donna Maria Carrier

Bent on Food

$10,000

Double Happiness Co Pty Ltd

Seacliff House

$10,000

Dropok Pty Ltd

McLeish Estate

$10,000

DS Cruikshank & A Elliott

Wharf Street Café

$10,000

Eden Road Wine Co Pty Ltd

Eden Road Wines

$10,000

EXGS Pty Ltd

Exeter General Store & Café

$10,000

F J Precision (Holdings) Pty Ltd

Valhalla Perisher

$10,000

Fish Xia Investments Pty Ltd

Tumut Valley Motel

$10,000

G J Bultitude & Mikes Place Pty Ltd

The Kranky Goat

$10,000

Glenbernie Orchard Pty Ltd

Glenbernie Orchard

$10,000

Griffith City Council

Griffith Visitor Information Centre

$10,000

Hamish Tame

Enigma Visual

$10,000

Hawcroft General Trading Co Pty. Ltd

Noah’s on the Beach

$10,000

HDR Hospitality Pty Ltd

The Victoria Hotel

$10,000

Hughes Unit Trust

Forresters Beach Resort

$10,000

Indoor Skydive Australia Group Limited

iFLY Downunder

$10,000
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Tourism Product Development Fund CONTINUED
Organisation

Project

Grant Amount

Bago Vineyards

$10,000

Refresh and Renew
J A Mobbs & K L Mobbs
J Cole and B W Ferguson

Art Bar Kiama

$10,000

J J & S Pty Ltd

Crackenback Farm

$10,000

J M R Pty Ltd

Symbio Wildlife Park

$10,000

J N & J G Barry

Carinya Station Farm Stay

$10,000

Katoomba Scenic Railway Pty Ltd

Scenic World Blue Mountains

$10,000

Kavitha Barron

Chasin’ Opal

$10,000

Kempsey Shire Council

Hat Head Holiday Park

$10,000

Laura Joanne Fraumeni

Nest Cinema Cafe Books

$10,000

M B Fernon & V T Fernon & The Trustee for Agape Family Trust

Grove Estate Wines

$10,000

M P Forbes Pty Ltd

Mollymook Surfbeach Motel & Apartments

$10,000

McCaffrey’s Estate Pty Ltd

McCaffrey’s Estate

$10,000

Mikaza Sukaza Pty Ltd

Selwyn Star Lodge

$10,000

Mountain Ridge Provisions Pty Ltd

Mountain Ridge

$10,000

Nicole Therese Moroney

Cowra Motor Inn

$10,000

Notaras Bros Entertainment

Saraton Theatre

$10,000

Oaklands Pty Ltd

Oakvale Wildlife Park

$10,000

Patterson Consultancy Pty Ltd

Ezyride Mudgee

$10,000

PMLA Robson Pty Ltd

Dorrigo Mountain Holiday Park

$10,000

Port Macquarie Hastings Council

Glasshouse Arts Conference& Entertainment
Centre

$10,000

Rivergardens Tourist Park Pty Ltd

Rivergardens Holiday Park

$10,000

RK & CJ Cardow

Pelican Rocks Restaurant & Café

$10,000

Robertson Public House Pty Ltd

Robertson Public House & Kitchen

$10,000

Rulecroft Pty Limited

Merimbula Sea Spray Motel

$10,000

Sanctus Brew Pty Ltd

Sanctus Brewing Co

$10,000

SB Fishing Pty Ltd

Laguna Lodge Holiday Units

$10,000

Sea Eagle Estate Pty Ltd

Robyn’s Nest Resort

$10,000

Sharon Jayne Winsor

Indigiearth

$10,000

Skywalk Holdings Australia Pty Ltd

Willow Farm Weddings

$10,000

Stephen Paul Ross

Clarence River Wilderness Lodge

$10,000

Strata Plan 64585

Northpoint Apartments

$10,000

STTK Pty Ltd

Edgewater Gardens

$10,000

Sydney Skydivers Pty Ltd

Sydney Skydivers

$10,000

Tathra Beachside Pty Ltd

Tathra Beachside

$10,000

The Mermaid Beach House Pty Ltd

The Mermaid Beach House

$10,000
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Tourism Product Development Fund CONTINUED
Organisation

Project

Grant Amount

New England Motor Lodge

$10,000

Refresh and Renew
The Trustee for Altitude Motel Trust
The Trustee for B & C Gairn Family Trust

Courabyra Wines

$10,000

The Trustee for B & C Taylor Family Trust

Sandpiper Motel

$10,000

The Trustee for Barnes Family Trust

Bindaree Holiday Park

$10,000

The Trustee for Blue Frontier Trust

Joadja Distillery

$10,000

The Trustee for Copeland Family Trust

Tuckerbox Motor Inn

$10,000

The Trustee for Cygnet Bay Pearls Unit Trust

Broken Bay Pearl Farm

$10,000

The Trustee for Dinkidi Rhino Trust

Bells Milk Bar

$10,000

The Trustee for Earthstar Family Trust & The Trustee for G T Family Trust

The Palace Hotel

$10,000

The Trustee for Francis Motel Trust

Palm Court Motor Inn

$10,000

The Trustee for Hancock Family Trust

Saludos Restaurant

$10,000

The Trustee for MacWardle Taylor Family Trust

Paradise Palms Motel

$10,000

The Trustee for Marshall Family Trust

Tumba Cottages

$10,000

The Trustee for Nundle Woollen Mill Trust

Nundle Woollen Mill

$10,000

The Trustee for Powley Family Trust

Sweet As Kangaroo Valley

$10,000

The Trustee for Ritchie Village Trading Trust

Diamond Waters Caravan Park

$10,000

The Trustee for S & M Robinson Family Trust

Howlong Caravan Park

$10,000

The Trustee for Siesta Unit Trust

Quality Resort Siesta

$10,000

The Trustee for Smith Family Trust

The Dish Café

$10,000

The Trustee for Swift Family Trust

Printhie Wines

$10,000

The Trustee for the Andrew Margan Family Trust

Margan Family Winegrowers

$10,000

The Trustee for the Shrayer Holdings Group Trust

Snow Gate Motel

$10,000

The Trustee for The Tiona Investments Unit Trust

Tiona Holiday Park

$10,000

The Trustee for Valaze 3 Trust

Rockpool Motor Inn

$10,000

Tyrrell’s Vineyards Pty Ltd

Tyrrell’s Vineyards

$10,000

Uprising Bakery Pty Ltd

Uprising Bakery

$10,000

Wambuwayyn Pty Ltd

Contentious Character

$10,000

Wanderers Retreat Pty Ltd

Wanderers Retreat

$10,000

White Cliffs Outback Store Pty Ltd

White Cliffs Outback Store

$10,000

Woopi Backpackers Pty Ltd

Woopi Backpackers

$10,000
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CONTINUED

Experience Enhancement Fund
Organisation

Project

Grant Amount

A Smith & M Smith
Blackwattle Alpaca Farm

Alpaca agritourism, education and
experience facility

$150,000

Adrian Robertson Constructions Pty Ltd Worrowing Heights

Multi-purpose facility to provide a range
of food, education and cultural visitor
experience and events

$150,000

Albury City Council
Murray Art Museum

Children’s art hub to improve the gallery
entry area and create a new exhibition space

$105,520

Hutchings Camps Pty Ltd
Paperbark Camp

Upgrade existing 3 star accommodation to
5 star

$150,000

Maitland City Council
Maitland Gaol

New premium Maitland Gaol Guard Tower
Walk Experience

$129,000

Oakland Pty Ltd
Oakvale Wildlife Park

Multi-purpose all weather complex featuring
play centre, education space with café and
function Centre

$150,000

P & R Piccolo Family Trust
Piccolo Family Farm

Visitor Experience Centre to include food and
wine events, farm tours, tasting trails and
food and wine experiences and education
programs

$80,000

Port Stephens Council
Port Stephens Koala Sanctuary

Upgrade 12 one bedroom motel style rooms
to 4.5 star standard

$150,000

The Trustee for Earthstar Family Trust & The Trustee for GT Family Trust
The Palace Hotel Broken Hill

First stage of overall Boutique Hotel style
renovation to increase the accommodation
star rating to 4 star

$150,000

The Trustee for McIncarton Family Trust Broadwater Oysters

Development of a Tide to Table oyster
experience

$148,500

The Trustee for The Littlebourne Unit Trust
Littlebourne Estate

Complete refurbishment to convert the
property into a six room luxury 5 star
guesthouse

$150,000

The Trustee for Ulan Road Farm Unit Trust
The Barn at Blue Wren Farm

A new culinary and event experience
showcasing regional wines and produce

$146,980

Uprising Bakery Pty Ltd
Uprising Bakery

Repurpose existing service space to allow
the creation and offering of bookable cooking
classes, demonstrations, talks and tours

$150,000

Woomargama Vineyards Pty Ltd
Flyfaire Wines

Construction of an underground cellar and
production room to facilitate the development
of a range of bookable experiences

$150,000

Refresh and Renew

Note: all amounts are exclusive of Goods and Services Tax
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Financial Management
PAYMENT OF ACCOUNTS
Quarter

Current
(within due date)
$

Less than 30
days overdue
$

Between 30 and 60
days overdue
$

Between 60 and 90
days overdue
$

More than 90 days
overdue
$

All Suppliers
September 2020

40,850,074

110,855

NIL

37

-66

December 2020

28,999,810

6,373,958

254,712

204,539

179,370

March 2021

19,352,404

1,724,550

970,083

483,569

295,937

June 2021

73,423,132

3,155,557

1,340,390

952,766

749,334

162,625,420

11,364,920

2,565,186

1,640,911

1,224,574

September 2020

194,554

47,146

NIL

NIL

NIL

December 2020

314,624

16,189

NIL

NIL

NIL

March 2021

263,533

34,547

NIL

NIL

NIL

June 2021

475,356

45,261

2,475

NIL

NIL

1,248,067

143,142

2,475

0

0

Total all suppliers

Small Business

Total Small Business

All Suppliers

September 2019

December 2019

March 2020

June 2020

Total no of accounts due for payment

828

1,137

1,083

1,962

No of accounts paid on time

808

800

770

1,592

97.6%

70.4%

71.1%

81.1%

$ amount of accounts due for payment

40,960,899

36,012,389

22,826,543

79,621,179

$ amount of accounts paid on time

40,850,074

28,999,810

19,352,404

73,423,132

99.7%

80.5%

84.8%

92.2%

Number of payment for interest on overdue accounts

NIL

NIL

NIL

NIL

Interest paid on overdue accounts

NIL

NIL

NIL

NIL

% of account paid on time (based on no of accounts)

% of accounts paid on time (based on $ amount
of accounts)
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Accumulated Funds
The deficiency of accumulated funds in comparative year is consistent with the NSW Treasury approved position and results from
cash management reforms instituted by NSW Treasury.

Investment Performance
Refer Financial Statements: Financial Instruments Note 19.

Liability Management Performance
Destination NSW has no debt greater than $20 million.

Financial Management
In FY 2020-21 there are no after Balance-Day events which have a significant effect on the financial or other operations of
Destination NSW.

Budgets
Refer Financial Statements: Note 17.

Implementation of Price Determination
Destination NSW is not subject to the Tribunal.

Additional Matters:
Annual Report Costs
Nil. Annual report produced in-house by Destination NSW. All images and other collateral included in the document were sourced
from the Destination NSW image library and existing resources. Printing of required compliance copies was undertaken in-house.

Application for extension of time
Destination NSW requested and was granted an extension of time, in accordance with section 13(3) of the Annual Reports (Statutory
Bodies) Act 1984, to submit its 2020-2021 Annual Report by 30 November 2021.
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Statement in accordance

DESTINATION
NSW
DESTINATION
NSW
tatement byStatement
the Chairby
and
Chief
Executive
Officer
the Accountable Authority

DESTINATION NSW

he Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, and in accordance with a resolution of

n 7.6(4) of the Government Sector Finance Act 2018
('the Act'), Iby
state
Statement
the Accountable Authority

financial statements
been 7.6(4)
prepared
in accordance
with:
Pursuant
to
section
of the
Government
Sector Finance
ActAccounting
2018 ('the Act'), I state
alese
statements
have
beenhave
prepared
in accordance
with applicable
Australian
Australian Accounting Interpretations), the provisions of the Public Finance and Audit
Australian Accounting Standards (which includes Australian Accounting Interpretations);
auses of the Public Finance Act,
and
Audit
Regulation
2015,have
and been
theRegulation
Financial
Reporting
these
financial
statements
prepared2018;
in accordance
with:
applicable requirements of the(a)
the Government
Sector Finance
and
e
Treasurer;
Treasurer's directions issued under the Act.

• Australian Accounting Standards (which includes Australian Accounting Interpretations);

al statements exhibit a true and fair view of the financial position and the financial
ese financial statements present
fairly Destination
NSW's
financial
position
as at Sector
30 June
2021 Regulation
and the 2018; and
• applicable
requirements
of the
Act, the
Government
Finance
n NSW for the year ended 30 June 2020;

nancial performance and cash flows
for the year
then ended;
andunder the Act.
• Treasurer's
directions
issued

re not aware of any circumstances that would render the financial statements

(b) these
statements
present
Destination
NSW's
position
as at 30 June 2021 and the
ere are no circumstances which
wouldfinancial
render any
particulars
in the fairly
financial
statements
to befinancial
misleading
or
financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and
accurate.
(c) there are no circumstances which would render any particulars in the financial statements to be misleading or
inaccurate.

__________
lin AM
_________________________
Christine McLoughlin AM
Chairman
25 October 2021

__________

ficer

_________________________
Steve Cox
Chief Executive Officer
25 October 2021
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Auditor’s Report

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
NDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S
REPORT
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
Destination NSW
NDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
Destination NSW
Destination NSW
Destination NSW

To Members of the New South Wales Parliament
th
Wales
Parliament
f the New South Wales Parliament
Opinion
th Wales Parliament

I have audited the accompanying financial statements of Destination NSW (DNSW), which comprises
the
Statement
by
the Accountable
Authority,
the(DNSW),
Statement
of Comprehensive
Income for the year
ying
financial
statements
of Destination
NSW
(DNSW),
which
comprisewhich
the accompanying
financial
statements
of
Destination
NSW
comprise
ended
30
June
2021,
the
Statement
of
Financial
Position
as
at
30
June
2021,
the
Statement of
ying
financial
statements
of
Destination
NSW
(DNSW),
which
comprise
sive
Income
for
the
year
ended
30
June
2020,
the
Statement
of
Financial
of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2020, the Statement of Financial
Changes
in
Equity
and
the
Statement
of
Cash
Flows,
for
the
year
then
ended,
notes
comprising a
sive
Income
for
the
year
ended
30
June
2020,
the
Statement
of
Financial
the
Statement
of
Changes
in
Equity
and
the
Statement
of
Cash
Flows
for
30 June 2020, the Statement of Changes in Equity and the Statement of Cash Flows for
Statement
of
Significant
Accounting
Policies,
and
other
explanatory
information
of
DNSW
and the
the
Statement
of
Changes
in
Equity
and
the
Statement
of
Cash
Flows
for
omprising
a
Statement
of
Significant
Accounting
Policies
and
other
ended, notes comprising a Statement of Significant Accounting Policies and other
consolidated
entity.
The
consolidated
comprises
the
DNSW
and
the
entities
it
controlled
from
omprising
a
Statement
of
Significant
Accounting
Policies
and
other
NSW
and
the
entity
ormation of DNSW and the consolidated entity. The consolidated entity comprises
time
to
time
during
the
financial
year.
NSW
and
the
consolidated
entity.
The
consolidated
entity
comprises
trolled
at
the
year’s
end
or
from
time
to
time
during
the
financial
year.
e entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.
trolled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.
In my opinion, the financial statements:
atements:
the
financial statements:
tatements:
• of
have
been
prepared
in DNSW
accordance
with
Australian
w
thefair
financial
position
of DNSW
and the
consolidated
entity
as at Accounting
ueofand
view
the
financial
position
of
and the
consolidated
entity as atStandards and the applicable
financial
reporting
requirements
of
the
Government
Sector
Finance
Act 2018 (GSF Act), the
w
of
the
financial
position
of
DNSW
and
the
consolidated
entity
as
at
heir
financial
performance
and
cash
flows
for
the
year
then
ended
in
2020, and of their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended
in
Government
Sector
Finance
Regulation
2018
(GSF
Regulation)
and
the Treasurer's Directions
heir
financial
performance
and
cash
flows
for
the
year
then
ended
in
alian
Accounting
Standards
nce with Australian Accounting Standards
alian
Accounting
Standards
• section
presents
financial
position,
financial
performance
andthe
cash flows of DNSW and the
section 41B
of
Public
Finance
andthe
Audit
Act 1983
(PF&A
Act)
and
the Act) and
ccordance
with
41B offairly
Public
Finance
and
Audit
Act
1983
(PF&A
consolidated
entity.
section
41B
of
Public
Finance
and
Audit
Act
1983
(PF&A
Act)
and
the
dit
Regulation
2015
inance and Audit Regulation 2015
dit Regulation 2015
My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report.
conjunction
the rest ofwith
this the
report.
ould
be read with
in conjunction
rest of this report.
conjunction with
the
rest
of
this
report.
Basis for Opinion

pinion

I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the
rdance
with
Australian
Auditing
Standards.
responsibilities
under thefor theunder
y audit in
accordance
with
Auditing
Standards.
My responsibilities
standards
areAustralian
described
in theMy
‘Auditor’s
Responsibilities
Auditthe
of the Financial Statements
rdance
with
Australian
Auditing
Standards.
My
responsibilities
under
the
e
‘Auditor’s
Responsibilities
for
the
Audit
of
the
Financial
Statements’
described in the
‘Auditor’s
Responsibilities
for
the
Audit
of
the
Financial
Statements’
section of my report.
e ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements’
eport.
I am independent of DNSW and the consolidated entity in accordance with the requirements of the:
and
consolidated
in accordance
with
the requirements
the:
ent the
of DNSW
and theentity
consolidated
entity in
accordance
with theof
requirements
of the:
and the consolidated
entity in accordance
with the requirements of the:
•
Australian
Auditing Standards
andards
an Auditing Standards
•
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for
andards
al
Ethical Standards
Board’s
APES Board’s
110 ‘Code
of Ethics
for of Ethics
ingand
Professional
andProfessional
Ethical
Standards
APES
110
‘Code
for
Accountants
(including
Independence
Standards)’
(APES 110).
al
and
Ethical
Standards
Board’s
APES
110
‘Code
of
Ethics
for 110).
nts
(including
Independence
Standards)’
(APES
110).
onal Accountants (including Independence Standards)’ (APES
nts (including IIndependence
Standards)’
(APES
110).
have fulfilled my
other ethical
responsibilities
in accordance with APES 110.
al
responsibilities
in
accordance
with
APES
110.
my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110.
al responsibilities
in accordance
with
APES 110. by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of
Parliament
promotes
independence
ndence
by ensuring
thebyAuditor-General
and the Audit in
Office
of
motes independence
ensuring
and
the
Auditby:
Office of
New South
Wales arethe
notAuditor-General
compromised
their
roles
ndence
by
ensuring
the
Auditor-General
and
the
Audit
Office
of
mpromised
in
their
roles
by:
ales are not compromised in their roles by:
mpromised in •their roles
by: that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an
providing
liament,
and
not theAuditor-General
executive
remove ancan remove an
g
that only
Parliament,
and not government,
the executivecan
government,
liament,
and
not
the
executive
government,
can
remove an
General
•
mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of public sector agencies
-General
as auditor of public
sectorofagencies
ng the Auditor-General
as auditor
public sector agencies
•
precluding
the Auditor-General
from providing non-audit services.
-General
as
auditor
of
public
sector
agencies
General
from
providing
non-audit
services.
ng the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services.
-General fromIproviding
non-audit
services.
believe the
audit evidence
I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
have
obtainedaudit
is sufficient
andis appropriate
to appropriate
provide a basis
for my a basis for my
udit
evidence
I have
obtained
sufficient and
to provide
opinion.
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
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The Board’s Responsibilities for the Financial Statements
The members of the Board are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the GSF Act, GSF Regulations and
Treasurer's Directions. The members of the Board's responsibility also includes such internal control
as the members of the Board determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the members of the Board are responsible for assessing DNSW
and the consolidated entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
My objectives are to:
•
•

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error
issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take
based on the financial statements.
A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing
and Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar3.pdf. The
description forms part of my auditor’s report.
The scope of my audit does not include, nor provide assurance:
•
•
•
•

that DNSW or the consolidated entity carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and
economically
about the assumptions used in formulating the budget figures disclosed in the financial
statements
about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial
statements on any website where they may be presented
about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements.

Renee Meimaroglou
Director, Financial Audit
Delegate of the Auditor-General for New South Wales
27 October 2021
SYDNEY
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Destination New South Wales
Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2021
Consolidated

Notes
Budget
2021
$000

Description

Parent
Actual
2020
$000

Actual*
2021
$000

Actual
2020
$000

Actual
2021
$000

Continuing Operations
Expenses excluding losses
Operating expenses
Employee related

2(a)

21,752

16,638

21,909

-

-

Personnel services

2(b)

-

4,952

-

21,590

21,909

Other operating expenses

2(c)

167,271

160,198

102,025

160,198

102,025

Depreciation and amortisation

2(d)

1,928

1,490

1,852

1,490

1,852

Grants and subsidies

2(e)

9,090

6,675

4,694

6,675

4,694

Finance Costs

2(f)

Total expenses excluding losses

65

65

89

65

89

200,106

190,018

130,569

190,018

130,569

Revenue
Sale of goods and services

3(a)

-

-

234

-

234

Grants and contributions

3(b)

190,975

194,423

137,000

194,423

137,000

Other revenue

3(c)

-

3,165

209

3,165

209

Acceptance by the Crown in the right of the State
of New South Wales (The Crown) of employee
benefits and other liabilities

3(d)

325

30

33

30

33

191,300

197,618

137,476

197,618

137,476

7,600

6,907

7,600

6,907

Total revenue
Operating result

(8,806)

Gain / (Loss) on disposal

-

Impairment losses on Property Plant & Equipment
Unrealised loss on FX Forward contract

4

-

(2)

-

(2)

-

(99)

(1,104)

(99)

-

(55)

(4)

(55)

(1,104)
(4)

-

(154)

(1,110)

(154)

(1,110)

Net result from continuing operations

(8,806)

7,446

5,797

7,446

5,797

NET RESULT

(8,806)

7,446

5,797

7,446

5,797

Other comprehensive income

-

-

-

-

-

Total other comprehensive income

-

-

-

-

-

7,446

5,797

7,446

5,797

Total comprehensive income

(8,806)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
*The consolidated results includes 12 months activity for the parent entity and activity for the former Destination NSW Staff Agency that
ceased operation as at 28 March 2021. Refer to Note 1 (a).
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Destination New South Wales
Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2021
Consolidated
Notes

Budget
2021
$000

Parent
Actual
2020
$000

Actual*
2021
$000

Actual
2020
$000

Actual
2021
$000

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

6

Receivables and Prepayments

7

8,449

-

16,498

17,543

16,498

2,985

-

3,154

6,663

3,154

11,434

-

19,652

24,206

19,652

8

251

-

243

501

243

251

-

243

501

243

Right-of-use assets

9

2,502

-

4,290

2,808

4,290

Intangible assets

10

Total Current Assets
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment
- Plant and equipment
Total property, plant and equipment

Total Non-Current Assets
Total assets

27

-

41

27

41

2,780

-

4,574

3,336

4,574

14,214

-

24,226

27,542

24,226

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables

11

21,047

-

20,543

22,422

20,543

Borrowings

12

1,795

-

1,693

1,794

1,693

Provisions

13

3,622

-

3,622

-

3,622

26,464

-

25,858

24,216

25,858

Total Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Borrowings

12

2,045

-

3,861

2,061

3,861

Provisions

13

1,102

-

1,103

415

1,103

Other Financial Liabilities at Fair Value

12

4

-

-

-

-

3,151

-

4,964

2,476

4,964

29,615

-

30,822

26,692

30,822

(15,401)

-

(6,596)

850

(6,596)

Accumulated funds

(15,401)

-

(6,596)

850

(6,596)

Total Equity

(15,401)

-

(6,596)

850

(6,596)

Total Non-Current Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Net Assets
EQUITY

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
*The consolidated position as at 30 June 2021 is not required as Destination NSW Staff Agency ceased operation as at 28 March 2021.
Refer to Note 1 (a).
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Destination New South Wales
Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2021

Parent

Accumulated
Funds
$000

Total
$000

Balance at 1 July 2020

(6,596)

(6,596)

Net result for the year

7,446

7,446

Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the year
Balance at 30 June 2021

-

-

7,446

7,446

850

850

Balance at 1 July 2019

(12,393)

(12,393)

Net result for the year

5,797

5,797

Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the year
Balance at 30 June 2020

-

-

5,797

5,797

(6,596)

(6,596)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Destination New South Wales
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2021
Consolidated
Budget
2021
$000

Actual*
2021
$000

Parent
Actual
2020
$000

Actual
2021
$000

Actual
2020
$000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee and personnel services expenses

(21,427)

(22,030)

(21,659)

(22,030)

(21,659)

(9,090)

(6,675)

(4,694)

(6,675)

(4,694)

(65)

(65)

(89)

(65)

(89)

Payments to suppliers

(165,771)

(178,081)

(132,684)

(178,081)

(132,684)

Total payments

(196,353)

(206,851)

(159,126)

(206,851)

(159,126)

Grants and subsidies
Finance Costs

Receipts
Sale of goods and services
Grants and contributions
Other
Total receipts
NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

-

-

247

-

247

189,975

194,480

135,253

194,480

135,253

170

15,465

12,102

15,465

12,102

190,145

209,945

147,602

209,945

147,602

(6,208)

3,094

(11,524)

3,094

(11,524)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and equipment

(160)

(350)

(40)

(350)

(40)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

(160)

(350)

(40)

(350)

(40)

Repayment of borrowings

(1,684)

(1,699)

(1,596)

(1,699)

(1,596)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

(1,684)

(1,699)

(1,596)

(1,699)

(1,596)
(13,159)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(8,052)

1,045

(13,159)

1,045

Opening cash and cash equivalents

16,501

16,498

29,657

16,498

29,657

8,449

17,543

16,498

17,543

16,498

CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

*The consolidated cash flow results includes 12 months activity for the parent entity and activity for the former Destination NSW Staff Agency that
ceased operation as at 28 March 2021. Refer to Note 1 (a).
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1 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Reporting entity
Destination NSW is a NSW statutory body, established pursuant to the Destination NSW Act 2011 ( the Act).
The Group is a body corporate with a board of management that has a statutory position of Chief Executive Officer (CEO) who is responsible
for the day to day management of the Group in accordance with the directions of the Board. The Group is a not-for-profit entity (as profit is not
its principal objective).
In the process of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the economic entity consisting of the controlling and controlled entity, all
inter-entity transactions and balances have been eliminated.
The Group is consolidated as part of the NSW Total State Sector Accounts and falls within the NSW Treasury Cluster.
The Group's main aim is to achieve economic and social benefits for the people of New South Wales by developing tourism and securing
major events.
Under the Act, Destination NSW cannot employ any staff but may arrange for the use of the services of any staff (whether by way of
secondment or otherwise) to enable the Group to exercise its functions. The staff agency provided personnel services to Destination NSW up
until 29 March 2021, whereafter it has been dissolved.
The Agency (Destination NSW) has as its head as the CEO of Destination NSW and all staff reporting to the CEO.
Where reference in these notes is made to ‘Group’ it refers to the total activities of Destination NSW and the Destination NSW Staff Agency.
A reference to the ‘Parent’ relates to the activities of Destination NSW only.
For the period from 29 March 2021
As per the Administration Order dated 26 March 2021, effective from 29 March 2021 the Destination NSW Staff Agency has been abolished
and staff has been transferred to Investment NSW (INSW). For the period 29 March to 30 June 2021 staff costs are reflected as Personnel
Services and related provisions have been transferred to INSW. In addition, the agency has moved from the NSW Treasury Cluster to
Department of Premier and Cabinet Cluster. There are no other impacts to Destination NSW. Overall $4.952m of Personnel Services
expenses and $4.324m of Personnel Services Liabilities were transferred and the entity now has a liability to INSW as at year end, refer to
Note 2(b) and Note 13 for details.
For the purposes of the Statement of Comprehensive Income and its related notes, the 2021 Consolidated results includes 12 months activity
for the parent entity and activity for the former Destination NSW Staff Agency that ceased operation as at 28 March 2021.
For the purposes of the Statement of Financial Position and its related notes, the consolidated position as at 30 June 2021 is not required as
Destination NSW Staff Agency ceased operation as at 28 March 2021.
For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, the consolidated cash flow results includes 12 months activity for the parent entity and
activity for the former Destination NSW Staff Agency that ceased operation as at 28 March 2021.
(b) Basis of preparation
The Group’s financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared on an accrual basis in accordance with:
• applicable Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) (which include Australian Accounting Interpretations)
• the requirements of the Government Sector Finance Act 2018 (GSF Act) and the Government Sector Finance Regulation 2018
• Treasurer's Directions issued under the GSF Act.
Certain financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value. Other financial statement items are prepared in accordance with the
historical cost convention except where specified otherwise.
Judgements, key report assumptions and estimations management has made are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial statements.
Valuation of Long Service Leave is measured at present value in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits as stated in Note 13.
All amounts are rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars and are expressed in Australian currency, which is the entity’s presentation and
functional currency.
The entity's financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of normal operating activity
and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the normal course of operations. The entity held cash on hand and at bank as
at 30 June 2021 of $17.543m. The entity receives annual grants from the NSW Government which are sufficient to fund its ongoing
operations.
COVID-19, 2021-22 NSW Budget and going concern
The Group assessed the impact on the fair value of its financial assets and recognised a credit loss, where considered appropriate. Fair Value
reflects historical cost evidence adjusted for forward looking economic outlook and conditions. Therefore, it is appropriate for the 2020-21
financial statements to be prepared on a going concern basis.
(c) Statement of compliance
The financial statements and notes comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian Accounting Interpretations.
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CONTINUED

1 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(d) Accounting for the Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except that:
• the amount of GST incurred by the Group as a purchaser that is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) is recognised as
part of cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense and
• receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. However, the GST components of cash flows arising from investing
and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows.
(e) Foreign currency translation
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the spot rate at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency spot rates of exchange at the end of
the reporting date.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in net result.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of
the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with
the recognition of the gain or loss on the change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or net results are also recognised in other comprehensive income or net results, respectively).
(f) Comparative Information
Except when an AAS permits or requires otherwise, comparative information is presented in respect of the previous period for all amounts
reported in the financial statements.
(g) Changes in Accounting policies, including new or revised AASB
i. Effective for the first time 2020-21
The Group assessed the application of AASB 1059 Service Concession Arrangements and confirmed that it does not apply. Several other
amendments and interpretations apply for the first time in FY2020-21, but do not have an impact on the financial statements of the entity.
ii. Issued but not yet effective
NSW public sector entities are not permitted to early adopt new AAS, unless Treasury determines otherwise. The following new AAS have
not been applied and are not yet effective. There has been no impact of these standards in the period of initial application.
• AASB 1060 General Purpose Financial Statements – Simplified Disclosures for For-Profit and Not for-Profit Tier 2 Entities
• AASB 2020-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Noncurrent
• AASB 2020-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements 2018–2020 and Other Amendments
• AASB 2020-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Insurance Contracts
• AASB 2020-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Noncurrent – Deferral of Effective
Date
• AASB 2020-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions: Tier 2 Disclosures
• AASB 2020-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2
(h) Impact of COVID-19 on Financial Reporting for 2020-21
The entity has assessed the impact of COVID-19 on the fair value of its non-current physical assets and associated impairments, fair value of
financial instruments, receivables and potential credit losses, provisions and other liabilities as well as revenue impacts from cancelled
events.
The impact of COVID-19 has had no adverse impact on the above mentioned as the allocated budget had been carried forward and
earmarked for use in the following financial year where events were impacted by either cancellation or postponement.
Given the uncertainty around the continued impact of COVID-19, management are continuing the work with suppliers, event co-ordinators
and other NSW Government agencies to mitigate business disruptions. Force majeure provisions were activated by DNSW to ensure no
contracts were onerous to DNSW.
Insurance recoveries in relation to cancelled events have been recorded in Note 3(c).
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2 Expenses Excluding Losses

Consolidated
2021
$000

Parent

2020
$000

2021
$000

2020
$000

(a) Employee related expenses
Salaries and wages (including annual leave)

14,249

18,466

-

-

29

31

-

-

Superannuation – defined contribution plans

932

1,399

-

-

Long service leave

133

168

-

-

Workers compensation insurance

136

44

-

-

Payroll tax and fringe benefits tax

749

1,171

-

-

Redundancy payments

233

391

-

-

Other - miscellaneous

177

239

-

-

16,638

21,909

-

-

Superannuation – defined benefit plans

Consolidated
2021
$000

Parent

2020
$000

2021
$000

2020
$000

(b) Personnel services
Personnel services - INSW

4,952

-

4,952

-

-

-

16,638

21,909

4,952

-

21,590

21,909

Personnel services - DNSW Staff Agency

Consolidated
2021
$000

Parent

2020
$000

2021
$000

2020
$000

(c) Other operating expenses include the following:
Accommodation expenses
Administration fees
Advertising

236

180

236

180

55

54

55

54

36,363

19,733

36,363

19,733

Auditor's remuneration- audit of financial statement

120

110

120

110

Internal audit services
Bad and doubtful debts

194

87

194

87

Consultancy

747

Contractors

6

-

6

-

96

747

96

9,138

8,565

9,138

8,565

Expense relating to short-term leases

854

1,026

854

1,026

Fees - events

263

298

263

298

4,096

4,007

4,096

4,007

Fees - other
Maintenance*

98

91

98

91

Motor vehicle expenses

19

53

19

53

Other operating expenses

4,784

4,644

4,784

4,644

Promotion

102,461

61,019

102,461

61,019

Purchases

156

295

156

295

99

193

99

193

Travel

171

540

171

540

Visiting journalist accommodation and expenses

338

1,034

338

1,034

160,198

102,025

Telecommunication

-

160,198
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2 Expenses Excluding Losses (continued)
Maintenance Reconciliation
* Maintenance expense - contracted labour and other (non-employee related), as
above

98

91

98

91

98

91

98

91

Total Maintenance expenses included in Note 2 (C)

Recognition and Measurement
Maintenance expense
Day-to-day servicing costs or maintenance are charged as expenses as incurred, except where they relate to the replacement or an
enhancement of a part or component of an asset, in which case the costs are capitalised and depreciated.
Insurance
The Group's insurance activities are conducted through the NSW Treasury Managed Fund Scheme of self-insurance for Government
entities. The expense (premium) is determined by the Fund Manager based on past claims experience.
Lease expense
The Entity recognises the lease payments associated with the following types of leases as an expense on a straight-line basis:
• Leases that meet the definition of short-term. i.e. where the lease term at commencement of the lease is 12 months or less. This
excludes leases with a purchase option.
• Leases of assets that are valued at $10,000 or under when new.
Variable lease payments not included in the measurement of the lease liability (i.e. variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date). These payments are recognised in the year in
which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs.

Consolidated
2021
2020
$000
$000

Parent
2021
$000

2020
$000

(d) Depreciation and amortisation expense
Amortisation ROU Asset
Depreciation - Plant and equipment

Amortisation of intangible assets

1,376

1,745

1,376

100

93

100

1,745
93

1,476

1,838

1,476

1,838

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

Recognition and Measurement
Refer to Note 8, 9 and 10 for recognition and measurement policies on depreciation and amortisation.

Consolidated
2021
2020
$000
$000

Parent
2021
$000

2020
$000

(e) Grants and subsidies
Grant to other non-government bodies

6,675

4,694

6,675

4,694

6,675

4,694

6,675

4,694

f) Finance costs
Interest expense from lease liabilities

65

89

65

89

65

89

65

89

Recognition and Measurement
Finance costs consist of interest and other costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs are recognised as
expenses in the year in which they are incurred, in accordance with Treasury’s Mandate to not-for-profit NSW GGS entities.
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3 Revenue
Recognition and Measurement
Income is recognised in accordance with the requirements of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers or AASB 1058 Income
of Not-for-Profit Entities , dependent on whether there is a contract with a customer defined by AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers . Comments regarding the accounting policies for the recognition of income are discussed below.

(a) Sale of goods and services
Rendering of Services
Other services

Consolidated
2021
2020
$000
$000

-

2021
$000

234
234

Parent

2020
$000

-

234
234

Recognition and Measurement
Revenue from sale of goods or rendering of services is recognised when the entity satisfies a performance obligation by transferring the
promised goods or services.
(b) Grants and contributions
Grants – NSW Budget Sector Agencies
In kind sponsorship
Other grants and contributions with sufficiently specific performance
obligations
Grants without sufficiently specific performance obligations - Principal
Department

8,832
1,282

7,800
3,319

8,832
1,282

7,800
3,319

12,319

4,269

12,319

4,269

171,990

121,612

171,990

121,612

194,423

137,000

194,423

137,000

Recognition and Measurement
Revenue from grants and contributions with sufficiently specific performance obligations is recognised as when the Entity satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring the promised services. This mainly relates to joint promotional activities with the Industry.
The entity typically satisfies its performance obligations when the promotional activity is complete.
Revenue from these grants and contributions is recognised based on the contribution amount specified in the funding
agreement/funding approval, and revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal
will not occur. Total funding amount in a contract is allocated to distinct performance obligations for promotional activities. No element of
financing is deemed present as funding payments are usually received in advance or shortly after the relevant
obligation is satisfied.
Income from Government grants without sufficiently specific performance obligations is recognised when the entity obtains control over
the granted assets (e.g. cash).
The Group receives funding under appropriations from the grant funding received from the cluster which receives appropriations from
the Consolidated Fund. Appropriations for each financial year are set out in the Appropriation Bill that is prepared and tabled for that year.

(c) Other revenue
Miscellaneous - Insurance refunds and other

3,165

209

3,165

209

3,165

209

3,165

209

29

31

(d) Acceptance by the Crown of employee benefits and other liabilities
The following liabilities and / or expenses have been assumed by the Crown Entity or other government entities:
Superannuation – defined benefit
Payroll tax
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1
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1

2

30

33

30

33

Page 100

11 | Page

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the Financial Statements

Destination New South Wales

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2021

CONTINUED

3 Revenue (continued)

Consolidated
2021
$000

2020
$000

194,480

135,253

(e) Appropriations and Transfers to the Crown Entity
Movement of Section 4.7 GSF Act - deemed appropriations:
Total spending authority from parliamentary appropriations, other than deemed appropriations
Add:
-

29,657

Own source money received during the year

15,465

12,349

Own source revenue balance brought forward from prior years

16,498

-

Own source revenue on 1 July 2019

Less: Total expenditure
Own source revenue balance carried forward to following years

(208,900)

(160,762)

17,543

16,498

The table includes monies received from the agency’s own-source income from other clusters who have different responsible ministers,
as comprising part of the authority to spend.
There is some complexity and uncertainty in respect of the legal implication of monies received by the agency from an agency in another
cluster who has a different responsible minister. Therefore, there is a technical risk that the actual expenditure exceeds the aggregate
legal limit authorised for the receiving responsible minister(s) for the relevant reporting period; on the other hand, the paying responsible
minister(s) may have unutilised legal spending authority.
The impact of this legal uncertainty means the balance of own source revenue brought forward and carried forward in the table will not
necessarily be reflective of the appropriations authority available to the agency or its responsible minister(s).

4 Other gains / (losses)

Consolidated
2021
$000

Parent

2020
$000

2021
$000

2020
$000

Impairment gain/(losses) on Property Plant & Equipment

(99)

(1,104)

(99)

(1,104)

Unrealised Profit/(loss) on FX Forward contract

(55)

(4)

(55)

(4)

(154)

(1,108)

(154)

(1,108)

Recognition and Measurement
Impairment losses may arise on non-financial assets held by the entity from time to time. Accounting for impairment losses is dependent
upon the individual asset (or group of assets) subject to impairment. Accounting Policies and events giving rise to impairment losses are
disclosed in the following notes:
Trade receivables and contract assets - Note 7
Property, plant and equipment – Note 8
Leases - Note 9
Intangible Assets - Note 10
5 Service Groups of Destination NSW
Destination NSW has only one service group. Details of the expenses, income, assets and liabilities for this service group are available
in the primary financial statements.

DESTINATION NSW // Annual Report 2020-2021

Page 101

12 | Page

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the Financial Statements

Destination New South Wales

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2021

CONTINUED

6 Current Assets - Cash and Cash Equivalents

Consolidated
2021
$000
Cash at bank and on hand

Parent
2020
$000

2021
$000

2020
$000

-

16,498

17,543

16,498

-

16,498

17,543

16,498

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank, cash on hand, and short term deposits with
original maturities of three months or less and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and net of outstanding bank overdraft.
Cash and cash equivalent assets recognised in the statement of financial position are reconciled at the end of the year to the statement of
cash flows as follows:

Consolidated
2021
$000

Parent
2020
$000

2021
$000

2020
$000

Cash and cash equivalents (per statement of financial position)

-

16,498

17,543

16,498

Closing cash and cash equivalents (per Statement of Cash Flows)

-

16,498

17,543

16,498

Refer Note 19 for details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk, and market risk arising from financial instruments.
7 Current/Non-Current Assets - Receivables

Consolidated
2021
$000

Parent
2020
$000

2021
$000

2020
$000

Current Receivables and prepayments
Trade receivables from contracts with customers

-

less: Allowance for expected credit loss

-

1,505

Net GST

-

Prepayments

-

-

6

-

-

3,154

6,663

3,154

(7)
1,656

* Movement in the allowance for credit loss
Balance at the beginning of the year

1,095
5,562

1,505
(7)
1,656

2021

2020

$000

$000

(7)

-

Increase / (decrease) in allowance recognised in net result

7

(7)

Balance at 30 June

-

(7)

Details regarding credit risk of trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired, are disclosed in Note 19.
Recognition and Measurement
All ‘regular way’ purchases or sales of financial asset are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace.
Receivables are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component are measured at the transaction price.
Subsequent measurement
The entity holds receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any impairment. Changes are recognised in the net result for the year when impaired, derecognised or through
the amortisation process.
Impairment
The entity recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt financial assets not held at fair value through profit or loss.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive, discounted at the
original effective interest rate.
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7 Current/Non-Current Assets - Receivables (continued)

For trade receivables, the entity applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. The entity recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The entity has established a provision matrix based on its historical credit loss experience
for trade receivables, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the receivable.
The provision matrix considered the impact of COVID-19 and took into account the following:
• Increased credit risk associated with debtors as a result of poor trading conditions.
• Higher receivables balances (i.e. exposure at default) due to recent credit deferment policies of Government and/or late payment.
• Lost time value of money, if contractual payment dates are extended or amounts are expected to be received later than when
contractually due.
8 Non-Current Assets - Property, Plant and Equipment

At 1 July 2020 - fair value
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Net carrying amount
At 30 June 2021 - fair value
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Net carrying amount

Plant and Equipment
Consolidated
Parent
$000
$000

Total
Consolidated
Parent
$000
$000

4,699
(4,456)
243

4,699
(4,456)
243

4,699
(4,456)
243

4,699
(4,456)
243

-

5,034
(4,533)
501

-

5,034
(4,533)
501

Reconciliation
A reconciliation of the carrying amount of each class of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period is set out
below.

Parent

Plant and
Equipment
$000

Total
$000

Year ended 30 June 2021
Net carrying amount at beginning of year

243

Purchases of assets

350

350

Depreciation expense – asset owned
Net carrying amount

(92)
501

(92)
501

Consolidated and Parent
Year ended 30 June 2020

Plant and
Equipment
$000

Net carrying amount at beginning of year

291

243

Total
$000
291

Purchases of assets

40

40

Disposals

(2)

(2)

(86)
243

(86)
243

Depreciation expense – asset owned
Net carrying amount
Recognition and Measurement
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less accumulated depreciation and
impairment. Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other consideration given to acquire the asset at the time
of its acquisition or construction or, where applicable, the amount attributed to that asset when initially recognised in accordance with the
requirements of other AAS.
Assets acquired at no cost, or for nominal consideration, are initially recognised at their fair value at the date of acquisition.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
measurement date.
Where payment for an asset is deferred beyond normal credit terms, its cost is the cash price equivalent, i.e. deferred payment amount is
effectively discounted over the period of credit.
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8 Non-Current Assets - Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)
Capitalisation thresholds
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets costing $5,000 and above individually (or forming part of a network costing more than
$5,000) are capitalised.
Major inspection costs
When a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement if the
recognition criteria are satisfied.
Restoration costs
The present value of the expected cost for the restoration or cost of dismantling of an asset after its use is included in the cost of the respective
asset if the recognition criteria for a provision are met.
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Except for certain non-depreciable assets, depreciation is provided for on a straight-line basis for all depreciable assets so as to write off the
depreciable amount of each asset as it is consumed over its useful life to the entity.
All material separately identifiable components of assets are depreciated over their shorter useful lives.
Land is not a depreciable asset. Certain heritage assets including original artworks and collections and heritage buildings may not have a limited
useful life because appropriate curatorial and preservation policies are adopted. Such assets are not subject to depreciation. The decision not to
recognise depreciation for these assets is reviewed annually.
Each class of asset has a default life which may be varied as a result of management review either at acquisition or at any time during the asset
life.
Default asset class lives are:
Plant and equipment

1-8 years

Depreciation rates are reviewed and determined on an annual basis.
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Physical non-current assets are valued in accordance with the Valuation of Non-current physical assets' Policy and Guidelines Paper (TPP2109). This policy adopts fair value in accordance with AASB 13 and AASB 116.
Non-specialised assets with short useful lives are measured at depreciated historical cost, which for these assets approximates fair value. The
entity has assessed that any difference between fair value and depreciated historical cost is unlikely to be material.
The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at each financial year end.
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
As a not-for-profit entity with no cash generating units, impairment under AASB 136 Impairment of Assets is unlikely to arise. Since property,
plant and equipment is carried at fair value or an amount that approximates fair value, impairment can only arise in rare circumstances such as
where the costs of disposal are material.
The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the entity estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. When the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. After an impairment loss has
been recognised, it is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount. The
reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in
the net result.
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9 Leases
The following table presents right-of use assets and lease liabilities as at 30 June 2021:
a. Entity as a lessee
The entity leases various properties and motor vehicles. Lease contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 3 to 5 years, but may have
extension options. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants, but leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes. The entity does not provide
residual value guarantees in relation to leases.
Extension and termination options are included in the property lease. These terms are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of
managing contracts. The majority of extension and termination options held are exercisable only by the entity and not by the respective lessor.
In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension
option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the
lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated). The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or a significant change in
circumstances occurs which affects this assessment and that is within the control of the lessee.
AASB 16 Leases (AASB 16) requires a lessee to recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability for most leases.
The entity has elected to recognise payments for short-term leases and low value leases as expenses on a straight-line basis, instead of
recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low value assets are
assets with a fair value of $10,000 or less when new.
Right-of-use assets under leases

Buildings
Balance at 1 July 2020
Additions
Amortisation expense
Impairment
Balance at 30 June 2021

$000

4,276
(1,376)
(99)
2,801

Plant &
Equipment
$000

Total
14
(7)
7

$000

4,290
(1,383)
(99)
2,808

Right-of-use assets under leases

Plant &
Equipment
$000

Buildings
$000
Balance at 1 July 2019

Total
$000

7,125

20

-

-

Additions

7,145
-

Amortisation expense

(1,745)

(6)

(1,751)

Impairment

(1,104)

-

(1,104)

Balance at 30 June 2020

4,276

Lease liabilities

14

4,290

Total
$000
5,550

Balance at 1 July 2020
Additions

-

Interest expenses

65

Payments

(1,760)

Balance at 30 June 2021

3,855

The following amounts were recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June 2021 in respect of leases
where the enity is the lessee:
Consolidated/Parent

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets
Interest expense on lease liabilities
Expense relating to short-term leases
Total amount recognised in the statement of comprehensive income

Total
$000

1,383
65
-

1,448

The entity had total cash outflows for leases of $2.627m in FY2020-21 (FY2019-20: $2.056m).
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9 Leases (continued)
a) Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases as at 30 June 2021 are as follows:
Parent

Finance Lease
$000

Within one year

1,830

Later than one year and not later than five years

2,081

Total (excluding GST)

3,911

The reconciliation between the total future minimum lease payments for finance leases and their present value as at 30 June 2021 are as
follows:
Total minimum finance lease payments
3,911
Less: future finance charges
(56)
Present value of minimum lease payments

3,855

Recognition and Measurement
The entity assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
The entity recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets,
except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.

i. Right-of-use assets
The entity recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset is available for use). Rightof-use assets are initially measured at the amount of initial measurement of the lease liability (refer ii below), adjusted by any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date and lease incentives, any initial direct costs incurred, and estimated costs of dismantling and
removing the asset or restoring the site.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, as
follows:
• Land and buildings 5 years
• Motor vehicles and other equipment 3 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the entity at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.
The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. The entity assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an
asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the entity estimates the asset’s
recoverable amount. When the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written
down to its recoverable amount. After an impairment loss has been recognised, it is reversed only if there has been a change in the
assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not
exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the net result.
COVID-19 pandemic impacted the entity throughout the 2020-21 financial year. The entity has therefore undertaken an impairment
assessment for the right-of-use assets, to determine whether the carrying amount exceeded their recoverable amount. Impacted assets were
written down to their recoverable amounts by reference to the asset’s value in use and an impairment loss is recognised in ‘Gains / (Losses)’
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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9 Leases (continued)
The entity recognised impairment losses of $0.099 million ($1.104 million in 2020) in the current financial year for right-of-use assets relating
to the lease of offices. The recoverable amounts of the right-of-use assets for which an impairment loss has been recognised is based on the
cumulative net market rent forecast changes, which is a published information by Property NSW.
ii. Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease, the entity recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term.
Lease payments include:
• fixed payments (including in substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable;
• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate;
• amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees;
• exercise price of a purchase options reasonably certain to be exercised by the entity; and
• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the entity exercising the option to terminate.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce
inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally the
case for the entity’s leases, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the entity would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease
payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease
payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
The entity’s lease liabilities are included in borrowings.
iii. Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The entity applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment (i.e., those leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of lowvalue assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases
and leases of low value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
iv. Leases that have significantly below-market terms and conditions principally to enable the entity to further its objectives
The initial and subsequent measurement of right-of-use assets under leases at significantly below-market terms and conditions that are
entered into principally to enable the entity to further its objectives is same as normal right-of-use assets. They are measured at cost, subject
to impairment.
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10 Intangible Assets

Software

Consolidated
$000

Parent
$000

At 1 July 2020
Cost (gross carrying amount)

140

140

Accumulated amortisation and impairment

(99)

(99)

41

41

Net carrying amount
At 30 June 2021
Cost (gross carrying amount)

-

140

Accumulated amortisation and impairment

-

(113)

Net carrying amount

-

27

Year ended 30 June 2021
Net carrying amount at start of year

-

41

Amortisation (recognised in ‘depreciation and amortisation’)

-

(14)

Net carrying amount at end of year

-

27

Cost (gross carrying amount)

140

140

Accumulated amortisation and impairment

(85)

(85)

55

55

Cost (gross carrying amount)

140

140

Accumulated amortisation and impairment

(99)

(99)

41

41

At 1 July 2019

Net carrying amount
Year ended 30 June 2020

Net carrying amount
Year ended 30 June 2020
Net carrying amount at start of year
Amortisation (recognised in ‘depreciation and amortisation’)
Net carrying amount at end of year

55

55

(14)

(14)

41

41

Recognition and Measurement
The Group recognises intangible assets only if it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group and the cost of the asset
can be measured reliably. Intangible assets are measured initially at cost. Where an asset is acquired at no or nominal cost, the cost is its
fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are subsequently measured at fair value only if there is
an active market. If there is no active market for the Group's intangible assets, the assets are carried at cost less any accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses.
All research costs are expensed. Development costs are only capitalised when certain criteria are met. The useful lives of intangible assets
are assessed to be finite. The Group's intangible assets are amortised using the straight line method over their useful lives.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each
reporting period.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annually. The assessment of indefinite life is
reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to
finite is made on a prospective basis.
Intangible assets are tested for impairment where an indicator of impairment exists. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount the carrying amount is reduced to recoverable amount and the reduction is recognised as an impairment loss.

DESTINATION NSW // Annual Report 2020-2021

Page 108
19 | Page

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the Financial Statements

Destination New South Wales

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2021

CONTINUED

11 Current/ Non Current Liabilities - Payables

Consolidated

Parent

2021

2020

2021

2020

$000

$000

$000

$000

Current
Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs

-

454

-

-

Unearned income

-

441

1,370

441

Creditors

-

19,648

16,669

19,648

Current - Derivatives

-

-

58

-

Personnel services payable*

-

-

4,325

454

-

20,543

22,422

20,543

Details regarding liquidity risk and market risk, including a maturity analysis of the above payables are disclosed in Note 19.
* The Entity receives personnel services from INSW. INSW does not control the Entity under this arrangement. In accordance with NSW
Treasury Circular 15/7 "Financial and Annual Reporting Requirements Arising from Personnel Services Arrangements", a liability
representing the total amount payable to INSW is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position. As the Entity is not an employer, the
disclosure requirements of AASB 119 Employee Benefits in respective of employee benefits do not apply.
Recognition and Measurement
Payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group and other amounts. Short-term payables with no stated interest
rate are measured at the original invoice amount where the effect of discounting is immaterial.
Payables are financial liabilities at amortised cost, initially measured at fair value, net of directly attributable transaction costs. These are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised net result when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation process.
12 Current / Non-Current Liabilities - Borrowings

Consolidated

Parent

2021

2020

2021

2020

$000

$000

$000

$000

Current - Lease liability (see Note 9)

-

1,693

1,794

1,693

Non-Current - Derivatives

-

4

-

4

Non-Current - Lease Liability (see Note 9)

-

3,857

2,061

3,857

-

5,554

3,855

5,554

Details regarding liquidity risk, including a maturity analysis of the above payables are disclosed in Note 19.
Recognition and Measurement
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Borrowings classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially measured at fair value, net of directly attributable transaction costs.
These are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in net result
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation process.
The Group enters into a small number of FX forward contracts with TCorp from time to time to manage its exposure to foreign exchange
rate arising from operational activities.
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held-for-trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
The changes in fair value of liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in profit or loss with the exception that
movements in fair value due to changes in the entity’s own credit risk are recorded in other comprehensive income and do not get recycled
to net result.
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13 Current / Non-Current Liabilities - Provisions

Consolidated

Parent

2021

2020

2021

2020

$000

$000

$000

$000

CURRENT
Employee benefits and related on-costs
Annual leave
Long service leave
Other on-costs
Personnel services provision
NON-CURRENT
Employee benefits and related on-costs
Long service leave on-costs
Other Provisions

-

1,645
1,965
12
-

-

3,622

-

3,622

-

3,622

-

688

-

688

-

688

-

688

Restoration Costs1
Non-Current Other Provisions

-

415

415

415

-

415

415

415

Total Non-Current Provisions

-

1,103

415

1,103

Note:
1) Provision for Restoration costs: - Destination NSW has exercised option to extend the lease and the earliest exit date is 1 July 2023.

Consolidated

Aggregate employee benefits and related on-costs
Provisions – current
Provisions – non-current
Personnel services payable (Note 11)
Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs (Note 11)

Parent

2021

2020

2021

2020

$000

$000

$000

$000

-

3,622
688
454
4,764

4,325
4,325

-

Movements in provisions (other than employee benefits)
Movements in each class of provision during the financial year, other than employee benefits are set out below:

Restoration Costs
Carrying amount at the beginning of financial year
Carrying amount at the end of financial year
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13 Current / Non-Current Liabilities - Provisions (continued)
Personnel services provision
As a result of the Administration Order dated 26 March 2021 and effective from 29 March 2021, the Destination NSW Staff Agency has been
abolished and all the employees have been transferred to Investment NSW. This change has resulted in no employee liabilities carried in the
entity and a recognition of a personal services liability to the persons employed by the INSW.
Annual leave
The liability at 30 June 2021 was $0 (2020: $1.645m) as per above.
Long service leave
The liability at 30 June 2021 was $0 (2020: $2.653m) as per above.
Recognition and Measurement
Employee benefits and related on-costs Salaries and wages, annual leave and sick leave (Until 29 March 2021)
Salaries and wages (including non-monetary benefits) and paid sick leave that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end
of the period in which the employees render the service are recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts of the benefits.
Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees
render the related service. As such, it is required to be measured at present value in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits (although
short-cut methods are permitted).
Actuarial advice obtained by Treasury has confirmed that using the nominal annual leave balance plus the annual leave entitlements accrued
while taking annual leave (calculated using 8.4% of the nominal value of annual leave) can be used to approximate the present value of the
annual leave liability. The entity has assessed the actuarial advice based on the entity’s circumstances and has determined that the effect of
discounting is immaterial to annual leave. All annual leave is classified as a current liability even where the entity does not expect to settle the
liability within 12 months as the entity does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement.
Unused non-vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability as it is not considered probable that sick leave taken in the future will be greater
than the benefits accrued in the future.
Long service leave and superannuation (Until 29 March 2021)
The Group's liability for defined benefit superannuation are assumed by the Crown. The Group accounts for the liability as having been
extinguished, resulting in the amount assumed being shown as part of the non-monetary revenue item described as 'Acceptance by the Crown
in the right of the State of New South Wales (The Crown) of employee benefits and other liabilities'.
Long service leave is measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided up to the
reporting date. Consideration is given to certain factors based on actuarial review, including expected future wage and salary levels,
experience of employee departures, and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using Commonwealth government bond
rate at the reporting date.
The superannuation expense for the financial year is determined by using the formulae specified in the Treasurer’s Directions. The expense
for certain superannuation schemes (i.e. Basic Benefit and First State Super) is calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salary. For other
superannuation schemes (i.e. State Superannuation Scheme and State Authorities Superannuation Scheme), the expense is calculated as a
multiple of the employees’ superannuation contributions.
Consequential on-costs
Consequential costs to employment are recognised as liabilities and expenses where the employee benefits to which they relate have been
recognised. This includes outstanding amounts of payroll tax, workers’ compensation insurance premiums and fringe benefits tax.
Other provisions
Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event; it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. When the
Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a
separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is presented net of any
reimbursement in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Any provision for restructuring is recognised only when the Group has a detailed formal plan and the Group has raised a valid expectation in
those affected by the restructuring that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features to
those affected.
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14 Equity
Accumulated funds
The category 'accumulated funds' includes all current and prior period retained funds.
15 Commitments
(a) Capital commitments
As at 30 June 2021 Destination NSW had no capital commitments (2020: Nil).
16 Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
The Group is not aware of the existence of any contingent liabilities or contingent assets as at balance date (2020: NIL).
17 Budget Review
The budgeted amounts are drawn from the original budgeted financial statements presented to Parliament in respect of the reporting period.
Subsequent amendments to the original budget (e.g. adjustment for transfer of functions between entities as a result of Administrative
Arrangements Orders) are not reflected in the budgeted amounts. Major variances between the original budgeted amounts and actual
amounts disclosed in the financial statements are explained below.
The budget process is finalised prior to the beginning of each financial year. Events can arise after that date that necessitates variations to the
planned activities of the Group for that year. This in turn may cause variations to the financial activities. Major variations between the budget
and actual amounts are outlined below.
Net Result
The consolidated net result was a $7.447m surplus compared to a budgeted deficit of $8.806m. This favourable variance to budget of
$16.253m was primarily due to lower than budgeted expenditure of $10.088m, and higher than budgeted revenue of $6.318m. These factors
were mainly attributable to the impacts of COVID 19 resulting in changes in timings of program activities.
Assets and liabilities
Net assets were $0.851m compared to a budget deficit of $15.401m, resulting in a favourable variance of $16.252m higher than budget.
Current assets were $12.772m higher than budget predominately due to higher cash and cash equivalents $9.094m and higher receivables of
$3.678m. Non-current assets were higher than budget by $0.556m. Total liabilities were $2.924m lower than budget due to lower payables of
$2.676m and lower than budget provisions of $0.261m.
The variances of both current assets and net liabilities to budget were due to reduced expenditure on program activities in the final quarter of
the financial year. Program activities were curtailed due to restrictions on travel and mass gatherings which resulted in a significant reduction
in activity in the NSW Visitor Economy.
Cash flows
The closing Cash position was $17.543m compared to a budget of $8.449m. This is over budget by $9.094m and is primarily due to the
receipt of additional grants and contributions prior to end of financial year with delays in related program expenditure due to the impacts of
COVID 19 resulting in changes in timings of program activities.
18 Reconciliation of Cash Flows from Operating Activities to Net Result

Consolidated

Net Cash made on operating activities

2021
$000

Parent

2020
$000

2021
$000

2020
$000

3,094

(11,524)

3,094

(11,524)

(1,490)

(1,852)

(1,490)

(1,852)

Decrease / (increase) in provisions

4,311

(145)

4,311

(145)

Increase / (decrease) in receivables

3,510

(3,777)

3,510

(3,777)

Depreciation and amortisation

Increase / (decrease) in prepayments and other assets
Decrease / (increase) in creditors
Other gain / (loss)
Net Result

-

(50)

(1,826)

24,249

(154)

(1,104)

7,446

5,797

-

(50)

(1,826)

24,249

(154)

(1,104)

7,446

5,797

19 Financial Instruments
The Group's principal financial instruments are outlined below. These financial instruments arise directly from the Group's operations or are
required to finance the Group's operations. The Group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial
instruments, for speculative purposes.
The Group's main risks arising from financial instruments are outlined below, together with the Group's objectives, policies and processes for
measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative and qualitative disclosures are included throughout these financial statements.
The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of risk management and reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set risk limits and
controls and to monitor risks. Compliance with policies is reviewed by the Audit and Risk Committee on a continuous basis.
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19 Financial Instruments (continued)
(a) Financial instrument categories

Class

Category

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables

1

Consolidated

Parent

Carrying Amount

Carrying Amount

2021

2020

2021

2020

$000

$000

$000

$000

6

N/A

-

16,498

17,543

16,498

7

Amortised cost

-

1,498

1,095

1,498

-

17,996

18,638

17,996

Financial Liabilities

$000

$000

$000

$000

Payables

2

12

Financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost

-

20,102

21,053

20,102

Payables

3

13

Fair value through profit and loss

-

4

-

4

-

20,106

21,053

20,106

Notes
1. Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (i.e. not within scope of AASB 7).
2. Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (i.e. not within scope of AASB 7).
3. Derivative Financial Instruments

The Group determines the classification of its financial assets and liabilities after initial recognition and, when allowed and appropriate, reevaluates this at each financial year end.
(b) Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire; or if the entity transfers its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or
has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement;
and either:
• the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or
• the entity has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control.
When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a passthrough arrangement, it evaluates if,
and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. Where the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards or transferred control, the asset continues to be recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the
asset. In that case, the entity also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount
of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the entity could be required to repay.
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an existing
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new
liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the net result.
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19 Financial Instruments (continued)
(c) Financial risks
(i) Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Group's debtors defaulting on their contractual obligations, resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The maximum exposure to credit risk is generally represented by the carrying amount of the financial assets (net of any allowance
for impairment).
Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Group, including cash, receivables, and authority deposits. No collateral is held by the Group.
The Group has not granted any financial guarantees.
Credit risk associated with the Group's financial assets, other than receivables, is managed through the selection of counterparties and
establishment of minimum credit rating standards.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash comprises cash on hand and bank balances within the NSW Treasury Banking System. No interest is earned by Destination NSW on
bank balances.
No interest is earned on the overseas advance accounts.
Receivables - trade debtors
Collectability of trade debtors is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Procedures as established in the Treasurer’s Directions are followed to
recover outstanding amounts, including letters of demand.
The Group applies the AASB 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all
trade debtors.
To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past
due.
The Group is not materially exposed to concentrations of credit risk to a single trade debtor or group of debtors.
Authority Deposits
The Group has no funds placed on deposit with TCorp.
Other Facilities
The Group has access to the following banking facilities:

Citibank

2021

2020

$000

$000

1,200

1,200

1,200

1,200

(ii) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due. The Group continuously manages risk
through monitoring future cash flows and maturities planning to ensure adequate holding of high quality liquid assets. The objective is to
maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of loans and other advances.
During the current year and prior year, there were no defaults of borrowing. No assets have been pledged as collateral. The Group's exposure
to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods' data and current assessment of risk.
Liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether or not invoiced. Amounts owing to
suppliers (which are unsecured) are settled in accordance with the policy set out in NSW TC 11-12. For small business suppliers, where terms
are not specified, payment is made not later than 30 days from date of receipt of a correctly rendered invoice. For other suppliers, if trade
terms are not specified, payment is made no later than the end of the month following the month in which the invoice or a statement is
received. For small business suppliers, where payment is not made within the specified time period, simple interest must be paid
automatically unless an existing contract specifies otherwise. For payments to other suppliers, the Board may automatically pay the supplier
simple interest. The rate of interest applied during the year was 0% (2020: 0%).
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments, together with
the interest rate exposure.
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19 Financial Instruments (continued)
(ii) Liquidity risk (continued)
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments, together with
the interest rate exposure.
Maturity Analysis and interest rate exposure of financial liabilities

Interest Rate exposure
Consolidated and
Parent

Weighted
Average
effective
interest rate

Fixed
Interest
Rate

Nominal
Amount

Maturity Dates
Noninterest
bearing

Variable
Interest
Rate

< 1 year
$'000

1-5 years > 5 years
$'000

$'000

2021
Payables
Derivatives

1

Lease liabilities

2

1.41%

Total

16,669

-

-

16,669

16,669

-

-

58

-

-

58

58

-

-

3,855

3,855

-

-

1,794

2,061

-

20,583

3,855

-

16,728

18,521

2,061

-

-

-

2020
Payables
Derivatives

1

Lease liabilities

2

20,102

-

-

-

4

-

-

4

-

4

-

5,550

5,550

-

-

1,693

3,857

-

25,656

5,550

-

20,106

21,795

3,861

-

1.41%

Total
1

-

20,102

20,102

Relating to FX contract exposure that will be settled in January 2022.

2

The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows and therefore will not reconcile to the statement of
financial position.
(iii) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices.

The effect on net result and equity due to a reasonably possible change in risk variable is outlined in the information below, for interest rate
risk and other price risk. A reasonably possible change in risk variable has been determined after taking into account the economic
environment in which the Group operates and the time frame for the assessment (i.e. until the end of the next annual reporting period). The
sensitivity analysis is based on risk exposure in existence at the financial position date. The analysis is performed on the same basis as for
2020. The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.
(iv) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. Exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily through the entity’s interest-bearing liabilities. This risk is minimised by undertaking mainly
fixed rate borrowings, primarily with NSW TCorp. The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial instruments at fair value through
profit or loss or as at fair value through other comprehensive income or available-for-sale. Therefore, for these financial instruments, a change
in interest rates would not affect profit or loss or equity. A reasonably possible change of 1% and 0.5% is used, consistent with current trends
in interest rates (based on official RBA interest rate volatility over the last five years). The basis will be reviewed annually and amended where
there is a structural change in the level of interest rate volatility.

DESTINATION NSW // Annual Report 2020-2021

Page 115

26 | Page

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Destination New South Wales

Notes to the Financial Statements

Notes to and forming part of the financial statements

CONTINUED

for the year ended 30 June 2020

19 Financial Instruments (continued)
(iv) Interest rate risk (continued)
The Group's exposure to interest rate risk is set out below.

Consolidated and
Parent

2021
$'000

Carrying
Amount
$'000

0.5%

2020
$'000
+1%

0.5%

+1%

2021
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

17,543

-

-

-

-

16,498

-

-

-

-

2020
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Other price risk - TCorp Hour Glass Investment facilities
The Group holds no units in Hour-Glass investment trusts.
Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that a business’s financial performance or position will be affected by fluctuations in the exchange rates
between currencies.
Foreign exchange risk, if not identified and managed appropriately, can have significant financial impacts for Government Entities and the
State as a whole. These impacts mostly flow from the sale or purchase of international goods or services due to the inherent volatility of
foreign exchange markets.
The Group has entered into a FX forward arrangement to comply with TPP 18-03 Foreign Exchange Risk policy. The unrealised loss of
$0.055m has been disclosed in Note 4.
(d) Fair value measurement
i. Fair value compared to carrying amount
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability.
ii. Fair value recognised in the Statement of Financial Position
Management assessed that cash and short-term deposits, trade receivables, trade payables and other current liabilities approximate their fair
values, largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.
When measuring fair value, the valuation technique used maximises the use of relevant observable inputs and minimises the use of
unobservable inputs. Under AASB 13, the entity categorises, for disclosure purposes, the valuation techniques based on the inputs used in
the valuation techniques as follows:
● Level 1 - quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets / liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date.
● Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly.
● Level 3 – inputs that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
20 Related Party Disclosures
During the year, the Group incurred $0.734m (2020: $1.392m) in respect of the key management personnel services that are provided by
Staff Agencies.
Except as disclosed, during the year the Group did not enter into any transactions with key management personnel, their close family
members and controlled or jointly controlled entities thereof.
During the period, the Group entered into transactions with other entities that are controlled / jointly controlled / significantly influenced by
NSW Government. These transactions in aggregate are a significant portion of the Group's sale of goods / rendering of services / receiving of
services.
The following are a list of NSW Government entities with whom the Group had collectively material transactions, but not individually, during
the 2021 financial year.

DESTINATION NSW // Annual Report 2020-2021

27 | Page

Page 116

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Destination New South Wales

Notes to the Financial Statements
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2021

CONTINUED

20 Related Party Disclosures (continued)
The below information relates to the 2021 financial year transactions with related parties:
Entity

Nature of Transaction

Department of Planning, Industry and Environment

Provides administrative and operational assistance

Ambulance Service of NSW

Provides support services to facilitate events

Art Gallery of NSW

Provides support services to facilitate events
Provides legal advice

Crown Solicitors Office of NSW
Department of Premier & Cabinet
Government Records Repository
NSW Self Insurance Corporation

Provides administrative and operational assistance
Provides administrative services

Museum of Applied Arts & Sciences

Provides administrative services
Provides support services to facilitate events

Office of Sport
Place Management NSW

Provides support services to facilitate events
Provides support services to facilitate events

Property NSW
Revenue NSW

Provides support services to facilitate events
Provides tax collection services

Sydney Opera House Trust

Provides support services to facilitate events

The Audit Office of NSW
The Treasury

Provision of independent audit services of financial statements
Provision of grants and administrative services.

Transport for NSW

Provides support services to facilitate events

Department of Regional NSW

Provides support services to facilitate events

Multicultural NSW

Provides support services to facilitate events

Venues NSW

Provides support services to facilitate events

Instrastructure NSW

Provides support services to facilitate events

21 Events After the Reporting Period
There are no events subsequent to the balance date that affect the financial information disclosed in these financial statements.

End of the audited Financial Statements
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SYDNEY OFFICE

INTERNATIONAL OFFICES CONTINUED

Level 2,
88 Cumberland Street,
The Rocks, Sydney,
NSW 2000
Tel: +61 2 9931 1111
Fax: + 61 2 9931 1490

NORTH ASIA

Business hours:
8:30am-5:00pm Monday to Friday
Postal address:
GPO Box 7050, Sydney NSW 2001
CORPORATE EMAIL & WEBSITE
info@dnsw.com.au
destinationnsw.com.au
CONSUMER WEBSITES
sydney.com
visitnsw.com
vividsydney.com
INTERNATIONAL OFFICES
United Kingdom Office
Level 6, Australia Centre Strand,
London, WC2B 4LG, UNITED KINGDOM
Tel: +44 20 7438 4643
Fax: +44 20 7240 6690
Germany Office
Neue Mainzer Strasse 22 D
60311 Frankfurt, GERMANY
Tel: + 49 (0) 69 2740 0698
Fax: +49 (0) 69 2740 0640
North America Office
2029 Century Park East,
Suite 3150, Los Angeles, CA 90067,
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Tel: +1 310 695 3235
Fax: +1 310 641 1655
New Zealand Office
Part Level 1, 20 Beaumont Street
Auckland 1010 NEW ZEALAND
Tel: +64 9 307 7040
Fax: +64 9 930 6886

Shanghai Office
Room 4303, Level 43 CITIC Square
1168 Nanjing Road West, Shanghai 200040
P. R. CHINA
Tel: +86 21 5292 8833
Fax: +86 21 5292 5557
Beijing Office
Destination NSW
Unit 1486, Level 14, China World Office 1,
1 Jianguomenwai Avenue,
Chaoyang District, Beijing, P. R. CHINA
Tel: +86 10 6535 0330
Fax: +86 10 6535 1099
Chengdu Office
Destination NSW
Unit 17-29, Level 17, Raffles City, Tower 2,
No.3 Section 4, South Renmin Road,
Wuhou District, Chengdu 610041, P. R. CHINA
Tel: 86 28 6511 2838
Fax: 86 28 6511 8199
Guangzhou Office
Unit A2, Level 10, Development Centre
3 Linjiang Dadao, Pearl River New Town,
Guangzhou, PRC, 510623
Tel: +86 20 3785 3009
Hong Kong Office
Room 2405
24/F Harbour Centre, No 25 Harbour Road
Wanchai
HONG KONG
Tel: +852 2531 3889
Fax: +852 2877 0387
Destination NSW Representative Office – South Korea
Rm #1105, Dong-A BD 117, Namdaemun-ro
Jung-gu, Seoul, SOUTH KOREA
Tel: +82 2779 2950
Japan Office
12F Sanno Park Tower
2-11-1 Nagata-cho, Chiyoda-ku,
Tokyo 100-6112, JAPAN
Tel: +81 3 6550 8061
Fax: +81 3 6550 8064
SOUTH AND SOUTH-EAST ASIA
Singapore, Malaysia, Indonesia Office
#08-01A United Square 101 Thomson Rd,
Singapore 307591, SINGAPORE
Tel: +65 6253 3888
Fax: +65 6352 4888
India
No 85, 3 North Avenue (Building 3),
Maker Maxity, Bandra Kurla Complex,
Bandra (E), Mumbai – 400051, INDIA
Tel: +91 22 6770 3034
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